Effects of early life exposure to environmental pesticides in wild and laboratory fishes

Hugo Marchand Department of Natural Resource Sciences McGill University, Montreal

December 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Hugo Marchand, 2022

Table of Contents

I. Abstract	5
II. Résumé	7
III. Acknowledgements	9
IV. Preface and Contribution to original knowledge	
V. Contribution of Authors	13
Chapter 3:	
Chapter 4:	
Chapter 5:	
Chapter 6:	
VI. List of Figures	
VII. List of Tables	
VIII. List of Abbreviations	
Chapter 1	23
1. Introduction	
1.1 Objectives, Hypotheses & Specific Aims	
Chapter 2	28
2.1 Scope of the Review	
2.2 Herbicides	
2.2.1 Atrazine	
2.2.2 Glyphosate	
2.2.3 AMPA	
2.2.4 Metolachlor	
2.2.5 Diquat 2.2.6 Imazethanyr	
2.3 Insecticides	
2.3.1 Permetnrin	
2.4 Neonicotinoid insecticides	
2.4.1 Imidacioprid	
2.4.2 Inlamethoxam	
2.4.4 Chlorantraniliprole	48
2 E Sunaicida	
2.5. FUIIGICIGE	
2.6 Summary	
2.7 Knowledge gaps and significance	

2.8 References	
Preface to Chapter 3	65
Chapter 3	66
3. Exposure to Contaminated River Water is Associated with Early Hatching and Dysregulation o	f Gene
Expression in Early Life Stages of the Endangered Copper Redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi)	
3.1 Title page	
3.2 List of Figures	
3.3 List of Tables	71
3.4 Abstract	
3.5 Introduction	
3.6 Materials and Methods	75
3.7 Results	
3.8 Discussion	
3.9 Conclusion	
3.10 Supporting information	
3.11 References	
Preface to Chapter 4	124
Chapter 4	125
4. Pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu river and its tributaries during the spawning period o	f threatened and
endangered fishes.	,
4.1 Title page	
4.2 List of Figures	
4.3 List of Tables	
4.4 Abstract	
4.5 Introduction	
4.6 Materials and Methods	
4.7 Results	
4.8 Discussion	
4.9 Conclusion	
4.10 Supporting information	
4.11 References	
Preface to Chapter 5	168
Chapter 5	169
5. Decrease in fertilization rate of zebrafish exposed during early life stage to Richelieu River (QC	:, Canada) water
5 1 Title Page	
5.2 List of Eigures	
5.2 List of Tables	
5.5 List of Tables	
5.5 Introduction	
5.6 Materials and Methods	
5.7 Results	
5.8 Discussion	101
5.9 Conclusion	
5.10 References	

Preface to Chapter 6	200
Chapter 6	201
6. Assessment of 4 current use pesticides in early life stage of two listed Moxostoma species: the river and	
copper redhorse	201
6.1 Title Page	201
6.2 List of Tables	203
6.3 Abstract	204
6.4 Introduction	204
6.5 Materials and Methods	206
6.6 Results	208
6.7 Discussion	211
6.8 Conclusion	215
6.9 References	215
Chapter 7	221
7. Discussion	221
7.1 Restatement of research problem and research questions	221
7.2 Summary of key findings	221
7.3 Answer to thesis question	222
7.4 Interpretation of findings	222
7.5 River chemistry	223
7.6 Laboratory Exposure	224
7.7 Implications	225
7.8 Limitations	227
7.9 Practical applications	228
7.10 Recommendations	229
Chapter 8	231
8. Final Conclusion and Summary	231
9. Reference List	232
10. Copyright	239

I. Abstract

Fishes worldwide spawn in rivers and streams that are polluted with complex mixtures of environmental contaminants including pesticides. In agricultural regions, pesticide concentrations in rivers and tributaries often peak in spring and early summer, a favored time for many fishes to spawn. Embryos and larvae developing under these conditions are at risk of being negatively impacted, with potential repercussions on fish population health and even conservation status. Contamination of spawning grounds may be of particular concern since early life stage (ELS) organisms are often more sensitive to contaminants than adults of the same species. Even though an increasing number of studies have focused on fish ELS and pesticide exposure, very few have assessed the effects of pesticide mixtures.

In this thesis, I investigate the effects of river water from an agricultural landscape on ELS fish. The focus is on the Richelieu River, a river in southeastern Quebec, which is home to over 80 species of fish including 9 listed species such as river (Moxostoma carinatum) and copper redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi). More than 70% of the Richelieu River watershed is dedicated to agriculture. The only two known spawning grounds of the copper redhorse are in the Richelieu River, which means that river contamination could have direct repercussions on that listed species population. In this thesis I first establish the effects of river water exposure on copper and river redhorse ELS (Chapters 3). Exposure to river water caused premature hatching in both species and a decrease of survival in copper redhorse larvae. Changes in gene expression were also assessed in the copper redhorse following exposure and genes related to immune functions were dysregulated. Next, I focused on identifying components of river water that may be associated with the effects observed by analyzing and describing spatial and temporal pesticide contamination of the Richelieu River during the spawning season and identifying the components of the mixture (Chapter 4). A total of 69 compounds, including 31 pesticides, were detected in the river water. During the copper and river redhorse spawning season, river pesticide concentrations were demonstrated to peak following heavy rain events. Of the pesticides, only the neonicotinoids clothianidin and thiamethoxam were found at levels exceeding safety thresholds for aquatic life. In Chapter 5, I used a model organism, the zebrafish, to determine the full life cycle effects resulting from early life exposure to river water. Effects such as delayed hatching, reduced fertilization rate and

increased offspring deformities were reported in fish exposed as embryos and larvae then raised to adulthood in clean water. For hatching and fertilization rate, the range of effects followed the contamination gradient of the river. Finally in Chapter 6, I used laboratory experiments to attempt to link the previously observed effects to specific pesticides that were identified for prioritization in Chapters 3 and 4. Copper and river redhorse ELS were exposed in a laboratory setting to four single pesticides. No effects were observed at concentrations approximately 10 times higher than environmental levels. In summary, this thesis suggests that current levels of contaminants in the Richelieu River have immediate and lasting effects on fish ELS, which have the potential to be harmful to wild fish populations but which can't be traced to the individual pesticides that were tested. I have also provided the first toxicity data from two listed fish species, and the first transcriptome of the copper redhorse.

II. Résumé

Partout dans le monde, les poissons fraient dans des cours d'eau pollués par des mélanges complexes de contaminants, notamment des pesticides. Dans les régions agricoles, la concentration de pesticides culmine souvent au printemps et au début de l'été, période privilégiée pour le frai de nombreuses espèces de poissons. Les embryons et les larves qui se développent dans ces conditions risquent d'être impactés négativement, avec des répercussions potentielles sur la santé des populations de poissons. La contamination des frayères peut être particulièrement préoccupante puisque les organismes aux premiers stades du cycle de la vie (PSCV) sont souvent plus sensibles aux contaminants. Même si un nombre croissant d'études se concentre sur l'exposition des poissons durant les PSCV aux pesticides, très peu ont évalué les effets des mélanges de pesticides.

Dans cette thèse, j'étudie les effets de l'eau de rivière d'un paysage agricole sur les PSCV des poissons. L'accent est mis sur la rivière Richelieu, une rivière du sud-est du Québec qui abrite plus de 80 espèces de poissons, dont 11 espèces à statut comme le chevalier de rivière (Moxostoma carinatum) et le chevalier cuivré (Moxostoma hubbsi). Plus de 70 % du bassin versant du Richelieu est dédié à l'agriculture. Les deux seules frayères connues du chevalier cuivré se trouvent dans la rivière Richelieu, ce qui signifie que sa contamination pourrait avoir des répercussions directes sur la population de cette espèce. J'établis d'abord les effets de l'exposition à l'eau de la rivière sur les PSCV du chevalier cuivré et du chevalier de rivière (Chapitre 3). L'exposition à l'eau de la rivière a causé des éclosions prématurées chez les deux espèces et une diminution de la survie des larves de chevalier cuivré. Les changements dans l'expression des gènes ont également été évalués chez le chevalier cuivré et les gènes liés aux fonctions immunitaires ont été dérégulés suite à l'exposition. Ensuite, je me suis concentré sur l'identification des composantes de l'eau de la rivière pouvant être associées aux effets observés en analysant la contamination spatiale et temporelle par les pesticides de la rivière Richelieu pendant la saison de frai (Chapitre 4). Au total, 69 composés, dont 31 pesticides, ont été détectés dans l'eau de la rivière. Il a été démontré que les concentrations de pesticides dans les rivières culminaient à la suite de fortes pluies. Parmi les pesticides, seuls les néonicotinoïdes clothianidine et thiaméthoxame ont été trouvés à des niveaux dépassant les seuils de sécurité pour la vie aquatique. Au Chapitre 5, j'ai utilisé un organisme modèle, le poisson zèbre,

pour déterminer les effets sur le cycle de vie complet d'une exposition durant les PSCV à un mélange environnemental. Des effets tels qu'une éclosion retardée, un taux de fécondation réduit et une augmentation des malformations de la progéniture ont été signalés chez des poissons durant les PSCV puis élevés jusqu'à l'âge adulte dans de l'eau propre. Pour le taux d'éclosion et de fécondation, la gamme des effets a suivi le gradient de contamination de la rivière. Enfin, au Chapitre 6, j'ai utilisé des expériences en laboratoire pour tenter de lier les effets précédemment observés à des pesticides spécifiques identifiés dans les Chapitres 3 et 4. Les PSCV des chevaliers cuivrés et de rivière ont été exposés en laboratoire à quatre pesticides uniques. Aucun effet n'a été observé à des concentrations environ 10 fois plus élevées que les niveaux environnementaux. En résumé, cette thèse suggère que les niveaux actuels de contaminants dans la rivière Richelieu ont des effets immédiats et durables sur les PSCV des poissons, qui ont le potentiel d'être nocifs pour les populations de poissons sauvages, mais qui ne peuvent être attribués aux pesticides individuels qui ont été testés. J'ai également fourni les premières données de toxicité de deux espèces de poissons à statut, et le premier transcriptome du chevalier cuivré.

III. Acknowledgements

The works presented herein would not have been possible without the help I have received along the way from friends and colleagues. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Jessica Head for her most appreciated mentorship, patience, trust and support. Past and present members of the Head and of the Basu labs for their advice, constant encouragement and great attitude. A big thank you to all the students who spent summers helping at Saint-Ours. I will forever have fond memories of our time spent at B17. And a special thanks to Emily Boulanger and Jenny Eng for their invaluable help, knowledge and expertise of the technical world.

Thank you to the members of my supervisory committee, Magali Houde and Nil Basu, for their involvement, suggestions and encouragement.

I would like to acknowledge the role Benjamin Barst played in my academic career. Thank you for your availability, invaluable advice, support and friendship. Thanks again for the opportunities that have led me here today.

A big thank you to Nathalie Vachon for her willingness to collaborate and share her vast knowledge on the copper redhorse.

I would also to thank the staff from the Ministère de l'Environnement, de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec and Environment and Climate Change Canada for their collaboration.

The most technical aspects of the project would not have been possible without the collaboration of the Bayen lab (Lan Liu & Stephane Bayen), the George lab (Ke Xu, Saji George) and the Xia lab (Jessica Ewald, Peng Liu and Jeff Xia).

Finally, but not the least, I would like to thank my family, especially my parents Danielle Champagne and Richard Marchand for their support and encouragement and to my partner Pascale Dupuis, who lovingly stood by my side through the hardships of graduate school. I owe a special debt of gratitude to my pets Blue and Mali for their unconditional love and invaluable disruptive behavior.

The work presented in this thesis was supported by McGill University F. Grey Woods Fellowships, McGill university graduate excellence award (GREAT), Fonds de recherche du Québec Nature et technologies (FRQNT), Centre de recherche en écotoxicologie du Québec (EcotoQ). The project was funded by a grant from the National Contaminants Advisory Group (NCAG) of fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO).

IV. Preface and Contribution to original knowledge

This thesis is written in the manuscript format, in compliance with McGill's "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation". Chapter 1 is a general introduction which includes the rationale and objectives of the research. Chapter 2 is a literature review that pertains to the entirety of the work presented. Chapters 3 to 6 are manuscripts published or to be submitted for publication in peer reviewed journals. Chapter 7 is a summary and discussion that pertains to the entirety of the work presented. The manuscripts presented in chapters 3 to 6 were first authored by the candidate. Chapter 3 is already published in a peer reviewed journal. Chapters 4 to 6 will be submitted shortly.

This thesis fills important knowledge gaps and contributes to the advancement of knowledge as follows:

In Chapter 3, we investigated the effects of river water on river and copper redhorse ELS. We provided evidence that environmental levels of pesticides have deleterious effects on fish. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first exposure study performed using river or copper redhorse embryos. We gained knowledge about the artificial rearing of listed fish and provided the first copper redhorse transcriptome. The importance of this study lies in the fact that it shows that environmental levels of contamination may be impeding the recovery of an endangered species.

In Chapter 4, we provided, to the best of our knowledge, the finest temporal resolution of pesticide contamination data for the copper redhorse spawning grounds. We were able to demonstrate that heavy rain events during river and copper redhorse spawning seasons cause pesticide concentrations to peak in the river. We also provided evidence that pesticide concentrations are higher in the tributaries than in the main river, which could affect other wild fish spawning in those areas. We identified two neonicotinoid insecticides with concentrations exceeding the safety threshold for aquatic life in the Richelieu River and its tributaries. We also showed that pesticides that were banned decades ago for their persistence in the environment can still be detected in river water.

In Chapter 5, we confirmed that ELS exposure to river water can also have an effect on the zebrafish, a model organism. Using the zebrafish, we were able to assess effects of ELS exposure to an environmental mixture over the complete life cycle. We observed a decrease in fertilization rate following the contamination gradient in the exposed fish, and an increase of the rate of deformities in their offspring. These persistent effects could affect the population of endangered fish such as the copper redhorse as annual recruitment for the entire species is from the Richelieu River.

In Chapter 6; we evaluated the single toxicity for river and copper redhorse of four pesticides that were omnipresent in the Richelieu River. We showed that alone, these four compounds could not explain the decline of the copper redhorse. We provided the first toxicity data of 4 active compounds for both copper and river redhorse. Our results also increase awareness of the potential mixture effects of environmental contaminants in surface water.

Overall, my thesis is a case study for understanding the potential impacts of pesticides on endangered fish. My results suggest that current levels of contaminants in the Richelieu River have immediate and lasting effects on fish ELS which have the potential to be harmful to wild fish populations but which can't be traced to the individual pesticides that were tested.

V. Contribution of Authors

Chapter 3: This chapter was authored by the candidate and co-authored by Dr Benjamin Barst, Emily Boulanger, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, Dr Jeff Xia, Dr Peng Liu, Dr Jessica Ewald, Dr Stephane Bayen, Dr Lan Liu and the candidate's supervisor Dr Jessica Head. The proposal for funding was developed by Dr Benjamin Barst, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, and Dr Jessica Head. Study design and implementation of the experimental methodology was led by the candidate with support from the rest of the project team. The candidate collaborated and coordinated with Nathalie Vachon to provide her field team with help and to obtain wild river and copper redhorse embryos. Data collection was led by the candidate with help from Dr Benjamin Barst, and Emily Boulanger. Water chemistry analysis was performed by Dr Lan Liu (Stephane Bayen). The candidate led the analysis and interpretation of the organismal data with the help of Dr Benjamin Barst, of the water chemistry data with the help of Dr Lan Liu (Stephane Bayen) and of the transcriptomic data with the help of Dr Peng Liu and Dr Jessica Ewald (Jeff Xia). The candidate wrote the manuscript and obtained editorial input from all co-authors. The manuscript was published in Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry volume 41, issue 8 in August 2022 (pages 1950-1966). Copyright approval was obtained, see section 8 of this thesis.

Chapter 4: This chapter was authored by the candidate and co-authored by Dr Benjamin Barst, Emily Boulanger, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, Dr Lan Liu, Dr Stephane Bayen, and the candidate's supervisor Dr Jessica Head. The proposal for funding was developed by Dr Benjamin Barst, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, and Dr Jessica Head. Study design and implementation of the experimental methodology was led by the candidate with support from the rest of the project team. Data collection was led by the candidate with help from Dr Benjamin Barst, and Emily Boulanger. Water chemistry analysis was performed by Dr Lan Liu (Stephane Bayen). The candidate led the analysis and interpretation of the data with the help of Dr Benjamin Barst, and Dr Lan Liu (Stephane Bayen). The candidate wrote the manuscript and obtained editorial input from all co-authors. The manuscript is in preparation and will be submitted shortly to a peerreviewed journal. **Chapter 5:** This chapter was authored by the candidate and co-authored by Dr Benjamin Barst, Emily Boulanger, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, Dr Xu Ke, Dr Saji George and the candidate's supervisor Dr Jessica Head. The proposal for funding was developed by Dr Benjamin Barst, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, and Dr Jessica Head. Study design and implementation of the experimental methodology was led by the candidate with support from the rest of the project team. Data collection was led by the candidate with help from Dr Benjamin Barst, Dr Xu Ke (Saji George) and Emily Boulanger. The candidate was responsible for the analysis and interpretation of the data. The candidate wrote the manuscript and obtained editorial input from all co-authors. The manuscript is in preparation and will be submitted shortly to a peer-reviewed journal.

Chapter 6: This chapter was authored by the candidate and co-authored by Dr Benjamin Barst, Emily Boulanger, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, and the candidate supervisor Dr Jessica Head. The proposal for funding was developed by Dr Benjamin Barst, Nathalie Vachon, Dr Magali Houde, and Dr Jessica Head. Study design and implementation of the experimental methodology was led by the candidate with support from the rest of the project team. The candidate collaborated and coordinated with Nathalie Vachon to provide her field team with help and to obtain wild river and copper redhorse embryos. Data collection was led by the candidate with help from Emily Boulanger. The candidate was responsible for the analysis and interpretation of the data. The candidate wrote the manuscript and obtained editorial input from all co-authors. The manuscript is in preparation and will be submitted shortly to a peer-reviewed journal.

VI. List of Figures

Figure 3: Daily pesticide concentrations measured in laboratory water (green) and river water (orange) aquariums and in the Richelieu River itself (yellow). Precipitation during sample collection is also presented. Water samples from the replicate laboratory and river aquariums were pooled before analysis. Richelieu River samples were collected near the pump intake feeding the aquariums. Two additional chemicals, chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid, were also targeted but were not detected in any water samples. Note that aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is a degradation product of glyphosate and that thiamethoxam is the precursor of clothianidin. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life are shown as solid red lines only for compounds in exceedance of the threshold (C, G). Thresholds for other compounds not shown on graphs are (A) AMPA, not available; (B) atrazine, 1800 ng/L; (D) glyphosate, 65,000 ng/L; (E) imazethapyr, 8100 ng/L; (F) metolachlor, 7800 ng/L.

Figure 4: Previously reported gene interactions between differentially expressed genes in copper redhorse and chemicals detected in the present study. Interactions were identified from the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database. Detected chemicals include compounds that were quantified in the Richelieu River by targeted analysis (marked with asterisk) and tentatively identified with nontargeted analysis. Interactions marked in pink have not been reported or are not included in the database. Interactions marked in green were reported in the same direction (up- or down- regulated) as the changes observed in the copper redhorse. Interactions marked in orange either involve simultaneous exposure to multiple chemicals or involve changes in the

Figure 8: Water parameters, A) temperature, B) dissolved oxygen, C) pH, D) conductivity and E) turbidity, during the river and copper redhorse riverside exposure in June 2018. Parameters are reported as the average value measured in 3 laboratory water aquariums (control) (green solid line), 3 river water aquariums (red solid line) and in the Richelieu River itself (yellow dashed line). Error bars represent standard deviations amongst aquariums. For river water, a single value was taken each day. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (QC), about 21 km away, by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (https://climate.weather.gc.ca).

Figure 9: A includes the HPLC peak and MS/MS fragmentation information for the molecular feature m/z 229.0859 at 7.0 min and oxybenzone standard; B includes the HPLC peak and MS/MS fragmentation information for the molecular feature m/z 215.0963 at 6.2 min and metribuzin standard. 108

Figure 12: Map of the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada) indicating the locations of water sampling. B) The Richelieu River is located in southeastern Canada. The Richelieu River is east of Montreal and flows from Lake Champlain (USA) to the St. Lawrence River (Canada). B) The Saint-Ours sampling site (indicated with the arrow) is downstream of the Saint-Ours Dam. This is the most downstream sampling location. Copper redhorse spawn in the rapids downstream of the Saint-Ours Dam. Passive samplers were also deployed at this location. C) The Acadie Tributary, Huron Tributary and Richelieu River Chambly sampling sites (indicated with the arrows) are in and around the Chambly basin. Chambly is the most upstream sampling location. Copper redhorse also spawn in the Chambly rapids within the Chambly basin. Passive samplers were also deployed at the Richelieu River Chambly location. The two tributaries that pour into the Richelieu (Acadie and Huron) were sampled as close as possible to the Richelieu River.......... 132

Figure 13: Daily pesticide concentrations (ng/L) measured in 2 locations in the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) and two of its tributaries (Acadie and Huron Rivers) during the river and copper redhorse spawning season. Daily surface water grab samples were hand-collected (4 times 40 mL/per location and per day). Precipitation (mm) during sample collection is also presented. Note that aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is a degradation product of glyphosate and thiamethoxam is the precursor of clothianidin. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life are shown as solid red lines only for compounds in exceedance of the threshold. Thresholds for other compounds not shown on graph are A) AMPA: not available, B) Atrazine: 1800 ng/L, C)

Figure 18. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on length of zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the total length of fish on days post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Included in the data are the exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only.

Figure 19. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on sex ratio (percentage of males), body weight and Fulton's condition factor of zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the

VII. List of Tables

Table 2. Targeted LC/MS method detection limits, method quantification limits, instrument detection limits, relative recoveries, and matrix effects and precision of chemicals analyzed. . **111**

Table 3. Summary table of means and ranges of the pesticide concentrations detected in the laboratory water aquariums, river water aquariums and the Richelieu River itself in June 2018. Chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid were also targeted but were not detected in any samples.

 112

Table 4. Summary table of the deformities observed in river and copper redhorse larvae exposedto either river water or laboratory water matching river water physio-chemical parameters. Eachtreatment started with 495 larvae per species.112

Table 5. Differentially expressed Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG)Orthologues (KOs) from copper redhorse exposed to river water.113

Table 6. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) for differentially expressed Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthologues (KOs) from copper redhorse exposed to river water. Genes with positive enrichment score were over expressed and gene with negative enrichment score (grey shading) were under expressed.

 114

Table 9. Time weighted daily average pesticide concentrations measured in passive sampler disc deployed in each of copper redhorse spawning grounds. The time weighted average concentrations were calculated using the average concentrations per disc (6 disc per unit) for each of the two field replicates (units) deployed in each location. The long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life for each compound is from The Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environments (CCME).

Table 10. Pesticide concentrations per sampler (disc) (ng) measured in passive samplers after a 28- (Chambly) or 29- (Saint-Ours) day deployment in 2 locations along the Richelieu River. These are the absolute concentrations measured in the passive samplers and not daily averages. The letters A and B represent field replicates, two per location, each containing 6 sampling discs. 144

Table 11. List of compounds analyzed (pesticides multiresidue analysis) from passive samplersdeployed in each of the copper redhorse spawning grounds.157

Table 13. Pesticide concentrations in ng/L measured in the Richelieu River samples used forzebrafish early life stage exposure. Chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imidacloprid andthiamethoxam were also targeted but not detected. Clothianidin was not detected in Chambly andImazethapyr was not detected in Saint-Ours.189

VIII. List of Abbreviations

AMPA: Aminomethylphosphonic acid CCME: Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment CDD: Cumulative degree days CTD: Comparative toxicology database DEGs: Differentially expressed genes DPF: Day post-fertilization DPH: Day post-hatch ELS: Early life stage FC: Fold change FDR: False discovery rate GC: Gas Chromatography HLPC: High-performance liquid chromatography HRGC: High-resolution gas chromatography HRMS: High-resolution mass spectrometry KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes KOs: KEGG orthologs LC50: Lethal concentration 50 MDL: Method detection limit MFFP: Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec MS: Mass spectrometry ND: Not detected PAHs: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons PCBEs: Polybrominated diphenyl ethers POCIS: Polar organic chemical integrative sampler PPCPs: Pharmaceutical and personal care products RNA: Ribonucleic acid RNAseq: Ribonucleic acid sequencing QC: Quebec

Chapter 1

1. Introduction

It is well known that early life exposure to environmental contaminants can have profound effects on the embryonic development of biological organisms (Li et al. 2011, Falisse et al. 2017). Early life is a crucial developmental period during which organisms are particularly sensitive to environmental stressors. In fish, developmental stages (embryo and larval) before complete resorption of the yolk sac (fry stage) are considered to be early life stage (ELS). The ELS fish may be particularly vulnerable, as their development may occur while directly in contact with contaminated water and sediments (Li et al. 2011). Even though there is a consensus that ELS fish are more vulnerable than adults, they are not all equally sensitive. There is an agreement in the literature that the larval stage is more vulnerable than embryonic and juvenile stages (Oliva et al. 2008; Lazhar et al. 2012; Mhadhbi & Beiras 2012; Velki et al. 2017, Wang et al. 2017). This could be explained by the fact that the larval stage lacks the embryo's chorion, which acts as a protective barrier, and has under- or undeveloped biological defenses or means of detoxification that are present in the juvenile stage (Velki et al. 2017). In comparison with embryo and juvenile stages, larvae can be sensitive to pesticide doses 10 to 100x lower in concentration and should not be overlooked when identifying potential effects on fish breeding in contaminated waters (Oliva et al. 2008).

Contamination of waterways by multiple pesticides is an increasing concern. Pesticides are almost always detected in mixtures since many are applied together or in succession as part of integrated pest management (Kogan 1998; Ahmad et al. 2008). This means that fish and ELS fish are seldom exposed to individual pesticides but rather to a mixture of pesticides and other contaminants. For example, 4 southern Quebec rivers monitored for pesticides by the provincial government contained between 18 and 34 pesticides when sampled between 2015 and 2017 (Giroux 2019). These pesticide mixtures may have synergistic effects, which worsens their impacts on fish. For example, atrazine and chlorpyrifos have been known to have such a synergistic effect; when detected together, their toxicity potential is increased compared to what would be predicted by the simple principle of addition (Perez et al. 2013). This is also true of chlorpyrifos and betacypermethrin (Zhang et al. 2017) and phoxim and atrazine (Wang et al. 2017). Interactions among pesticides and contaminants from wastewater effluents have also been documented, which even further complicates the effects of mixtures on fish ELS. It is also worth mentioning that pesticide use is not static and varies according to location and culture, but also time as new "better" products with varying properties are engineered to replace previous ones.

Pesticide exposure during ELS may cause overt toxicological effects such as deformities and mortality which have often been reported, but more subtle effects may also occur (Görge & Nagel 1990, Mhadhbi & Beiras 2012, Shahjahan et al. 2017). For example, memory loss, neurological disorders and reduced foraging and escape capacities have been observed in fish in response to early life contaminant exposure (Knecht et al. 2007, Gao et al. 2017). A growing body of research suggests that early life exposure to contaminants such as pesticides may also cause persistent negative effects in many organisms, including fish. These effects can sometimes be observed in subsequent generations in the absence of re-exposure (Weinhold 2012; Bhanndari et al. 2015; Singh et al. 2016, Carvan et al. 2017).

1.1 Objectives, Hypotheses & Specific Aims

Overall objectives: Determine the molecular and organismal effects of early life exposure to environmental mixtures dominated by pesticides in fish.

Overall hypothesis: Early-life exposure to pesticides will lead to dysregulation of gene expression. In addition, early life exposure to contaminants will increase deformities, and decrease growth, survival, and reproductive output of wild and laboratory fishes.

This hypothesis will be addressed in 5 chapters as follows:

Chapter 2: Literature review: A Canadian perspective on the effects of current use pesticides of concern on freshwater fish early life stage

Aim: Describe the known effects of current use environmental pesticides in ELS fish.

Chapter 3: Exposure to Contaminated River Water is Associated with Early Hatching and Dysregulation of Gene Expression in Early Life Stages of the Endangered Copper Redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*)

Aims & hypotheses:

1. Determine whether ELS exposure to Richelieu River water is detrimental to the copper redhorse.

I hypothesize that ELS of the copper/river redhorse exposed to contaminated water will have a lower hatch rate while mortality and deformities will be higher compared to the control group. Gene expression will be dysregulated following exposure to contaminated water.

2. Determine if the copper redhorse is more sensitive to contaminants present in the water than the river redhorse.

I hypothesize that copper redhorse will exhibit earlier hatching, lower survival and increased number of deformities than river redhorse following river water exposure.

Chapter 4: Pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu River and its tributaries during the spawning period of threatened and endangered fishes.

Aims & hypotheses:

1. Identify how tributaries (Huron and Acadie rivers) contribute to the contamination of copper redhorse spawning grounds.

I hypothesize that the influx of pesticides from tributaries will result in higher pesticide concentrations at the spawning ground downstream of the tributaries (Saint-Ours) and will have no effect on the spawning ground upstream of the tributaries (Chambly).

2. Determine which contaminants are present in the Richelieu River and explore their concentrations throughout the copper redhorse breeding period.

I hypothesize that pesticides, pharmaceuticals and personal care products will be present in the Richelieu River. The concentrations of contaminants will peak following rain events. Pesticides leaching into the river will peak during the copper redhorse breeding period.

Chapter 5: Decrease in fertilization rate of zebrafish exposed during early life stage to Richelieu River (QC, Canada) water

1. Determine the effects of ELS exposure to pesticide in zebrafish.

I hypothesize that fish ELS exposure will have decreased hatching success and survival, an increase in the number of deformities and will hatch prematurely. I also expect increased tail coiling activity.

2. Determine the later life effects of ELS exposure to pesticides in zebrafish.

I hypothesize that zebrafish ELS exposure to pesticides will exhibit decreased growth rate, body condition factor and reproductive output. I also expect the sex ratio to be skewed towards female.

3. Determine the multi-generational effects of ELS exposure to pesticide in zebrafish.

I hypothesize that zebrafish offspring from parents previously exposed to pesticides will exhibit a decrease in hatching success and survival, an increase in the number of deformities and will hatch prematurely. I also expect decreased growth rate, body condition factor and reproductive output.

Chapter 6: Assessment of 4 current use pesticides in early life stage of two listed *Moxostoma* species: the river and copper redhorse

Aims & hypotheses:

1. Determine the effects of laboratory ELS exposure to atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate and metolachlor on hatch rate, mortality, deformities, mRNA expression and DNA methylation in copper redhorse and river redhorse ELS.

I hypothesize that ELS of the copper redhorse and river redhorse exposed to pesticides will hatch prematurely compared to their control groups. Mortality and deformities will be higher following pesticide exposure. Genes related to xenobiotic mechanisms and oxidative stress are expected to be dysregulated and show a higher expression level.

2. Identify and confirm differences in sensitivity between fish species to atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate and metolachlor exposure.

I hypothesize that river redhorse, which is listed as special concern, will be less sensitive than copper redhorse, which is listed as endangered. Copper redhorse will be the species most sensitive to pesticide exposure in terms of premature hatching and survival.

Chapter 2

2. Literature review: A Canadian perspective on the effects of current use pesticides of concern on freshwater fish early life stage

Fish are important bioindicators for contamination of aquatic environments (Naigaga et al. 2011). Current environmental levels of contaminants are generally below concentrations expected to cause mortality but can alter behavior and physio- and biochemical parameters, which can have repercussions on wild fish populations (Lopes et al. 2022). Testing is often performed on later life stages but there is an increasing awareness that early life stage (ELS) is very important due to increased sensitivity but also ease of maintenance. Even there, limited information is still available on the effects of current use chemicals such as pesticides on ELS fish. Here we identify current use pesticides of concern in a Canadian context and reviewed the literature that describes their effects in ELS fish.

2.1 Scope of the Review

The first step in establishing the scope of the review was to select which pesticides of concern to include. I focussed on pesticides that are detected in the environment and that are currently registered for use in Canada. Twelve chemicals were selected among pesticides that are omnipresent in Canadian surface waters (Sultana et al. 2018, Lalonde & Garron 2020, Giroux 2022) including six that were previously identified as of concern (Anderson et al. 2021). Three compounds overlapped between the two groups: atrazine, clothianidin and metolachlor. Chlorpyrifos, which was identified as a contaminant of concern was not included here due to the already extensive number of reviews on its toxicity to fish and fish ELS (Wang et al. 2011, Jin et al. 2015, Sunanda et al. 2016, Farkhondeh et al. 2021). The twelve selected chemicals included five herbicides (atrazine, glyphosate, metolachlor, diquat, imazethapyr), one herbicide degradation product (Aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA)), two insecticides (permethrin and chlorantraniliprole), three neonicotinoid insecticides (imidacloprid, thiamethoxam, clothianidin) and one fungicide (chlorothalonil). The research was then narrowed down to studies using fish early life exposure using the key terms "pesticide (active molecule name) fish early life". Since freshwater habitats are currently the first reached by pesticides, only freshwater fish were

considered. The focus was set on single pesticide waterborne exposure to the active molecule; if a research used single pesticide and mixture or single pesticide and formulation, only the information from the single active compound was reported. The only non-active compound assessed here was the glyphosate degradation product AMPA since it is detected as often or even more than its parent compound. Most of the studies were conducted in a laboratory setting since we focused on the effects of single active compounds, which are seldom present singly in the environment. Recent studies have started to evaluate the potential effects of pesticide metabolites and formulants. We acknowledge that these avenues should be investigated and that often formulants or metabolites have been found to be more toxic than the parent compounds, but formulations were not used due to the lack of information on formulants, the numerous variations across brands and because it often contains a mixture of pesticides which makes it hard to narrow down effects to a specific compound. Literature that did not meet all the previous criteria was rejected.

2.2 Herbicides

Herbicides are used for the control of vegetation and represent the highest proportion of agricultural pesticides (Salomon et al. 2013). The use of herbicides has increased with the rising reliance to genetically modified crops (Salomon et al. 2013). Herbicides work by targeting plant-specific elements such as the cell membrane and the photosynthesis apparatus. This means that they are less likely to affect non-plant organisms, but high concentrations can lead to toxicity in untargeted species such as fish (Salomon et al. 2013). Herbicides are ubiquitous in surface water (Salomon et al. 2013. Giroux 2022) and there is concern about chronic exposure and sublethal effects.

2.2.1 Atrazine

Atrazine is a pre-emergent triazine herbicide, used to control broadleaf weeds by disrupting the photosynthesis mechanisms (Gammon et al. 2005). It is one of the most commonly used herbicides in the world, with concentrations in surface water across the globe usually measured in μ g/L range (Gammon et al. 2005, Liu et al. 2016). Atrazine can have a wide range of effects in fish ELS such as alteration of hatching and swimming behavior, increased rate of deformity and oxidative stress, endocrine disruption and neurotoxicity.

Survival & Hatching Time

Environmental concentrations of atrazine are generally lower than levels expected to be lethal to ELS fish, but environmental concentrations can have sublethal effects. In zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), lethal concentrations are in the mg/L range with median lethal concentrations (LC50s) of 34.19 and 15.63 mg/L for embryo and larvae respectively (Wang et al. 2017). Due to this, most studies on ELS fish focus on sub-lethal endpoints. For example, at environmental concentrations, atrazine had no effect on survival but caused premature hatching of both zebrafish (300 and 1000 μ g/L) (Blahova et al. 2020) and sockeye salmon (250 μ g/L) and early emergence of salmon (at 25 and 250 μ g/L) (Du Gas et al. 2017). Decreased hatching rate was also observed in zebrafish exposed to 900 μ g/L of atrazine (Walker et al. 2018). Overall, environmental levels of atrazine should have no effect on fish survival but could accelerate fish hatching time.

Deformities

The literature reports incidences of deformities in some fish species exposed during ELS to environmental concentrations of atrazine. For example, increased rate of deformities and edema were observed in zebrafish ELS exposed to 1300 μ g/L of atrazine (Görge and Nagel. 1990). In another study, differences in craniofacial cartilage elements, delayed vertebrae mineralization and gross craniofacial deformities were reported in zebrafish exposed to 20, 200 and 900 μ g/L of atrazine respectively (Walker et al. 2018). However, in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), 33 days ELS exposure to 0.3, 30, 100 and 300 μ g/L of atrazine had no incidence on deformity rate, condition characteristics or histology (Chromcova et al. 2013). Common carp may be less sensitive than zebrafish but more research is needed to better understand species sensitivity to atrazine.

Behavior

Only one study has assessed the effects of atrazine on ELS fish behavior. Swimming speed and free-swimming distance were assessed in zebrafish exposed to 30, 100 and 300 μ g/L of atrazine and both parameters were decreased at the two highest doses only (Liu et al. 2016). The concentrations assessed were environmentally relevant, but more studies are necessary to strengthen the conclusions.

Biochemical

Exposure to atrazine during ELS in fish has previously been associated with oxidative stress, endocrine disruption and neurotoxicity. For example, exposure of ELS common carp to 0.3, 30, 100 and 300 μ g/L increased the activities of the oxidative stress markers glutathione peroxidase, gluthathione S-transferase, superoxide dismutase, and catalase at all tested doses (Chromcova et al. 2013). Estrogenic response in the developing gonads and disruption of star, cyp11a2, and cyp1a mRNA expression were observed in the highest tested concentration of largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*) ELS exposed to 1, 10, 100 μ g/L of atrazine (Leet et al. 2020). In zebrafish exposed to 30, 100 and 300 ug/L of atrazine, acetylcholinesterase activity and nervous system related gene expression were decreased in both 100 and 300 μ g/L exposed fish. The chorion was not a good barrier and did not prevent atrazine uptake and accumulation inside the embryo (Wiegand et al. 2000). Overall atrazine, at environmental concentrations could affect numerous biochemical pathways of ELS fish.

Later in life

Transgenerational effects of atrazine exposure during ELS have also been reported. For example, in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), exposure during ELS to 5 or 50 μ g/L of atrazine, decreased the sperm count and motility in the F2 generation but not in the exposed F0 fish. No effects on fecundity were observed in the F0 through F2 generations, but decreased fertilization rate was observed in the F2. Transgenerational alterations of expression of genes involved in steroidogenesis and DNA methylation were also reported (Cleary et al. 2019). These results suggest that exposure during ELS could have detrimental transgenerational effects which can result in decreased reproductive potential.

As many others have previously pointed out, environmental concentrations, which are usually below 100 μ g/L are unlikely to have significant effects on fish populations (Van der Kraak 2014, Hanson et al. 2019). However, as with many compounds, studies have mostly focused on laboratory organisms which may not be representative of wild fish species.

2.2.2 Glyphosate

Glyphosate is a non-selective organophosphate herbicide and is also one of the most widely applied herbicides in the world. It is often uses in conjunction with genetically engineered herbicide-tolerant crops. Glyphosate inhibits the 5-enolpyruvyl-shikimate-3-phosphate-synthase enzyme, which is essential for the biosynthesis of 3 plant amino acids: phenylalanine, tryptophan and tyrosine (Schönbrunn et al. 2001). Non targeted animals such as fish lack this biochemical pathway which suggests limited effects (de Brito Rodrigues et al. 2017). However, effects of glyphosate such as alteration of hatching, development and larval activity, increased oxidative stress and neurotoxicity have all been reported in ELS fish. In the environment, concentrations of glyphosate in surface water are frequently measured in at the $\mu g/L$ level (Tresnakova et al. 2021).

Survival

For most fish species, embryonic LC50s for glyphosate are in mg/L range (Golovanova & Aminov 2019), which is higher than most reported environmentally relevant concentrations. For example, in Java medaka (*Oryzias javanicus*) and zebrafish embryo, no mortality during ELS exposure was reported at concentrations up to 100 mg/L (Yusof et al. 2014) and 250 mg/L (Uren Webster et al. 2014) respectively.

Hatching

Many studies report alterations in hatching time of fish embryos raised in glyphosate-spiked solutions. Early hatching has been reported in zebrafish at concentrations of 0.7 mg/L (Liu et al. 2022), 1.69 mg/L (Schweizer et al. 2019), 5 mg/L (Fiorino et al. 2018) and 50 mg/L (Uren Webster et al. 2014). But not all zebrafish studies report effects on hatching. For example, Diaz-Martin et al. (2021) observed no effects on zebrafish hatching during ELS exposure to 1, 5, 10 or 50 mg/L of glyphosate. Similarly, no effects on hatching were reported in ELS zebrafish exposed to 0.017, 0.17 and 1.7 mg/L of glyphosate (Ivantsova et al. 2022). Also, the opposite effect was reported in common carp, at 5mg/L of glyphosate: hatch was retarded (Fiorino et al. 2018). Delays in development and hatching have also observed in zebrafish but only when the concentration of glyphosate was above 100 mg/L (Uren Webster et al. 2014).

Only one study on Java medaka (Yusof et al. 2014) and one on Japanese medaka (Smith et al. 2019) reported a decrease in hatching rate resulting from a ELS exposure to glyphosate. Hatching success in Java medaka was decreased with increasing concentrations when exposed to 100, 200, 300, 400 and 500 mg/L of glyphosate (Yusof et al. 2014). For Japanese medaka, decreased

hatching success was observed at 0.5 mg/L, the only dose assessed (Smith et al. 2019). Glyphosate seems to have species dependent effects on hatching time and success but more research is required to consolidate this conclusion.

Morphological

Many studies report morphological alterations in ELS fish raised in glyphosate-spiked water. Numerous deformities have been reported at different concentrations of glyphosate in ELS zebrafish. For example, ocular distance was decreased at 0.5 mg/L (Bridi et al. 2017), pericardial and yolk sac edema, swim bladder deficiency and shortened body length were reported at 7 mg/L, craniofacial (Diaz-Martin et al. 2021) and heart malformation (Roy et al. 2016) was seen at 50 mg/L. Spinal curvature was also observed in adult zebrafish which were exposed during ELS to 10 and 50 mg/L (Diaz-Martin et al. 2021). In zebrafish, exposure to 0.017, 0.17 and 1.7 mg/L had no effect on the frequency of deformities, but increased incidence of spinal curvature and increased severity of edema were reported for all doses (Ivantsova et al. 2022). Glyphosate appears to be teratogenic in ELS zebrafish but different deformities, with very little overlap between studies, were reported. Also, in one study no effect on deformities was reported for both zebrafish and common carp exposed to glyphosate concentrations up to 50 mg/L (Fiorino et al. 2018).

There is some evidence in the literature that rainbow trout is more sensitive to glyphosate than zebrafish as deformities were observed at lower dosages. For example, reduction in head size was reported by 2 different studies at concentrations of 1 μ g/L (Du-Carrée et al. 2021) and 1 mg/L (Santos et al. 2019). But in both studies, no other deformity other than reduced head size was noted (Santos et al. 2019, Du-Carrée et al. 2021). It is worth mentioning that this endpoint was not measured in most of the previously cited studies. Various deformities were also observed in Japanese medaka exposed to 0.5 mg/L of glyphosate (Smith et al. 2019) and in Java medaka exposed to 100 mg/L and deformity rates increased with increasing concentrations 200, 300, 400 and 500 mg/L (Yusof et al. 2014).

Behavior

Only a few studies have assessed the effects of ELS exposure to glyphosate on behavior. The first one, using zebrafish, which were exposed to 0.01, 0.065 and 0.5 mg/L of glyphosate, reported

altered locomotion and aversive behavior only in the highest dose (Bridi et al. 2017). The second one, also using zebrafish, reported increased activity (hyperactivity) in zebrafish larvae exposed to 0.017 and 1.7 mg/L of glyphosate but not in the 0.17 mg/L exposed group. They also reported no change in anxiety-like behavior for all doses (Ivantsova et al. 2022). The last one assessed rainbow trout larval motility in 0.1 and 1 mg/L glyphosate solution, and motility was increased only in the 0.1 mg/L group. In the wild, increased and/or altered larval movement could lead to increased predation (Bridi et al. 2017, Santos et al. 2019). Current literature suggests that concentrations of glyphosate in the low mg/L range seem to have an effect on larval fish behavior but more studies assessing this endpoint are required.

Biochemical

Glyphosate has been associated with cardiac teratogenesis and has effects on ELS heart rate (Roy et al. 2016). Embryo exposure to 50 mg/L of glyphosate caused structural abnormalities in the heart atrium and ventricles, irregular heart looping of the developing heart, wrong organ positioning such as *situs inversus* and decreased heart rate (Roy et al. 2016). Reduction of cardiac rate was also observed in zebrafish exposed to 5, 10 and 50 mg/L of glyphosate but no change was reported in the 1mg/L exposed group. Interestingly, increased heart rate was also often reported. For example, in one study, elevated heart rate was observed in zebrafish exposed to 7 and 35 mg/L of glyphosate, with no change was observed in the 0.7 mg/L exposed fish (Liu et al. 2022). Increased heart rate was also reported at 17 mg/L of glyphosate in another study with zebrafish (Schweizer et al. 2019) and in Java medaka exposed to 100, 200, 300, 400 and 500 mg/L of glyphosate (Yusof et al. 2014). It was suggested that the increased heart rate was proof that ELS exposure to glyphosate was causing stress (Yusof et al. 2014). Even though different levels and direction of effects were reported, glyphosate seems to affect ELS heart development and heart rate.

Glyphosate exposure is also associated with oxidative stress in ELS fish. In a 120-hour ELS zebrafish exposure to 0.7, 7 and 35 mg/L of glyphosate, increased presence of reactive oxygen species and altered antioxidant defense, such as superoxide dismutase and catalase activities, were reported in the 7 and 35 mg/L exposed fish and endoplasmic reticulum stress was reported in all dosage groups. Decreases in antioxidant systems, including inhibition of catalase, glutathione

transferase and reductase and increased lipoperoxidation, were also observed in ELS silver catfish (Rhamdia quelen) exposed to 6.5 mg/L of glyphosate (Maylin Sobjak et al. 2017). Increased levels of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, which are by-products of lipid peroxidation, were also observed in rainbow trout exposed to 1mg/L of glyphosate but not in the 0.1 mg/L exposed fish (Santos et al. 2019). Studies demonstrate that concentrations of glyphosate in the mg/L range can cause oxidative stress in ELS fish.

Glyphosate also affected a variety of other toxicity endpoints. For example, changes in spontaneous tail movement patterns were observed in zebrafish in the 50 mg/L glyphosate exposure group but not in the 5 and 10 mg/L (Diaz-Martin et al. 2021). Glyphosate also had a neurotoxic effect (inhibition of cholinesterase activity) in silver catfish (Rhamdia quelen) exposed to 6.5 mg/L glyphosate (Maylin Sobjak et al. 2017) and genotoxic effect (DNA strand breaks) in zebrafish exposed to glyphosate concentrations ranging from 1.7 to 100 mg/L (Rodrigues et al. 2019). Sex related gene expression was dysregulated in testes of adult Japanese medaka exposed for 15 days during ELS to 0.5 mg/L of glyphosate, but no change was observed in females (Smith et al. 2019).

Dysregulation of cat and cox1 genes expression was reported in rainbow trout exposed to 1 mg/L of glyphosate but not to 0.1 mg/L (Santos et al. 2019). Increased expression of Cox1 and Hadh was also reported in zebrafish exposed to 0.017, 0.17 and 1.7 mg/L of glyphosate (Ivantsova et al. 2022). Immunological effects such as inflammatory response and apoptosis were reported in zebrafish larvae exposed to 35 mg/L of glyphosate but not in those exposed to 0.7 or 7 mg/L (Liu et al. 2022). Overall, glyphosate toxicity can be expressed over numerous non-lethal endpoints.

No effect

Negative effects are less often published in literature, but some published studies indicate that even high concentrations of glyphosate do not always cause overt effects. For example, no effects on survival, heart rate, morphometrics or behavior were reported in the Australian Murray cod and Murray river rainbow fish at concentrations of glyphosate up to 10 mg/L (Raymond et al. 2006). Another study also found no effects on survival, deformities, morphometrics, behavior, oxidative stress markers, acetylcholine esterase activity and energy metabolism in ELS rainbow trout exposed to concentrations of glyphosate up to 2 μ g/L (Du-Carrée et al. 2021). This concentration is more environmentally relevant, but much lower than in most previous studies that did demonstrated effects.

Overall, global environmental concentrations of glyphosate alone should have minimal, if any, effects on ELS fish. As with other pesticides, glyphosate can be found in a number of different formulation in which other formulants may be toxic themselves or contribute to the toxicity of glyphosate.

2.2.3 AMPA

Aminomethlylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is the highest occurrence glyphosate by-product in surface water (Landry et al. 2005; Al-Rajab et al. 2008) and has greater persistence and environmental motility than its parent compound (Kolpin et al. 2006). Very little information is available regarding its potential toxicity to ELS fish. Based on survival, growth and development of fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) the no-observed-adverse-effect concentration was set at 12 mg/L AMPA, the highest concentration tested (Levine et al. 2015). No acute toxicity was observed in zebrafish embryos exposed to concentrations ranging from 1.7 to 100 mg/L but just as with glyphosate, AMPA was genotoxic (DNA strand breaks) starting at 1.7 mg/L in a larval comet assay (Rodrigues et al. 2019).

A recent exposure study compared ELS zebrafish exposure between 0.017, 0.17 and 1.7 mg/L glyphosate and 0.019, 0.19 and 1.9 mg/L AMPA. Neither compound had an effect on survival, hatching success or frequency of deformities. But for both compounds, the deformed fish exhibited increased spinal curvature and more severe edema than in control for all doses. For both compounds, no induction of reactive oxygen species was noted but glyphosate increased superoxide dismutase 2 mRNA while AMPA increased catalase and superoxide dismutase mRNA in a concentration-specific manner. Contrary to glyphosate, AMPA was not associated with hyperactivity or anxiety-like behavior in zebrafish larvae (Ivantsova et al 2022).

Overall, AMPA does not appear to be more toxic than glyphosate to ELS fish, and as with its parent compound glyphosate, environmental concentrations of this compound alone are unlikely to cause an effect in ELS of wild fish.
2.2.4 Metolachlor

Metolachlor is a selective pre-emergent herbicide from the chloracetanilides family, that targets grass weeds. Metolachlor works by inhibiting the biosynthesis of very-long-chain fatty acids and interferes with gibberellin synthesis enzymes (Götz & Böger 2004, Heydens et al. 2010; Rose et al. 2016,). The racemic mixture of metolachlor was replaced by the single use of metoachlor S-enantiomer which has superior herbicidal properties (Muller et al. 2001; Poiger et al 2002). S-Metolachlor is one of the most commonly used herbicides (Atwood & Paisley-Jones, 2017) and agricultural runoff can easily contaminate surface waters (Zemolin et al. 2014). Metolachlor concentrations in the environment are often reported in μ g/L range (Battaglin et al. 2000, Vryzas et al. 2011, Quintaneiro et al, 2017, Giroux 2022) but concentrations up to mg/L level have also been reported (Tapie & Budzinski 2018, Rozmankova et al. 2020). Previous studies in ELS zebrafish, have reported effects of exposure to metolachlor on survival rate, hatching success, deformity rate, behavior and physiochemical-biochemical parameters (Quintaneiro et al. 2017, Rozmankova et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2021a; Yi et al. 2022).

Survival

The effects of metolachlor on survival were only reported at concentrations above what is measured in the environment. For example, decrease of survival was only observed in ELS fish exposed to 358 mg/L of metolachlor, no effects on survival were reported for all lower concentrations tested (\leq 184 mg/L) (Yang et al. 2021a). Other studies established 96-hour exposure metolachlor LC50 to 19.11 (Yi et al. 2022) and 46.21 mg/L (Quintaneiro et al. 2017). No effect on survival was observed in zebrafish exposed to 1, 30, 100 and 300 µg/L of metolachlor (Rozmankova et al. 2020). Overall, at environmental concentrations, metolachlor does not have an effect on zebrafish survival.

Hatching

The effects of metolachlor on hatching were also only reported at concentrations above what is measured in the environment. In Quintaneiro et al. (2017), metolachlor lowest-observed-effect concentration for deformities was 29 mg/L. In the same study, metolachlor concentration of 70 mg/L completely inhibited hatching (Quintaneiro et al. 2017). Similar results were also observed

in another study which noted a 40-50% and 90% decrease in hatch rate of ELS zebrafish exposed to 14.20 and 358 mg/L of metolachlor respectively (Yang et al. 2021a). In another example, hatching rate was inhibited in the 3 highest concentrations tested in zebrafish exposed to 8, 12, 18, 27 and 40.5 mg/L of metolachlor (Yi et al. 2022). No effect on hatching success was observed in zebrafish exposed to environmentally relevant and higher concentrations (1, 30, 100 and 300 μ g/L) of metolachlor (Rozmankova et al. 2020). Overall, at environmental concentrations, metolachlor does not have an effect on zebrafish hatching success, but concentrations one or two order of magnitude higher can decrease hatch rate.

Morphological

Exposure to metolachlor during ELS fish could lead to increased rate of deformities. In zebrafish exposed to 1, 30, 100 and 300 µg/L of metolachlor, adverse effects on the development of embryos were reported at the 2 highest doses (Rozmankova et al. 2020). For example, non-inflation of the swim bladder and malabsorption of the yolk sac were observed in the 100 and 300 µg/L exposed fish respectively (Rozmankova et al. 2020). In another study, increase in deformity rate was observed at 142 mg/L and concentrations above 184 mg/L resulted in 100% deformities. Reduced size of the swim bladder was also reported in fish exposed to 14.20 mg/L (Yang et al. 2021a). In zebrafish exposed to 8, 12, 18, 27 and 40.5 mg/L of metolachlor, increased incidence of spinal curvature was reported in the 8 and 18 mg/L while decrease in body length was observed in the 40.5 mg/L exposed fish (Yi et al. 2022). Quintaneiro et al. (2017) reported 29.4 mg/L as halfmaximal-effective concentration for deformity and deformation rate of 100% was reported at 70 mg/L. The main deformities observed were pericardial and abdominal edema, tail deformation and again impairment of yolk sac absorption (Quintaneiro et al. 2017). The main deformities reported in the studies following exposure to metolachlor in zebrafish were reduced swim bladder and yolk sac malabsorption. Some effects on fish ELS deformity could be expected at environmental and higher concentrations.

Behavior

Few studies assessed and reported effects of metolachlor exposure in ELS zebrafish. No effect on swimming behavior was reported in zebrafish exposed to 1, 30, 100 and 300 μ g/L of metolachlor (Rozmankova et al. 2020). Reduced frequency of embryo tail movement was observed but only in

the 1 μ g/L exposed fish (Rozmankova et al. 2020). In another study, no anxiolytic effect (light/dark preference) was reported in zebrafish exposed to 141, 283, 709.45 μ g/L and 1.42, 2.84, 7.10 and 14.20 mg/L of metolachlor but altered levels of activity were noted in the 2 highest doses (Yang et al. 2021a). So far there is no evidence that environmental concentrations of metolachlor have a meaningful effect on ELS zebrafish but more studies on this endpoint are required.

Biochemical

Other endpoints assessed in zebrafish exposed to metolachlor include heart rate, gene expression and oxidative stress markers. Zebrafish exposure to concentrations up to 300 μ g/L had no effect on ELS zebrafish heart rate (Rozmankova et al. 2020), but the highest concentration tested (40.5 mg/L) in Yi et al. (2022) caused a decrease in heart rate. In concentrations up to $300 \,\mu$ g/, no effect on the expression of genes involved in thyroid system regulation gene (dio2, thra, thrb) or xenobiotic metabolism (Cyp26a1) was reported (Rozmankova et al. 2020). Alteration of expression of genes related to swim bladder formation and inflation (acta2, anxa5, pbxa1) was reported in zebrafish exposed to 7.10 and 14.20 mg/L (Yang et al. 2021a). In ELS zebrafish exposed to 0.5, 1.33, 3.54, 9.40, 25 mg/L of metolachlor, there was no effect on catalase activity at all concentration, cholinestera activity only decreased in the highest dose and gluthathione Stransferase was increased in a dose-response manner in the three highest doses. Lipid peroxidation was lesser in all exposed fish and lactate dehydrogenase activity was decreased only in the 3.54 and 9.40 mg/L groups (Quintaneiro et al. 2017). Overall, at environmental concentrations, metolachlor seems to have minimal effects on ELS fish. However, so far only effects on zebrafish were studied, more studies on different species are required to better assess the risk of metolachlor on wild fish.

2.2.5 Diquat

Diquat is a non-selective herbicide that inhibits plant photosynthesis. Diquat exhibits rapid dissipation in water (Ritter et al. 2009) and very little information is available on environmental concentrations. There is very little information on toxicity of diquat for fish and only one study assessed the effect of diquat (pure form) on ELS fish (Wang et al. 2018). In that study, ELS zebrafish exposure to 0.34, 3.4, 34 μ g/L of diquat had no effect on survival, hatching, deformity rate and no indication of stress (Wang et al. 2018). However, diquat disrupted the mitochondrial

bioenergetics and behavior. For example, decreased oxidative phosphorylation, respiration and adenosine triphosphate production was observed in the highest dose assessed (34 μ g/L). Also, starting at 3.4 μ g/L, catalase activity was increased but no other change in oxidative stress or apoptosis markers was observed. Exposure to 3.4 and 34 μ g/L of diquat also caused increased activity of the zebrafish larvae (Wang et al. 2018). Overall, diquat can induce molecular changes in ELS zebrafish, but more research is needed to better understand the potential effects of diquat exposure to ELS fish.

2.2.6 Imazethapyr

Imazethapyr is a broad spectrum pre- and post-emergent herbicide of the imidazolinones family (Battaglin et al. 2000). Imazethapyr works by suppressing the synthesis of the essential amino acids isoleucine, leucine and valine by inhibiting the enzyme acetolactate synthase (Qian et al. 2009). Imazethapyr has a high selectivity to target organisms (Battaglin et al. 2000) and is often used in combination with glyphosate to increase effectiveness and eliminate weed resistance (Costa et al. 2022). Only one study focused on the effects of imazethapyr on ELS fish but the study used a formulation rather than the active molecule (Costa et al. 2022), and therefore will not be discussed here. Imazethapyr is often detected in the environment (Giroux 2022) and more studies are needed to evaluate its potential toxicity to ELS fish.

2.3 Insecticides

Insecticides are used to control insect pests on crops and are designed to cause toxicity in organisms. Previous generations of synthetic insecticides targeted biochemical pathways that were often conserved amongst taxa, which means that they were also highly toxic to non-target organisms (Fulton et al. 2013). Newer generations of insecticides target insect-specific pathways, such as nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. In general, insecticide toxicity to fish is greater than herbicide, but they generally degrade quicker in aquatic environment (Fulton et al. 2013).

2.3.1 Permethrin

Permethrin is a previous generation synthetic pyrethroid used as an insect repellent and insecticide and works by disrupting sodium channels, leading to insect paralysis and death. It exhibits short persistence and low mammal toxicity but can be highly toxic to aquatic organisms (Coats et al. 1989) with fish LC50 often measured below 10 μ g/L (Bradbury & Coats 1989). Environmental surface water concentrations of permethrin are often measured at 1 μ g/L, but concentrations in sediment, to which it binds easily, can reach up to 20 μ g/L (NORMAN EMPODAT database 2020). Over the years, many studies have focused on the effects of permethrin on ELS fish.

Survival

Many studies have assessed the lethality of permethrin on ELS fish and there is variability in species sensitivity. For example, the LC50 for ELS African mud catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) was 80 μ g/L (Zabbey et al. 2014) but no effects on mortality were reported in Japanese medaka or zebrafish at concentrations below 300 μ g/L (Gonzalez-Doncel et al. 2003; Yang et al. 2014). Decreased survival was also reported in fathead minnows and sheepshead minnows exposed during ELS to 1.40 and 22 μ g/L respectively. In zebrafish, decrease in survival was only reported at concentrations above 200 (Zhang et al. 2017) or 300 μ g/L (Yang et al. 2014). Zebrafish survival past 300 μ g/L decreased in a dose-response manner with increasing concentrations, up to 800 μ g/L level to hundreds of μ g/L level, but in most cases lethal values are well above environmental values.

Hatching

No study has found an effect of permethrin exposure on fish hatching success or time. For example, in fathead minnows (Spehar et al. 1983) and sheepshead minnows (Hansen et al. 1983), no effect on hatching was reported at concentrations up to 0.66 and 43 μ g/L respectively. The same was also true in zebrafish (Zhang et al. 2017) and Japanese medaka (Gonzalez-Doncel et al. 2003) in concentrations of permethrin up to 200 and 300 μ g/L respectively. Overall permethrin does not seem to have any effect on hatching in fish.

Morphological

Permethrin can alter morphology and be teratogenic to ELS fish. No effect on length was reported in zebrafish (Tu et al. 2016) and sheepshead minnows (Hansen et al. 1983) exposed to concentrations of permethrin up to $4.30 \,\mu$ g/L and $42 \,\mu$ g/L respectively, but weight was reduced in zebrafish exposed to $4.30 \,\mu$ g/L (Tu et al. 2016). In Japanese medaka exposed to 25, 50, 100, 200, 300 μ g/L of permethrin, increases in deformities such as non-inflation of the swim bladder, myoskeletal defects and enlargement of the gall bladder, were reported at all doses starting at 50 μ g/L (Gonzalez-Doncel et al. 2003). In zebrafish exposed to permethrin, vascular malformation was observed at 196 μ g/L and a dose-dependent increase of pericardial edema was observed in the two highest doses tested, 196 and 293 μ g/L (Xu et al. 2018). In zebrafish, exposure to 100, 200, 300, 400, 600, 800 μ g/L caused a dose response increase of spinal curvature, pericardial edema and non-inflation of the swim bladder starting at 300 μ g/L (Yang et al. 2014). Overall, exposure during ELS fish often leads to an increase in deformity rate but at concentrations above levels found in the environment.

Behavior

Exposure to permethrin during ELS fish can influence activity levels. For example, exposure of African mud catfish to 0.5, 0.1, 0.15, 0.2, 0.25 mg/L of permethrin caused dose-dependent increased activity across all treatments (Zabbey et al. 2014). However, the opposite reaction was observed in Japanese medaka and zebrafish. Decreased hatchling activity and uncoordinated movements were reported in Japanese medaka exposed to concentrations of permethrin ranging from 50-300 μ g/L (Gonzalez-Doncel et al. 2003). No change in zebrafish larvae was observed in concentrations up to 10 μ g/L (Blanc et al. 2020) and 293 μ g/L (Xu et al. 2018), but adults exposed to 1 and 10 μ g/L during ELS exhibited decreased activity as adults (Blanc et al. 2021). Overall, permethrin can affect fish activity levels. The larval stage seems to only be affected by concentrations above environmental relevance, but persistent effects may occur at concentrations as low as 1 μ g/L (Blanc et al. 2021).

Biochemical

Fish exposure to permethrin during ELS can cause alterations in neurodevelopment (Blanc et al. 2020, Blanc et al. 2021), as well as thyroid (Tu et al. 2016) and endocrine disruption (Zhang et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2018). Exposure of zebrafish during ELS to 1 and 10 μ g/L was partially correlated to alterations of lysophosphatidylcholine levels, an important lipid for neurodevelopment (Blanc et al. 2020), glutamatergic synapse activity and brain methylated region (Blanc et al. 2021). This caused a neurodegenerative-like transgenerational reduction of larval activity in the two subsequent generations but not in the exposed one and normal activity levels were resumed in the

third generation (Blanc et al. 2020). Increased levels of thyroid hormones were also reported in zebrafish embryos exposed to $4.30 \ \mu g/L$ (highest test concentration) (Tu et al. 2016). Exposure of zebrafish to between 1 and 293 $\mu g/L$ of permethrin also caused alterations of gene expression related to the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axes, the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axes and oxidative stress-related system in all tested doses (Zhang et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2018). Overall, permethrin caused neurotoxicity, thyroid, and endocrine disruption of ELS fish. Most of these effects were observed or made worse at concentrations above those measured in the environment. More studies are required to better understand the effects of permethrin exposure in ELS fish and differences in species sensitivity.

2.4 Neonicotinoid insecticides

Neonicotinoids are new generation broad-spectrum insecticides that block nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and disrupt ion transfer y-aminobutyric acid-regulated chloride channels. Neonicotinoids are highly selective for arthropod receptors over vertebrate's (Tomizawa & Casida 2005, Hladik et al. 2018). By the end of the 2000s, the three neonicotinoid nitroguanidine insecticides Imidacloprid, Thiamethoxam and Clothianidin dominated neonicotinoid sales (Jeschke et al. 2011) and accounted for 26% of global insecticide sales (Jeschke et al. 2011; Simon-Delso et al. 2014, Craddock et al. 2019). Neonicotinoid concentrations in the environment range from ng to $\mu g/L$ range (Moschet et al. 2014; Anderson et al. 2015; Morrissey et al. 2015).

2.4.1 Imidacloprid

Survival & Hatching rate

Imidacloprid is one of the most used neonicotinoids (Jeschke et al. 2011; Craddock et al. 2019) and it can have effects on fish ELS survival, hatching, morphology and physiochemicalbiochemical parameters. The ELS Common carp seem to be more sensitive than zebrafish to imidacloprid. For example, no effect was observed on survival and hatching in Japanese medaka or zebrafish over imidacloprid concentrations ranging from 0.2 μ g/L to 2000 μ g/L (Vignet et al. 2019) and 0.2 μ g/L to 181.47 mg/L respectively (Scheil & Köhler 2009; Tisler et al. 2009; Crosby et al. 2015; Vignet et al. 2019; Könemann et al. 2022). In ELS common carp exposed to 7.8, 15.6, 23.4, 31.2 mg/L of imidacloprid, survival and hatching success decreased in a dose-response manner. Survival decreased from 93.33% in control down to 61.33% in the highest dose. Early hatching was also recorded in the 31.2 mg/L exposed fish (Tyor & Harkrishan 2016). For lesser doses of imidacloprid (0, 10, 30, 300, 1000 μ g/L), the same kind of dose-response relationship was observed in common carp hatching rate (Islam et al. 2019). The LC50 values reported for common carp by Islam et al. (2019) are 94, 22, 2 and 1 mg/L for 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours respectively, which are much lower than the doses used by Tyor & Harkrishan (2016) suggesting a difference in sensitivity across common carps. In zebrafish, LC50s for embryos and larvae were 121.6 mg/L and 128.9 mg/L respectively (Wu et al. 2018). These results suggest a strong difference in ELS fish species sensitivity to imidacloprid, with zebrafish unlikely to be affected by environmental concentrations and common carp more likely to be.

Morphological

Studies on the effects of aqueous exposure of ELS zebrafish to imidacloprid do not often report an effect on deformity rate except at very high concentrations but increases in deformity rates have been observed in Japanese medaka and common carp at environmentally relevant doses. Multiple studies reported no increased incidence of deformities in zebrafish exposed to concentrations of imidacloprid ranging from 1 to 181 mg/L (Scheil & Köhler 2009; Wu et al. 2018; Könemann et al. 2022). According to Tisler et al. 2009, the imidacloprid concentration at which 10% of zebrafish exhibited non-lethal and lethal deformities were 222 and 300 mg/L respectively. In common carp exposed to 0, 10, 30, 300, 1000 µg/L, increased deformity rate was observed only in the 300 and 1000 µg/L exposed fish (Islam et al 2019). In Vignet et al. 2019, both zebrafish and Japanese medaka were exposed to imidacloprid concentrations ranging from 0.2 to 2000 μ g/L. Decreased growth and increased deformity rates were only observed in Japanese medaka with about 67% of individuals exhibiting deformities at 0.2 μ g/L imidacloprid and > 80% at concentrations of 2 μ g/L and higher. Spinal curvature, hemorrhage, and cranio-facial deformities appeared in a doseresponse relationship in concentrations of 0.2 µg/L and above, yolk and bone edema and tail deformities at concentrations of 20 µg/L and over. Still only in Japanese medaka, disorganization of the retinal pigment epithelium was observed in all exposure concentrations and altered muscle (myomeric) structure in concentrations of $2 \mu g/L$ and over. In zebrafish, only a thickening of the muscle fibers was observed in the highest concentration (2000 μ g/L) of imidacloprid assessed

(Vignet et al. 2019). Overall, environmental concentrations of imidacloprid increased the rate of deformity in Japanese medaka and common carp but not in zebrafish.

Behavior

Only two studies have investigated the behavioral effects of exposure to imidacloprid in ELS fish. In the first one, no effect on behavior was observed in larval zebrafish and Japanese medaka exposed to imidacloprid concentrations ranging from 0.2 to 2000 μ g/L. In the second, ELS zebrafish were exposed to 11.5 and 15.3 mg/L of imidacloprid during ELS and a concentration-dependant decrease in larval swimming activity was observed in both doses (Crosby et al. 2015). Later life effects on behavior were also reported in the ELS exposed fish, such as decreased exploration and increased startle response (Crosby et al. 2015). More studies are required to understand the potential effects of imidacloprid on ELS fish behavior, and other more sensitive species should also be assessed.

Biochemical

Two studies have evaluated the effects of imidacloprid on biochemical parameters of ELS fish and both reported effects. Enzyme activity and gene expression were evaluated in ELS zebrafish exposed to 0.38, 1.52 or 6.08 mg/L of imidacloprid. All doses caused some level of alteration of enzyme activity related to detoxification, antioxidant and caspase apoptosis pathways and of gene expression related to oxidative stress, apoptosis, immune functions, and hypothalamic-pituitarythyroid axis (Wu et al. 2018). Vignet et al. 2019, also reported metabolite alterations linked to energy metabolism, and cholinergic and adrenergic neurotransmission in Japanese medaka, but not in zebrafish, exposed during ELS to concentrations of imidacloprid ranging from 0.2 to 2000 μ g/L. They also found that the chorion was a good barrier for imidacloprid uptake (Vignet et al. 2019), which suggests that larvae may be more sensitive than embryos. These results demonstrate that there can be some alterations in biochemical parameters at environmental concentrations of imidacloprid on the more sensitive fish species.

2.4.2 Thiamethoxam

Survival

By the end of the 2000s, thiamethoxam was the world second most used neonicotinoid insecticide (Jeschke et al. 2011) and many studies report toxicity to ELS fish. Lethal concentrations of Thiamethoxam appear to be in the mg/L range for ELS fish. For example, rare minnow (Gobiocypris rarus) larvae LC50 was 386 mg/L and 202 mg/L for 48- and 96-hour exposure respectively (Wang et al. 2020). For zebrafish, the LC50 was 246 mg/L for embryos and 194 mg/L for larvae. (Shen et al. 2021). Larvae of the rare minnow were also more sensitive than embryos (Yang et al. 2021b). The opposite was true for fathead minnows where exposure to 1.57 µg/L of thiamethoxam starting post-hatch had no effect while embryonic exposure to the same dose caused mortality (Victoria et al. 2022a). But other studies have seen effects on mortality in lower doses such as in the µg/L range. For example, ELS exposure of zebrafish to 0.016, 0.21, 1.29, 12.69 and 163 µg/L reduced survival by about 20% in the highest dose (Victoria et al. 2022b). In banded gourami, exposure to 0.02, 0.2, 2, 20, 200 mg/L concentrations of thiamethoxam caused an increase in mortality in both embryos and larvae at all doses following a dose-response relationship (Hasan et al. 2022). A similar relationship was observed in fathead minnows exposed to 0.02, 0.16, 1.57, 14.61 and 155 μ g/L thiamethoxam, where mortality started at 1.57 μ g/L and increased with increasing doses (Victoria et al. 2022a). But in ELS rainbow trout, no effects on survival were observed in all doses tested, which means concentrations up to 20 mg/L (Finnegan et al. 2017). At environmental concentrations, thiamethoxam could affect ELS fish survival but sensitivity seems to be different across species.

Hatching

Some studies report alterations in hatching success of fish embryos raised in thiamethoxam-spiked solutions. For example, hatching success decreased in a dose-dependence effects in banded gourami exposed to 0.02, 0.2, 2, 20, 200 mg/L of thiamethoxam. Hatching of zebrafish exposed to 0.016, 0.21, 1.29, 12.69 and 163 μ g/L was impaired but the response was non-monotonic . Hatching was reduced by 75% in the embryos exposed to 0.21 μ g/L of thiamethoxam but only 7% less in the 163 μ g/L, with no effect in between (Victoria et al. 2022b). This may have been associated with a husbandry problem since no effect on hatching was reported in zebrafish exposed to concentrations up to 12.3 mg/L (Shen et al. 2021). No effect on hatching was reported in fathead minnow and rainbow trout for all doses tested with the highest being 155 μ g/L (Victoria et al. 2022a) and 20 mg/L (Finnegan et al. 2017) respectively. Overall, some species seem to be sensitive

to thiamethoxam concentration 1 to 2 order of magnitude lesser than others, and effects on hatching also varied across species.

Morphological

Only a couple of studies have reported effects on morphological parameters of ELS exposure to thiamethoxam. Again, the banded gourami seems to be the most sensitive species to thiamethoxam. Increase in deformity rate was reported for all tested concentrations (0.02, 0.2, 2, 20, 200 mg/L) of thiamethoxam, following a dose-dependent relationship. Yolk sac edema was the most commonly reported deformity (Hasan et al. 2022). Decreased eye size was reported in zebrafish following exposure to 0.21 μ g/L, but this is also the only the treatment (and not highest concentration) that exhibited a large (75%) decrease in hatching success (Victoria et al. 2022b). Other studies reported no effect on morphological deformities in rainbow trout (Finnegan et al. 2017), zebrafish (Shen et al. 2021) and fat head minnow (Victoria et al. 2022a). Thiamethoxam seems to induce mortality only in the most sensitive species.

Behavior

Only a couple of studies have assessed the effects of ELS exposure to thiamethoxam on behavior. The first one, focusing on zebrafish, found that exposure to 0.21, 12.69 and 163 μ g/L of thiamethoxam altered predator escape response but no effect was observed in the 0.016 and 1.29 μ g/L exposed fish (Victoria et al. 2022b). The second one, using fat head minnows showed that ELS exposure to concentrations of thiamethoxam ranging from 0.02 to 14.61 μ g/L impaired larval foraging behavior and that exposure to 155 μ g/L impaired predator escape response (Victoria et al. 2022a).

Other

Only one study, which used multiple endpoints, assessed molecular changes in ELS zebrafish following thiamethoxam exposure. Zebrafish were exposed to 0.77, 3 and 12.3 mg/L of thiamethoxam during ELS. Antioxidant related markers were increased only in the high dose group, no change in catalase was reported in any of the doses and total superoxide dismutase increased in a dose-dependent manner in all treatments. Peroxidase activity was decreased in the low and medium doses but increased in the high dose. Cytochrome P450 was inhibited, and

caspase 3 activity decreased in the low dose only while glutathione S-transferase was increased in the low and medium doses. Increased expression of apoptosis, antioxidation and immunity-related genes was observed in all three doses (Shen et al. 2021). Thiamethoxam exposure seems to cause oxidative stress and affect the immunological system of ELS fish.

Even though thiamethoxam has a low affinity with the vertebrate nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (Victoria et al. 2022b), it still poses a risk for ELS fish. However, more studies are required to really understand the effects of thiamethoxam on ELS fish.

2.4.3 Clothianidin

By the end of the 2000s, clothianidin was the world third most used neonicotinoid insecticide (Jeschke et al. 2011), which is the active degradation product of its precursor, thiamethoxam, and is also used and applied as an insecticide (Nauen et al. 2003). Only one study has focused on the effects of clothianidin on ELS fish. The ELS Sockeye salmon were exposed to 0.15, 1.5, 15 and $150 \,\mu g/L$ of clothianidin. The exposure had no effect on survival, hatching, growth nor deformities. An increase in 17B-estradiol levels in fry was observed in the fish exposed to the lowest dose (0.15 $\mu g/L$) and reduced liver glucocorticoid gene expression was reported in the fry exposed to the highest dose (150 $\mu g/L$) (Marlatt et al. 2019). More research is necessary to understand the potential effects of clothianidin exposure to ELS fish.

2.4.4 Chlorantraniliprole

Chlorantraniliprole is a new generation highly selective and persistent anthranilic diamide insecticide (Bentley et al. 2010; Rodrigues et al. 2015). Chlorantraniliprole works by upregulating the activation of insect's ryanodine receptor channels which depletes the internal calcium store impairing regulation of muscle contraction and leading to paralysis and death (Bentley et al. 2010). Anthranilic diamides have been suggested as a potential alternative to neonicotinoid pesticides (Schmidt-Jeffris & Nault 2016). Chlorantraniliprole exhibits excellent differential selectivity for insect ryanodine receptors over mammalian receptors. However little information is currently available for fish. Chlorantraniliprole has often been detected in surface water (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Giroux 2022, Sandstrom et al. 2022) and as of yet, no studies have focused on its effect of on ELS fish.

2.5. Fungicide

Agricultural fungicides are phytosanitary products used to protect crops from fungal diseases. Compared to herbicides and insecticides, much less information is available concerning the environmental fate of fungicides, but surface water concentrations have been measured at ng and μ g/L level (Reilly et al. 2012).

2.5.1 Chlorothalonil

Chlorothalonil is a fungicide used to protect crops, grass turf, and tree surfaces from pathogens such as blight, leaf spots and mildew (Caux et al. 1996). It binds and depletes cellular glutathione and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (glycolysis) (Caux et al. 1996). Environmental concentrations range from a few ng/L level (Caux et al. 1996) to hundreds of μ g/L level (Van Scoy & Tjeerdema 2014). Only a few studies have focused on the effects of chlorothalonil on fish ELS.

Survival & hatching

Chlorothalonil concentrations in the μ g/L range have been associated with a decrease of survival in 3 fish species and alterations in hatching time have been reported in sockeye salmon. Concentration as low as 5 μ g/L decreased survival of ELS sockeye salmon by about 30%, but no effect was observed at 0.5 μ g/L (Du Gas et al. 2017). In zebrafish however, exposure to 5, 10, 25 and 50 μ g/L caused a decrease in survival of approximately 22% at the highest dose versus control (Zhang et al. 2016). In fat head minnow, the lowest-observed effect concentration for survival was 15 μ g/L while LC50 was 22.6 μ g/L Sherrard et al. 2003). Exposure of Japanese medaka to 0.06 μ g/L had no effect on survival or hatching (Teather et al. 2015). Delayed hatch in ELS sockeye salmon exposed to 5 μ g/L and early emergence in both tested concentrations (0.5 and 5 μ g/L) were reported (Du Gas et al. 2017). It appears that concentrations in the μ g/L range can be lethal and alter hatching of ELS fish.

Morphological & biochemical

Exposure to chlorothalonil during ELS fish seems to negatively impact fish growth. For example, exposure of fat head minnows to concentrations above 20 μ g/L (20, 22.5, 25 and 30) caused a decrease in fry size (Sherrard et al. 2003). In sockeye salmon, reduced condition factors and

elevated levels of triglyceride in 0.5 and 5 μ g/L chlorothalonil exposed fish were observed. (Du Gas et al. 2017).

Hypoactivity, skewed sex ratio, endocrine and energy metabolism disruption were reported in fish exposed during ELS to chlorothalonil. Exposure of Japanese medaka to $0.06 \,\mu$ g/L of chlorothalonil had no effect on foraging ability and size but reduced activity level in larvae and a skewed sex ratio toward female were reported (Teather et al. 2015). Chlorothalonil has been reported as a potential endocrine disruptor (Zhang et al. 2016) and may also alter glycolysis and amino acids metabolisms (Yang et al. 2021c) of ELS fish. Overall few studies, with limited endpoints have focused on the effects of chlorothalonil on ELS fish, but from the available results it is likely that this fungicide could have an effect on ELS of wild fish.

2.6 Summary

At environmental levels, most herbicides (AMPA, atrazine, glyphosate, metolachor) and the insecticide permethrin are unlikely to cause major effect to ELS fish. The compounds most likely to negatively impact fish at environmental levels were the three neonicotinoid insecticides (imidacloprid, thiamethoxam and clothianidin) and the fungicide chlorothalonil. For the other two herbicides (diquat and imazethapyr) and the insecticide chlorantraniliprole, there is still very limited information available on their potential toxicity to ELS fish. This is a major contrast to compounds such as atrazine and glyphosate which have been extensively studied. There is still much more to be done to fully understand the potential toxicity of these widely used compounds on wildlife.

Most of the species targeted in the studies included in this review were laboratory organisms, with zebrafish and Japanese medaka being the most common ones. When information on other species was available, it was clear that there were major discrepancies in species sensitivity. Yet, very few studies have assessed the effects of these chemicals on wild fish species. This is concerning since these pesticides are ubiquitous in the environment and it is of the utmost important to assess their potential toxicity on wild fish.

2.7 Knowledge gaps and significance

Even though an increasing number of studies have focused on ELS fish and pesticide exposure, we are still very far from understanding their effects on wild fish. In the environment, pesticides are always detected in mixtures and very few studies have assessed the effects of pesticide mixtures on ELS fish. My study design allows us to assess the effects of environmentally relevant pesticide mixtures on ELS fish. Pesticide concentrations vary across space and time. While mature fish can travel long distances, embryos and larvae are much less motile and are often restricted to areas surrounding the adults' spawning grounds. Fish, according to species, tend to have a very specific breeding period making contamination variable. Endangered species are probably the most impacted by contaminants and yet they are often the least studied. There is limited information available for endangered species with no economical or recreational values, which makes risk assessment harder. Here we will try to determine if the endangered status may be explained by greater species sensitivity to pesticides and how important pesticides are as stressors to ELS fish. Hence, in this project, the investigation over many species will be beneficial since species spawning in the same location may encounter different contamination gradients due to difference in spawning time. Many studies have focused on parental exposure but to examine solely the effects of potentially contaminated spawning grounds, we are isolating the effects of exposure during embryogenesis from exposure at other phases of the life cycle. Very few studies have reared fish to maturity to detect latent effects resulting from the initial exposure. Expanding on this, even less data are available for multigenerational effects. In this study, my goal is to specifically link molecular changes to organismal changes and to explore possible multigenerational effects resulting from ELS exposure to pesticides in fish. Our series of experiments will allow me to explore the effects resulting from ELS exposure to pesticides on all life stages of fish and to identify potential contaminants of concern.

2.8 References

Al-Rajab AJ, Amellal S, Schiavon M. 2008. Sorption and leaching of 14C-glyphosate in agricultural soils. Agronomy for Sustainable Development. 28(1): 419-428.

Bentley KS, Fletcher JL, Woodward MD. 2010. Chapter 102 – Chlorantraniliprole: An insectivide of the anthranilic diamide class. In: Hayes' Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology (Third Edition). Pp 2231-2242.

Anderson JC, Dubetz C, Palace VP. 2015. Neonicotinoids in the Canadian aquatic environment: a literature review on current use products with a focus on fate, exposure, and biological effects. Science of the Total Environment. 505(1): 409-422.

Anderson JC, Marteinson SC, Prosser RS. 2021. Prioritization of pesticides for assessment of risk to aquatic ecosystems in Canada and identification of knowledge gaps. Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology. 259(1): 171-231.

Atwood D & Paisley-Jones C. 2017. Pesticides Industry Sales and Usage 2008-2012. U.S. EPA, pp 1-24.

Battaglin WA, Furlong ET, Burkhardt MR, Peter MJ. 2000. Occurrence of sulfonulurea, sulfonamide, imidazolinone, and other herbicides in rivers, reservoirs and ground water in the Midwestern United States, 1998. Science of the Total Environment. 248(2-3): 123-133.

Blahova J, Cociloco C, Plhaova , Svobodova Z, Faggio C. 2020. Embryotoxicity of atrazine and its degradation products to early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 77(1): 103370

Blanc M, Cormier B, Hyotylainen T, Krauss M, Scherbak N, Cousin X, Keiter SH. 2020. Multiand transgenerational effects following early-life exposure of zebrafish to permethrin and coumarin 47: impact on growth, fertility. Behavior and lipid metabolism. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 205(1): 111348.

Blanc M, Antczak P, Cousin X, Gruneau C, Scherbak N, Rüegg J, Keiter SH. 2021. The insecticide permethrin induces transgenerational behavioral changes linked to transcriptomic and epigenetic alterations in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Science of the Total Environment. 779(1): 146404.

Borggaard OK and Gimsing AL. 2008. Fate of glyphosate in soil and the possibility of leaching to ground and surface waters: a review. Pest Management Science. 64(4): 441-456.

Bradbury SP, and Coats JR. 1989. Toxicokinetics and toxicodynamis of pyrethroid insecticides in fish. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 8(5): 373-380.

Bridi D, Altenhofen S, Gonzalez JBB, Reolon GK, Bonan CD. 2017. Glyphosate and Roundup alter morphology and behavior in zebrafish. Toxicology. 392(1): 32-39.

Caux PY, Kent RA, Fan GT, Stephenson GL. 1996. Environmental fate and effects of chlorothalonil: A Canadian perspective. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology. 26(1): 45-93.

Chromcova L, Blahova J, Plhalova L, Zivna D, Stepanova S, Praskova E, Prokes M, Zeelnickova L, Skoric M, Svobodova Z. 2013. Neuroendocrinology Letters. 34(suppl.2): 95-101.

Cleary JA, Tillitt DE, vom Saal FS, Nicks DK, Claunch RA, Bhandari RK. 2019. Atrazine induced transgenerational reproductive effects in medaka (Oryzias latipes). Environmental Pollution. 251(1): 639-650.

Coats JR, Symonik DM, Bradbury SP, Dyer SD, Timson LK, Atchinson GJ. 1989. Toxicology of synthetic pyrethroids in aquatic organisms: an overview. Environmenta Toxicology and Chemistry. 8(1): 671-679.

Costa G, Fernandes A, Santos T, Brito L, Rodrigues L, Valadares M. 2022. In vitro and in vivo cytotoxicity assessment of glyphosate and imazethapyr-based herbicides and their association. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A. 85(12): 481-493.

Craddock HA, Huang D, Turner PC, Quiros-Alcala L, Payne-Sturges DC. 2019. Trends in neonicotinoid pesticide residues in food and water in the United States, 1999-2015. Environmental Health. 18(7): 30634980.

Crosby EB, Bailley JM, Oliveri A, Levin ED. 2015. Neurobehavioral impairments caused by developmental imidacloprid exposure in zebrafish. Neurotoxicology and Teratology. 49(1): 81-90.

Diaz-Martin RD, Carvajal-Peraza A, Yanez-Rivera B, Betancourt-Lozano M. 2021. Short exposure to glyphosate induces locomotor, craniofacial, and bone disorders in zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 87(1): 103700.

Du-Carrée JL, Saliou F, Cachot J, Morin T, Danion M. 2021. Developmental effect of parental or direct chronic exposure to environmental concentration of glyphosate on the larvae of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquatic Toxicology. 237(1): 105894.

Du Gas, LM, Ross PS, Walker J, Marlatt VL, Kennedy CJ. 2017. Effects of atrazine and chlorothalonil on the reproductive success, development, and growth of early life stage sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 36(5): 1354-1364.

Farkhondeh T, Mehrpour O, Sadeghi M, Aschner M, Aramjoo H, Roshanravan B, Samarghandian S. 2021. A systematic review on the metabolic effects of chlorpyrifos. Reviews on Environmental Health. 37(1).

Finnegan MC, Baxter LR, Maull JD, Hanson ML, Hoekstra PF. 2017. Comprehensive characterization of the acute and chronic toxicity of the neonicotinoid insecticide thiamethoxam to a suite of aquatic primary producers, invertebrates, and fish. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 36(10): 2838-2848.

Fiorino E, Sehonova P, Plhalova L, Blahova Jm Svobodova Z, Faggio C. 2018. Effects of glyphosate on early life stages: comparison between Cyprinus carpio and danio rerio. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 25(1): 8542-8549.

Fulton MH, Key P, Delorenzo ME. 2013. 6 - Insecticide toxicity in fish. Fish Physiology. 33(1): 309-368.

Gammon Dw, Aldous Cn, Carr Jr WC, Sanborn Jr, Pfeifer PF. 2005. A risk assessment of atrazine use in California: human health and ecological aspects. Pest Management Science. 61(4): 331-355.

Gonzalez-Doncel M, de la Pena E, Barrueco C, Hinton DE. 2003. Stage sensitivity of medaka (Oryzias latipes) eggs and embryos to permethrin. Aquatic Toxicoogy. 62(3): 255-268.

Görge G & Nagel R. 1990. Toxicity of lindane, atrazine, and deltamethrin to early life stages of zebrafish (Brachydanio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 20(3): 246-255.

Götz T and Böger P. 2004. The very-long-chain fatty acid synthase is inhibited by chloroacetamides. Zeitschrift für naturforschung C. 59(7-8): 549-553.

Hansen DJ, Goodman LR, Moore JC, Higdon PK. 1983. Effects of the synthetic pyretjroids aC 222, 705, permethrin and fenvalerate on sheepshead minnows in early life stage toxicity tests. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 2(1): 251-258.

Hanson ML, Solomon KR, Van Der Kraak GJ, Brian RA. 2019. Effects of atrazine on fish, amphibians, and reptiles: update of the analysis based on quantitative weight of evidence. Critical Reviews in Toxicology. 49(8): 670-709.

Hasan M, Sumon KA, siddiquee MAM, Bhandari RK, Prodhan MDH, Rashid H. 2022. Thiamethoxam affects the developmental stages of banded gourami (Trichogaster fasciata). Toxicology reports. 9(1): 1233-1239.

Heydens WF, lamb IC, Wilson AGE. 2020. Chapter 82 – Chloracetanilides. In: Hayes' Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology (Third Edition). Pp: 1753-1769

Islam MA, Hossen MS, Sumon KA, Rahman MM. 2019. Acute toxicity of imidacloprid on the developmental stages of common carp Cyprinus carpio. Toxicology and Environmental Health Sciences. 11(1): 244-251.

Ivantsova E, Wengrovitz AS, Souders II CL, Martyniuk CJ. 2022. Developmental and behavioral toxicity assessment of glyphosate and its main metabolite aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) in zebrafish embryos/larvae. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 93(1): 103873.

Jeschke P, Nauen R, Schindler M, Elbert A. 2011. Overview of the status and global strategy for neonicotinoids. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 59(1): 2897-2908.

Jin Y, Liu Z, Peng T, Fu Z. 2015. The toxicity of chlorpyrifos on the early life stage oz zebrafish: A survey on the endpoints at deveopment, locomotor behavior, oxidative stress and immunotoxicity. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 43(2): 405-414. Kolpin DW, Thurman EM, Lee EA, Meyer MT, Furlong ET, Glassmeyer ST. 2006. Urban contributions of glyphosate and its degradate AMPA to streams in the United States. Science of the Total Environment. 354(2-3): 191-197.

Könemann S, von Wyl M, vom Berg C. 2022. Zebrafish larvae rapidly recover from locomotor effects and neuromuscular alterations induced by cholinergic insecticides. Environmental Science & Technology. 56(12): 8449-8462.

Lalonde B and Garron C. 2020. Temporal and spatial analysis of surface water pesticide occurrences in the maritime region of Canada. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 79(1): 12-22.

Landry D, Dousset S, Fournier JC, Audreux F. 2005. Leaching of glyphosate and AMPA under two soil management practices in Burgundy vineyards (Vosne-Romanée, 21-France). Environmental Pollution. 138(2): 191-200.

Leet JK, Richter CA, Cornman RS, Berninger JP, Bhandari RK, Nicks DK, Zajicek JL, Blazer VS, Tillitt DE. 2020. Effects of early life stage exposure of largemouth bass to atrazine or a model estrogen (17a-ethinylestradiol). PeerJ 8:e9614.

Levine SL, von Mérey G, Minderhout T, Manson P, Sutton P. 2015. Aminomethyphosphonic acid has low chronic toxicity to daphnia magnia and pimephales promelas. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 34(6): 1382-1389.

Liu Z, Wang Y, Zhu Z, Yang E, Feng X, Fu Z, Jin Y. 2016. Atrazine and its main metabolites alter the locomotor activity of larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 148(1): 163-170.

Liu Z, Shangguan Y, Zhu P, Sutan Y, Feng Y, Li X, Ma J. 2022. Developmental toxicity of glyphosate on embryo-larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 236(1): 113493.

Lopes AR, Morales JS, Martins CDMG. 2022. Effects of herbicide glyphosate on fish from embryos to adults: a review addressing behavior patterns and mechanisms behind them. Aquatic Toxicology. 251(1): 106281.

Marlatt VL, Leung TYG, Calbick S, Metcalfe C, Kennedy C. 2019. Sub-lethal effects of a neonicotinoid, clothianidin, on wild early life stage sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). Aquatic Toxicology. 217(1): 105335.

Maylin Sobjak T, Romao S, do Nascimento CZ, Potulski dos Santos AF, Vogel L, Bittencourt Guimaraes AT. 2017. Assessment of the oxidative and neurotoxic effects of glyphosate pesticide on the larvae of Rhamdia quelen fish. Chemosphere. 182(1): 267-275.

Morrissey CA, Mineau P, Devries JH, Sanchez-Bayo, Liess M, Cavallaro MC, Liber K. 2015. Neonicotinoid contamination of global surface waters and associated risk to aquatic invertebrates: a review. Environment International. 74(1): 291-303.

Moschet C, Wittmer I, Simovic J, Junghans M, Piazzoli A, Singer H, Stamm C, Leu C, Hollender J. 2014. How a complete pesticide screening changes the assessment of surface water quality. Environmental Science & Technology. 48(1): 5423-5432.

Muller MD, Poiger T, Hans-Rudolf Buser. 2001. Isolation and identification of the metolachlor stereoisomers using high-performance liquid chromatography, polarimetric measurements, and enantioselective gas chromatography. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 49(1): 42-49.

Naigaga I, Kaiser H, muller WJ, Ojok L, Mbabazi D, Muhumuza E. 2011. Fish as bioindicators in aquatic environmental pollution assessment: A case study in Lake Victoria wetlands, Uganda. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C. 36(14-15): 918-928.

Nauen R, Ebbinghaus-Kintscher U, Salgado VL, Kaussmann M. 2003. Thiamethoxam is a neonicotinoid precursor converted to clothianidin in insects and plants. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology. 76(2): 55-69.

NORMAN EMPODAR Database, 2020. NORMAN EMPODAT Database. Chemical Occurrence Data.

Qian H, Hu H, Mao Y, Ma J, Zhang A, Liu W, Fu Z. 2009. Enantioselective phytotoxicity of the herbicide imazethapyr in rice. Chemosphere. 76(1): 885-892.

Quintaneiro C, Patricio D, Novais SC, Soares AMVM, Monteiro MS. 2017. Endocrine and physiological effects of linuron and S-metolachlor in zebrafish developing embryos. Science of the Total Environment. 586(1): 390-400.

Raymond S, Nugegoda D, Kibria, G. 2006. The effects of pulse exposure of six agricultural chemicals (including four herbicides used by G-MW) on the early life stages of selected native fish from the Goulburn-Murray River regions. Report prepared under a research collaboration agreement between Goulburn- Murray Rural Water Authority, Tatura, Victoria, Australia and RMIT University, Melbourne, Australia. 89p.

Reilly TJ, Smallling KL, Orlando Jl, kuivila KM. 2012. Occurrence of boscalid and other selected fungicides in surface water and groundwater in three targeted use areas in the United States. Chemospere. 89(3): 228-234.

Ritter AM, Shaw JL, Williams WM, Travis KZ. 2009. Characterizing aquatic ecological risks from pesticides using a diquat dibromide case study. I. Probabilistic exposure estimates. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 19(3): 749-759.

Rodrigues ACM, Gravato C, Quintaneiro C, Golovko O, Zlabek V, Barata C, Soares MVM, Pestana JLT. 2015. Life history and biochemical effects of chlorantraniliprole on Chironomus riparius. Science of the Total Environment. 508(1): 506-513.

Rodrigues LDB, Costa GG, Tha EL, da Silva LR, de Oliveira R, Leme DM, Cestari MM, Grisolia CK, Valadares MC, de Oliveira GAR. 2019. Impact of the glyphosate-based commercial herbicide, its components and its metabolite AMPA on non-target aquatic organisms. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis. 842(1): 94-101.

Rose MT, Cavagnaro TR, Scanlan CA, Rose TJ, Vancov T, Kimber S, Kennedy IR, Kookana RS, Van Zwieten L. 2016. Impact of herbicides on soil biology and function. Advances in Agronomy. 136(1): 133-220.

Roy NM, Ochs J, Zambrzycka E, Anderson A. 2016. Glyphosate induces cardiovascular toxicity in Danio rerio. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 46(1): 292-300.

Rozmankova E, Pipal M, Blahova L, Chandran NN, Morin B, Gonzalez P, Blaha L. 2020. Environmentally relevant mixture of S-metolachlor and its two metabolites affects thyroid metabolism in zebrafish embryos. Aquatic Toxicology. 221(1): 105444.

Sandstrom MW, Nowell LH, Mahler BJ, Van Metre. 2022. New-generation pesticides are prevalent in California's Central Coast streams. Science of the Total Environment. 806(4): 150683.

Santos SW, Gonzalez P, Cormier B, Mazzella N, Bonnaud B, Morin S, Clérandeau C, Morin B, Cachot J. 2019. A glyphosate-based herbicide induces sub-lethal effects in early life stages and liver cell line of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquatic Toxicology. 216(1): 105291.

Scheil V and Köhler HR. 2009. Influence of nickel chloride, chlorpyrifos, and imidacloprid in combination with different temperatures on the embryogenesis of the zebrafish Danio rerio. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 56(1): 238-243.

Schmidt-Jeffris RA and Nault BA. 2016. Anthranilic diamide insecticides delivered via multiple approaches to control vegetable pests: A case study in snap bean. Journal of Economic Entomology. 109(6): 2470-2488.

Schweizer M, Brilisauer K, Triebskom R, Forchhammer K, Köhler HR. 2019. How glyphosate and its associated acidity affect early development in zebrafish (Danio rerio). PeerJ. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7094

Shen W, Yang G, Guo Q, Lv L, Liu LL, Wang X, Lou B, Wang Q, Wang Y. 2021. Combined toxicity assessment of myclobutanil and thiamethoxam to zebrafish embryos employing multiendpoints. Environmental Pollution. 269(1): 116116.

Sherrard RM, Murray-Gulde CL, Rodgers JR JH, Shah TY. 2003. Comparative toxicity of chlorothalonil: Ceriodaphnia dubia and Pimephales promelas. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 56(3): 327-333.

Simon-Delso N, Amaral-Rogers V, Belzunces LP, Bonmatin JM, Chagnon M, Downs C, Furlan L, Gibbons DW et al. 2014. Systemic insecticides (neonicotinoids and fipronil): trends, uses, mode of action and metabolites. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 22(1): 5-34.

Smith CM, Vera MKM, Bhandari RK. Developmental and epigenetic effects of roundup and glyphosate exposure on Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). Aquatic Toxicology. 210(1): 215-226.

Solomon KR, Dalhoff K, Volz D, Van Der Kraak G. 2013. 7 – Effects of herbicides on fish. Fish Physiology. 33(1): 369-409.

Spehar RL, Tanner DK, Nordling BR. 1983. Toxicity of the synthetic pyrethroids, permethrin and AC 222, 705 and their accumulation in early life stages of fathead minnows and snails. Aquatic Toxicology. 3(2): 171-182.

Sultana T, Murray C, Kleywegt S, Metcalfe CD. 2018. Neonicotinoid pesticides in drinking water in agricultural regions of southern Ontario, Canada. Chemosphere. 202(1): 506-513.

Sunanda M, Rao CS, Neelima P, Rao KG, Simhachalam G. 2016. Effects of chlorpyrifos (an organophosphate pesticide) in fish. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research. 299-305.

Tapie N and Budzinski H. 2018. REPAR : Quantification de la présence dans les eaux bilan des années 2010 à 2016. Rapport du Réseau Pesticides du Bassin d'Arcachon (REPAR), 27p.

Teather K, Jardine C, Gormley K. 2005. Behavioral and sex ratio modification of Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) in response to environmentally relevant mixtures of three pesticides. Environmental Toxicology. 20(1): 110-117

Tisler T, Jemec A, Mozetic B, Trebse P. 2009. Hazard identification of imidacloprid to aquatic environment. Chemosphere. 76(7): 907-914.

Tu W, Xu C, Jin Y, Lu B, in C, Wu Y, Liu W. 2016. Permethrin is a potential thyroid-disrupting chemical: In vivo and in silico evidence. Aquatic Toxicology. 175(1): 39-46.

Tyor AK and Harkrishan. 2016. Effects of imidacloprid on viability and hatchability of embryos of the common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies. 4(4): 385-389.

Uren Webster TM, Lainbg LV, Florance H, Santos EM. 2014. Effects of glyphosate and its formulation, roundup, on reproduction in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Environmental Science & Technology. 48(2): 1271-1279.

Van Der Kraak GJ, Hosmer AJ, Hanson ML, Kloas W, Solomon KR. 2014. Effects of atrazine in fish, amphibians, and reptiles: An analysis based on quantitative weight of evidence. Critical reviews in Toxicology. 44(sup5): 1-66.

Van Scoy AR and Tjeedema RS. 2014. Environmental Fate and Toxicology of Chlorothalonil. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 232(1): 89-105.

Velisek J, Stara A, Zuskova E. 2016. Effect of single and combination of three triazine metabolites at environmental concentrations on early life stages of common carp (Cyprinus carpio). Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 23(1): 24289-24297.

Victoria S, Duffy S, Harrahy E, King-Heiden T. 2022a. Embryonic exposure to thiamethoxam reduces survival and alters neurobehavior of fathead minnows. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 41(5): 1276-1285.

Victoria S, Hein M, Harrahy E, King-Heiden TC. 2022b. Potency matters: Impacts of embryonic exposure to nAChR agonists thiamethoxam an nicotine on hatching success, growth, and neurobehavior in larval zebrafish. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A. 85(18): 767-782.

Vignet C, Cappello T, Fu Q, Lajoie K, De Marco G, Clérandeau C, Mottaz H, Maisano M, Hollender J, Schirmer K, Cachot J. 2019. Imidacloprid induces adverse effects on fish early life stages that are more severe in Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) than in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 225(1): 470-478.

Vryzas Z, Alexoudis C, Vassilliou G, Galanis K, Papadopoulou-Mourkidou. 2011. Determination and aquatic risk assessment of pesticide residues in riparian drainage canals in northeastern Greece. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 74(2): 174-181.

Walker BS, Kramer AG, Lassiter. 2018. Atrazine affects craniofacial chondrogenesis and axial skeleton mineralization in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Toxicology and Industrial Health. 34(5).

Wang X, Li J, Xing H, Xu S. 2011. Review of toxicology of atrazine and chlorpyrifos on fish. Journal of Northeast Agricultural University. 18(4): 88-92.

Wang Y, Lv L, yu Y, Yang G, Xu Z, Wang Q, Cai L. 2017. Single and joint toxic effects of five selected pesticides on the early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 170(1): 61-67.

Wang XH, Souders CL, Zhao YH, Martyniuk CJ. 2018. Mitochondrial bioenergetics and locomotor activity are altered in zebrafish (Danio rerio) after exposure to the bipyridylium herbicide diquat. Toxicology Letters. 283(1): 13-20.

Wang Y, Li X, Xu C, Yang G, Wang D, Wang X, Wang Q. 2020. Toxicological interactions of cadmium and four pesticides on early life stage of rare minnow (Gobiocypris rarus). Ecotoxicology. 29(1): 1453-1461.

Wiegand C, Pflugmacher S, Giese M, Frank H, Steinberg C. 2000. Uptake, toxicity, and effects on detoxification enzymes of atrazine and trifluoroacetate in embryos of zebrafish. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 45(2): 122-131.

Wirbisky SE, Weber GJ, Sepulveda MS, Lin TL, Jannasch AS, Freeman JL. 2016a. An embryonic atrazine exposure results in reproductive dysfunction in adult zebrafish and morphological alterations in their offspring. Scientific Reports. 6: 21337.

Wirbisky SE, Sepulveda MS, Weber GJ, Jannasch As, Horzmann KA, Freeman JL. 2016bb. Embryonic atrazine exposure elicits alterations in genes associated with neuroendocrine function in adult male zebrafish. Toxicological Sciences. 153(1): 149-164.

Wirbisky SE, Weber GJ, Schlotman KE, Sepulveda MS, Freeman JL. 2016c. Embryonic atrazine exposure alters zebrafish and human miRNAs associated with angiogenesis, cancer, and neurodevelopment. Food and Chemical Toxicology. 98(A): 25-33.

Wirbisky-Hershberger SE, Sanchez OF, Horzmann KA, Thanki D, Yuan C, Freeman JL. 2017. Atrazine exposure decreases the activity of DNMTs, global DNA methylation levels and dnmt expression. Food and Chemical Toxicology. 109(1): 727-734. Wu S, Li X, Liu X, Yang G, An X, Wang Q, Wang Y. 2018. Joint toxic effects of triazophos and imidacloprid on zebrafish (Danio rerio). Environnemental Pollution. 235(1): 470-481.

Xu C, Li X, Jin M, Sun X, Niu L, Lin C, Liu W. 2018. Early life exposure of zebrafish (Danio rerio) to synthetic pyrethroids and their metabolites: a comparison of phenotypic and behavioral indicators and gene expression involved in the HPT axis and innate immune system. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 25(1): 12992-13003.

Yang Y, Ma H, Zhou J, Liu j, Liu W. 2014. Joint toxicity of permethrin and cypermethrin at sublethal concentrations to the embryo-larval zebrafish. Chemosphere, 96(1): 146-154.

Yang L, Ivantsova E, Souders II CL, Martyniuk J. 2021a. The agrochemical S-metolachlor disrupts molecular mediators and morphology of the swim bladder: Implications for locomotor activity in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 208(1): 111641.

Yang G, Lv L, Di S, Li X, Weng H, Wang X, Wang Y. 2021b. Combined toxic impacts of thiamethoxam and four pesticides on the rare minnow (Gobiocypris rarus). Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 28(1): 5407-5416.

Yang G, Wang Y, Li j, Wang D, Bao Z, Wang Q, Jin Y. 2021c. Health risks of chlorothalonil, carbendazim, prochloraz, their binary and ternary mixtures on embryonic and larval zebrafish based on metabolomics analysis. Journal of Hazardous Materials. 404(B): 124240.

Yi X, Wei Y, Zhai W, Wang P, Liu D, Zhou Z. 2022. Effects of three surfactants on the degradation and environmental risk of metolachlor in aquatic environment. Chemosphere. 300(1): 134295.

Yusof S, Ismail A, Alias MS. 2014. Effect of glyphosate-based herbicide on early life stages of Java medaka (Oryzias javanicus): A potential tropical test fish. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 85(2): 494-498.

Zabbey N, Iheakumere R, Nwipie GN. 2014. Preliminary investigation of permethrin toxicity to fry of African mud catfish, Clarias gariepinus (Burchell, 1822). American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural & Environmental Sciences. 14(7): 600-604.

Zemolin CR, Avila LA, Cassol GV, Massew JH, Camargo ER. 2014. Environmental fate of S-Metolachlor – a review. Planta Daninha. 32(1): 655-664.

Zhang Q, Ji C, Yan L, Lu M, Lu C, Zhao M. 2016. The identification of the metabolites of chlorothalonil in zebrafish (Danio rerio) and their embryo toxicity and endocrine effects at environmentally relevant levels. Environmental Pollution. 218(1): 8-15.

Zhang Q, Zhang y, Du J, Zhao M. 2017. Environmentally relevant levels of λ -cyhalothrin fenvalerate, and permethrin cause developmental toxicity and disrupt endocrine system in zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryo. Chemosphere. 185(1): 1173-1180.

Zhang JG, Ma DD, Xiong Q, Qiu SQ, Huang GY, Shi WJ, Ying GG. 2021. Imidacloprid and thiamethoxam affect synaptic transmission in zebrafish. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 227(1): 112917.

Preface to Chapter 3

From the literature review, it was clear that there are still many unknowns about pesticide toxicity to fish ELS. Most of the studies published have focused on laboratory fish species and limited information is available for wild species. There is very limited direct evidence of effects at environmental levels of pesticides on ELS fish and endangered species are likely the most affected.

For the next chapter, I had the opportunity to work with the copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*), an endangered fish that spawns only in the Richelieu River. The main activity in the Richelieu watershed is agriculture, hence the hypothesis that pesticide contamination may have an impact on the recovery of the copper redhorse. To test this hypothesis, I have looked at the effects of the Richelieu River on the ELS of the threatened river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*) and the endangered copper redhorse. Since the only spawning grounds of the copper redhorse are in the Richelieu, any effect on their ELS could have population level effects. We also assessed the effects of river water on river redhorse, which share the same genus and much of the copper redhorse biology and spawning grounds, but is currently faring better. This was the first step to understanding the effects of early life exposure to environmental pesticides in wild fish.

Chapter 3

3. Exposure to Contaminated River Water is Associated with Early Hatching and Dysregulation of Gene Expression in Early Life Stages of the Endangered Copper Redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi)

3.1 Title page

Title of the manuscript

Exposure to contaminated river water is associated with early hatching and dysregulation of gene expression in early life stages of the endangered copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*)

Authors:

Marchand H¹, Barst BD², Boulanger E¹, Vachon N³, Houde M⁴, Xia J¹, Liu P¹, Ewald JD¹, Bayen S¹, Liu L¹, Head JA^{*1}.

Affiliations:

1: Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, McGill University, Ste. Anne-de-Bellevue, QC, H9X 3V9, Canada

2: Water and Environmental Research Center, University of Alaska Fairbanks, Fairbanks, AK 99775, USA

3: Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec, Longueuil, QC, J4K 2T5, Canada

4: Aquatic Contaminants Research Division, Environment and Climate Change Canada, Montreal, QC, H2L 2Y5, Canada

*corresponding author: jessica.head@mcgill.ca

Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by Fisheries and Oceans Canada National Contaminants Advisory Group (DFO-NCAG). We are grateful for the help of Jenny Eng (McGill), Krittika Mittal (McGill), Nil

Basu (McGill), Mélisssa Lamoureux (MFFP), Sylvain Desloges (MFFP), Marc-Antoine Couillard (MFFP), Ève Surprenant-Desjardins (MFFP), Francis Cloutier (MFFP), Laurie Mercier (ECCC) and all other ECCC and MFFP staff that helped in the field. We thank Jean-François Roy (Agilent Technologies) for providing the CS-C18 column.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

3.2 List of Figures

Figure 3: Daily pesticide concentrations measured in laboratory water (green) and river water (orange) aquariums and in the Richelieu River itself (yellow). Precipitation during sample collection is also presented. Water samples from the replicate laboratory and river aquariums were pooled before analysis. Richelieu River samples were collected near the pump intake feeding the aquariums. Two additional chemicals, chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid, were also targeted but were not detected in any water samples. Note that aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is a degradation product of glyphosate and that thiamethoxam is the precursor of clothianidin. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life are shown as solid red lines only for compounds in exceedance of the threshold (C, G). Thresholds for other compounds not shown on graphs are (A) AMPA, not available; (B) atrazine, 1800 ng/L; (D) glyphosate, 65,000 ng/L; (E) imazethapyr, 8100 ng/L; (F) metolachlor, 7800 ng/L.

Figure 4: Previously reported gene interactions between differentially expressed genes in copper redhorse and chemicals detected in the present study. Interactions were identified from the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database. Detected chemicals include compounds that were quantified in the Richelieu River by targeted analysis (marked with asterisk) and tentatively identified with nontargeted analysis. Interactions marked in pink have not been reported or are not included in the database. Interactions marked in green were reported in the same direction (up- or down- regulated) as the changes observed in the copper redhorse. Interactions marked in orange either involve simultaneous exposure to multiple chemicals or involve changes in the

Figure 8: Water parameters, A) temperature, B) dissolved oxygen, C) pH, D) conductivity and E) turbidity, during the river and copper redhorse riverside exposure in June 2018. Parameters are reported as the average value measured in 3 laboratory water aquariums (control) (green solid line), 3 river water aquariums (red solid line) and in the Richelieu River itself (yellow dashed line). Error bars represent standard deviations amongst aquariums. For river water, a single value was taken each day. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (QC), about 21 km away, by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (https://climate.weather.gc.ca).

Figure 9: A includes the HPLC peak and MS/MS fragmentation information for the molecular feature m/z 229.0859 at 7.0 min and oxybenzone standard; B includes the HPLC peak and MS/MS fragmentation information for the molecular feature m/z 215.0963 at 6.2 min and metribuzin standard. 108

3.3 List of Tables

Table 2. Targeted LC/MS method detection limits, method quantification limits, instrument detection limits, relative recoveries, and matrix effects and precision of chemicals analyzed. . **111**

Table 3. Summary table of means and ranges of the pesticide concentrations detected in the laboratory water aquariums, river water aquariums and the Richelieu River itself in June 2018. Chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid were also targeted but were not detected in any samples.

 112

Table 4. Summary table of the deformities observed in river and copper redhorse larvae exposedto either river water or laboratory water matching river water physio-chemical parameters. Eachtreatment started with 495 larvae per species.112

Table 6. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) for differentially expressed Kyoto Encyclopediaof Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthologues (KOs) from copper redhorse exposed to river water.Genes with positive enrichment score were over expressed and gene with negative enrichmentscore (grey shading) were under expressed.114

3.4 Abstract

The copper redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi) is an endangered fish that spawns exclusively in the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada). Tributaries of the Richelieu are contaminated with high levels of current-use pesticides, which may impact early-life stage (ELS) copper redhorse and other native fishes. We assessed the effects of exposure to contaminated river water on ELS copper redhorse and river redhorse (Moxostoma carinatum), a related fish that shares the copper redhorse's spawning grounds and nursery habitat. A riverside flow-through system was used to expose copper and river redhorse embryos (1000 each) to Richelieu River water or laboratory water as a control. Fish were maintained until 14 days post-hatch, and water samples were taken daily for chemical analysis. Following a heavy rain event, concentrations of two neonicotinoid pesticides, clothianidin and thiamethoxam, exceeded water quality guidelines for aquatic life (20 ng/L). Using nontargeted screening, we tentatively identified an additional 24 pharmaceutical and personal care products and 23 pesticides in river water. Effects of river water on ELS fish were observed in both species, but the copper redhorse appeared to be more sensitive. Fish exposed to river water hatched 10.7 (copper redhorse) and 2.4 (river redhorse) cumulative degree days earlier than controls. Copper redhorse survival was significantly lower in river water $(73 \pm 16\%)$ compared to laboratory water $(93 \pm 3\%)$, whereas river redhorse survival was similar between treatments $(84 \pm 6\% \text{ and } 89)$ \pm 4%, respectively). Sequencing of copper redhorse larvae RNA revealed 18 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) following 14 days of exposure to river water. Eight up-regulated DEGs were linked to immune function and injury response, and seven down-regulated DEGs were involved with digestion and nutrient absorption. The present study provided valuable data on the effects of ELS exposure to a real-world mixture of contaminants in two fish species of concern.

3.5 Introduction

Fishes worldwide spawn in rivers and streams that are polluted with complex mixtures of environmental contaminants including pesticides. In agricultural regions, pesticide concentrations in rivers and tributaries often peak in spring and early summer, a favored time for many fish species to spawn. Embryos and larvae developing under these conditions are at risk of being negatively impacted, with potential repercussions on fish population health and even conservation status. Contamination of spawning grounds may be of particular concern because early–life stage (ELS)
organisms are often more sensitive to contaminants than adults of the same species (Mohammed 2013).

Previous research has demonstrated that pesticides can be detrimental to ELS fish (Ullah et al. 2014). Laboratory studies have revealed effects of pesticides on a wide variety of endpoints including hatching success and timing (Du Gas et al. 2017; Fiorino et al. 2018), juvenile survival (Vignet et al. 2019), incidence of deformities (Sulukan et al. 2017), the immune system (Hong et al., 2018), and oxidative stress (Richterova et al. 2015). All of these studies focused on a single chemical, while natural waters can contain mixtures of thousands of chemicals which vary according to factors such as precipitation and season. Few studies have evaluated the effects of realistic environmental mixtures (Perez et al., 2013; Wang et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2017), and even fewer have assessed effects of these mixtures on ELS fish (Bony et al. 2008; Marlatt et al. 2016).

Collectively this body of work suggests that negative impacts of pesticides on ELS fish can be observed at environmental concentrations. However, more studies are necessary to better understand the effects of real-world exposure to complex mixtures of pesticides in wild fish (Simonnet-Laprade et al. 2021).

The present study focuses on copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*), an endangered species of fish that is endemic to Quebec and is only known to spawn at two sites in the Richelieu River, a waterway that runs from Lake Champlain (USA) to the St. Lawrence River (Canada). In response to declining numbers of copper redhorse, the Quebec government's Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs (MFFP) began an artificial breeding and monitoring program in 2004. Data from these efforts indicate that the copper redhorse population is shifting toward a higher weight distribution, which is a sign of population aging (Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) 2014). In fact, the number of 2- to 10-year-old subadults has been scarce over the past 30 years, but some capture of subadults and very young adults has occurred more frequently since 2016 (COSEWIC 2014; Vachon 2021a, 2021b). A closely related species that also spawns in the Richelieu River, the river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*), shares the same habitat and spawning ground preferences as copper redhorse; but it is distributed more widely, with populations in Ontario and the United States (COSEWIC 2004). In contrast to the endangered status of the copper redhorse, the river redhorse is listed as a species of special concern (COSEWIC

2015). River redhorse spawn early to mid-June and copper redhorse, mid- to late June. Both species have unique and important ecological functions because they are some of the few freshwater fishes which feed extensively on mollusks (COSEWIC 2014, 2015).

The Richelieu watershed is extensively used for agricultural and urban land uses, and pesticides and other emerging contaminants have been frequently detected in the Richelieu River and its tributaries (Giroux 2015, 2019; Montiel-León et al. 2019). Corn and soy are the main crops cultivated in the Richelieu watershed (Comité de Concertation et de la Valorisation du Bassin de la Rivière Richelieu, 2015). Pesticides commonly used for these types of cultures (broad-spectrum herbicides and neonicotinoid insecticides) are among those with the highest detection levels and frequency in the Richelieu River tributaries which are fed by agricultural drainage (Giroux, 2015, 2019). Application of these pesticides often starts in May, and heavy rain in June mobilizes pesticides from fields to waters in the Richelieu region (Giroux 2019). Other compounds such as pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), which lack established toxicity threshold values, have also been detected in surface water of the Richelieu River (Berryman et al. 2015) and overflowing of municipal wastewater-treatment plants into the river (Cliché & Saladzius 2018).

Recent water quality data demonstrated that the peak time for leaching from agricultural pesticide application coincides with the river and copper redhorse spawning period (COSEWIC 2014; Giroux 2015). Previous analyses indicated that concentrations of the chemicals atrazine, glyphosate, and neonicotinoids exceed the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (2011) water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life in the Huron and Acadie rivers, two tributaries that join the Richelieu River near the spawning grounds. Although the presence of contaminants in these tributaries may have implications for copper redhorse spawning and early development stage, contaminants have not been measured specifically in the Richelieu River. A previous study focused on adult copper redhorse found that levels of legacy contaminants (such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)) in a variety of tissues were below safety thresholds (De Lafontaine et al. 2002), but the potential impact of pesticides and other contaminants on ELS river and copper redhorses has yet to be studied.

Understanding the effects of pesticide mixtures is especially important for endangered species, which may be among the most affected but the least studied.

The reasons for the poor natural recruitment of copper redhorse are not well understood, but contamination of spawning grounds may be a contributing factor. To investigate this possibility, we conducted a riverside flow-through exposure, using Richelieu River water to assess the potential effects of pesticides and other contaminants on ELS copper redhorse. To broaden the scope of this research and to evaluate whether copper redhorse and the closely related river redhorse had differing contaminant sensitivities, we also exposed river redhorse in the same manner. Both redhorse species were exposed as newly fertilized embryos and maintained in the test system through hatching and the early larval stage. We used a combination of targeted and nontargeted chemical analyses to determine contaminant concentrations in river water. We assessed survival and sublethal endpoints, including timing of hatching, incidence of deformities for both redhorse species, and gene transcription in the hatched copper redhorse larvae using RNA sequencing. The data will improve our understanding of the potential impacts of exposure to environmentally relevant mixtures of contaminants in ELS fish and will contribute to a clearer picture of challenges to the recovery of the endangered copper redhorse.

3.6 Materials and Methods

Study site

Sixty-four municipalities border the Richelieu River, and 70% of its watershed is dedicated to agriculture (Simoneau & Thibault 2009). Although adult copper redhorse use various rivers in the St. Lawrence system, the only two known active spawning sites are in the Richelieu River within the 70-km section upstream of the St. Lawrence (**Figure 1**). One site is located in the Chambly rapids, and the other site is below the Saint-Ours dam. Both sites match the preferred characteristics for copper and river redhorse spawning: a coarse substrate consisting of medium pebbles in agitated water (COSEWIC 2004, 2014). The present experiment was conducted at the MFFP riverside seasonal research station used for artificial breeding activities located beside the river and the copper redhorse spawning site at the Saint-Ours dam.

Source of fish

All work with animals was approved under animal use protocols from MFFP (CPA-FAUNE 18-11) and McGill University (2018-7992). Research and collection permits were obtained from Parks Canada (CSO-2018-28364), Fisheries and Oceans Canada (SARA; MPO-LEP-QC-18-005), and MFFP (SEG; 2018- 04-03-2367-16-S-P). The MFFP artificial breeding program provided newly fertilized embryos for both river and copper redhorse. Wild parent fish were caught during their respective spawning season at the Vianney-Legendre fishway, a fish ladder located beside the Saint-Ours dam. Adult fish were kept in 2500-gallon basins in the MFFP riverside facility and released after spawning. Fish selected for breeding were declared matured and healthy following a visual inspection. Sexual readiness and final maturation were assessed and achieved using hormone injections. All males and females used in the present experiment were induced with an ovulating/spermiating agent (0.5 ml/kg; OvaprimTM; Syndel) and treated with an antibiotic (0.125 ml/kg; LiquamycinTM; Zoetis) according to the method described by Vachon et al. (2019). Eggs and milt were hand- stripped from individual fish. Milt was stored in Hanks' balanced salt solution with N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2- ethane-sulfonic acid buffer in a refrigerator. Before proceeding with fertilization, milt was assessed under a microscope for two measures of quality: percentage and duration of motility (Vachon et al., 2019). Milt was mixed with the oocytes and activated using 50%-100% of the oocytes' volume of room-temperature ActiFish solution (Syndel), prepared with one volume of Actifish for 29 volumes of reverse-osmosis water. For each species, approximately 40,000 eggs were harvested, of which 1000 were randomly selected for the experiment. The eggs of a single female were fertilized with the milt of a single male in a 500-ml container filled with reconstituted hard water (ultrapure water supplemented with sodium bicarbonate [96 mg/L], magnesium sulfate [60 mg/L], calcium chloride [39 mg/L], and potassium chloride [4 mg/L]; modified US Environmental Protection Agency [USEPA, 2002], hereinafter referred to as "laboratory water"). The remaining eggs, which were not used in the present study, were fertilized by milt from multiple males and sent to Baldwin-Coaticook government fish farm as part of the artificial breeding program. Freshly fertilized eggs were divided into two groups for each species and placed in 20-L containers filled with 10 L of laboratory water. Embryos were gently and continuously hand-mixed for the first 15 min post-fertilization and then once every 1015min (to prevent aggregation) for 2 h until the eggs expanded and the membranes hardened. River redhorse embryos were obtained on June 9, 2018, from a female captured on June 4, 2018, and a male captured on June 7, 2018. Copper redhorse embryos were obtained on June 15, 2018, from a female captured on June 10, 2018, and a male captured on June 6, 2018.



Figure 1: Map of the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada) indicating the locations of the copper redhorse spawning grounds at Chambly and Saint- Ours. (A) The Richelieu River is located in southeastern Canada. (B) The Richelieu River is east of Montreal and flows from Lake Champlain to the St. Lawrence River. (C) Copper and river redhorse spawn in the rapids downstream of the Saint-Ours dam (marked with red "x"). The Vianney Legendre Fishway allows the fish to travel upstream of the Saint-Ours dam. The Quebec government's Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs operates a field laboratory near the fishway to conduct an artificial breeding program. This was the site for the riverside exposures. (D) Copper redhorse also spawn in the Chambly rapids within the Chambly basin (marked with red "x"). Many agricultural tributaries, including the L'Acadie and Huron rivers, join the Richelieu in between the two spawning grounds.

Experimental design and maintenance

River and copper redhorse embryos were divided equally into a control group ("laboratory water") and an exposed group ("river water"; Figure 2). For each treatment group, embryos were housed in nine replicate tumblers (Cobalt Aquatics) containing 55 embryos each. The tumblers were placed into three separate 38-L glass aquariums with three tumblers per species per aquarium. The river water group received a continuous flow of water from the river, while the laboratory water group received water that matched river water parameters for temperature, pH, conductivity, and hardness. Water from the river was pumped through the aquariums using a thrash pump (Multiquip ST2040T) through polyethylene and polymerized vinyl chloride piping. A plastic decantation basin limited sediment and debris that entered the pump from reaching the aquariums. The egg tumblers were equipped with a coarse sponge at the intake to prevent sediment from reaching the embryos and impeding the embryos' rocking motion. The large pore size of the sponge, which was needed in order to allow water to move through easily, suggests that it would not be expected to remove bioavailable contaminants from the river water. Given that the experiment was performed next to the river rather than in a laboratory facility, it was not possible to maintain flow-through conditions for the control group. Laboratory water for the control groups was therefore static with partial renewal every second day. River water flowed through an external aquarium to maintain the control group at river temperature (Figure 2).

Sponges from the egg tumblers in the river water group were cleaned daily in river water to prevent sediment from impeding the flow of water to the embryos. Every other day, the thin film of accumulated sediment was syphoned out of the bottom of the aquariums, and a third of the water from the laboratory water group was replaced with new laboratory water. Evaporated water from the laboratory water group was replaced daily. Water quality (pH, dissolved oxygen, temperature, conductivity, turbidity) was also measured daily in the aquariums and directly in the river, using a YSI probe.



Figure 2: Experimental setup used to determine the effects of exposure to contaminated river water on early life stage copper and river redhorse. The experiment consisted of two groups: (A) the river water group, in which embryos were incubated in constantly flowing river water, and (B) the laboratory water group, in which embryos were incubated in static laboratory water with daily renewal. To maintain the same water temperature for both treatments, the laboratory water aquarium was placed inside a larger aquarium containing constantly flowing river water. Each treatment group consisted of three aquariums, each containing six egg tumblers (three for river redhorse and three for copper redhorse). Each tumbler was loaded with 55 eggs. Exposures lasted for 14 days post-fertilization. The river redhorse exposure started 6 days earlier than that for copper redhorse, to match natural spawning times in the Richelieu River.

Pesticide analysis

Water samples were collected from laboratory and river water aquariums daily over 19 days. Samples from replicate tanks were pooled each day. Water was also collected daily directly from the Richelieu River at Saint-Ours. All samples were frozen at -20° C until analysis. The samples were analyzed using targeted liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC-MS) to quantify nine pesticides (aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA), atrazine, clothianidin, chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imazethapyr, imidacloprid, metolachlor, thiamethoxam). Details of standard solution preparation, sample preparation, and instrumental methods are given in the Supporting Information. Briefly, water samples were prepared by spiking a 10-µl internal standard mixture

and 100 µl methanol into 890 µl of river water, followed by filtration with a 0.22-µm polytetrafluoroethylene syringe filter (Canadian Life Science) before introduction into the LC-MS. Mass-labeled standards at constant concentration were used as internal standards to compensate for any systematic errors due to native compounds (as recommended in USEPA methods (e.g., USEPA, Method 1694, 2007)). Data were collected with an Agilent 1290 Infinity II LC system coupled to the 6545 quadrupole-time of flight-mass spectrometry (Q-TOF-MS; Agilent Technologies). The LC separation was performed on a CS-C18 column (2.1 μ m × 150 mm; Agilent Technologies). Method performances were assessed in terms of linearity of the calibration response, method detection limits, method quantification limits, precision, relative recoveries, and matrix effects (Supporting Information, **Table 2**). The LC-Q-TOF-MS data obtained from targeted analysis were further screened for the presence of other contaminants in river water (suspect screening). Pooled samples from the river water aquariums and the river itself were compared to two control samples from the laboratory water aquarium. The samples from both river water aquariums and the river itself were collected on June 19, 2018, when contamination was expected to be maximal because of the heavy rain event on the previous day. The laboratory water samples used for comparison were from June 16 and June 19, 2018. Two controls were included to account for potential variation in the laboratory water tanks due to precipitation; however, no differences were observed. Suspect screening was performed using the software MassHunter Profinder B.10.00 from Agilent Technologies, where molecular features were aligned and extracted. These features were then statistically analyzed in Mass Profiler Professional by applying a fold change ≥2, followed by screening against the Environmental Water screening PCDL (Personal Compound Database and Library) and Pesticide PCDL. Molecular features were tentatively identified by comparing all ions and targeted MS/MS fragmentation with the MS/MS spectral library. For tentatively identified compounds, authentic analytical standards were used to confirm their identification.

Hatching, deformities, and survival

Fish embryos of each species were maintained in either laboratory water or river water, until 14 days post-fertilization (dpf). Timing of embryo hatching, incidence of deformities in embryos or larvae, and survival were assessed at the same time each day. Embryos were considered hatched when the larval body was fully extended and completely free of the egg membrane.

Embryo and larval size, shape, and developmental stage were observed. In larvae, deformities such as edema, craniofacial malformation, spinal curvature (lordosis and kyphosis), and yolk sac malformation were recorded as presence or absence. Photographs of deformed embryos were taken daily (Supporting Information, **Figure 7**).

Dead embryos and larvae were removed from tumblers as soon as they were noticed to reduce the risk of fungal spread. Embryos and larvae that were discolored or coagulated, showed shell damage, or were not showing movement and/or heartbeat were considered dead. A tally of surviving embryos was performed once daily, at the same time each day. Percentage of survival was calculated as the daily total number of live embryos and larvae over the initial number of embryos.

For each species, the experiment was terminated at 14 dpf, just before the complete resorption of the yolk sac. This corresponded to June 23, 2018, for the river redhorse and June 29, 2018, for the copper redhorse. Surviving larvae were pooled in groups of five in 2-ml cryotubes and euthanized by flash-freezing. Larvae were stored at -80 °C prior to RNA extraction.

RNA extraction and RNA sequencing

Sequencing of RNA was performed on the copper redhorse larvae only. Larval tissue from 18 (n=9/treatment) copper redhorse larvae pools (n = 5 larvae/pool) were homogenized in Buffer RLT using TissuLyser II (Qiagen). The RNA was extracted using a RNeasy Mini QIAcube kit according to the manufacturer's instructions, including an optional deoxyribonuclease I on-column digestion step (Qiagen). Extracted RNA was sent to the Genome Quebec Innovation Centre (Montreal, QC, Canada) for quality control screening, library preparation, and RNA sequencing (RNAseq), which included abundant transcript removal, fragmentation, reverse transcription, second-strand complementary DNA synthesis, end repair, dA-tailing, and adaptor ligation. Libraries were sequenced to produce paired- end 101 bp reads using Illumina HiSeq. 4000 (PE 100; 30M reads).

RNAseq data quantification using Seq. 2Fun

An all-in-one and ultrafast tool for RNAseq data analysis for organisms without reference genomes, such as many endangered species is Seq. 2Fun (Liu et al. 2021). Raw FASTQ read files

were submitted to Seq. 2Fun (Ver 1.0.0) Greedy mode with default parameters to conduct Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthologues (KOs) abundance quantification. The Animal protein database, consisting of 2,446,258 protein sequences and 12,984 KOs (of which 783,801 proteins and 10,510 KOs were from 39 fish species), was used. The KO abundance table from Seq. 2Fun was uploaded to NetworkAnalyst (Zhou et al. 2019; www.networkanalyst.ca) for differential expression analysis, overrepresentation analysis, and gene set enrichment analysis. The KOs were associated to gene names using the KEGG Orthology database (Mao et al. 2005). Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between laboratory and river water groups were identified using the combination of fold-change (abs(log2FC) > 1) and adjusted p value (false discovery rate (FDR) < 0.05 based on edgeR (Ver 3.30.3; Robinson et al. 2010). Overrepresentation analysis was performed on the list of DEGs, and gene set enrichment analysis was performed on all genes ranked by absolute log2FC, both with the KEGG pathway library. In both cases, significant pathways were identified based on an adjusted p value (FDR) <0.05. To associate DEGs and detected chemicals (tentatively identified and targeted), we referred to previously reported interactions from the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database (Davis et al. 2021; www.ctdbase.org).

Data analysis

Daily percentage hatching was calculated as a proportion of the total number of living embryos (hatched larvae/all alive) per day and per tumbler. Mean incidence of deformities and mean survival were calculated as a percentage of the initial number of embryos that were placed in each tumbler. All data residuals were tested for normality. Multivariate analysis of variance and a Bonferroni post hoc test were performed for daily percentage hatching, incidence of deformities, and survival between aquariums, species, and treatments using JMP statistical visualization software (SAS Institute). An $\alpha < 0.05$ was considered significant. Daily percentage hatching data were fitted to a sigmoidal four-parameter logistic regression, and the 50% hatch time was calculated using Prism 9 (GraphPad) in both days post-fertilization and cumulative degree days. The 50% hatch time values were compared using 95% confidence interval overlap.

Because previous data (Giroux 2015) demonstrated a correlation between heavy precipitation and high pesticide measurements in river water, hatching, survival, and contaminant concentrations

were visualized in relation to precipitation data obtained from the Government of Canada website (https://climate.weather.gc.ca) from the l'Assomption (QC, Canada) station, which is the closest (~21 km away) to our exposure site.

3.7 Results

Water physicochemical parameters

Water parameters in laboratory and river water aquariums and in the river itself were similar with respect to temperature, dissolved oxygen, and pH (Supporting Information, **Figure 8A–C**). As a result of human error, conductivity was approximately 100 μ S/cm higher in the laboratory water group than in the river water group throughout the experiment (see Supporting Information for more information). Turbidity was negligible in the laboratory water aquariums throughout the experiment (0–1 formazin nephelometric units (FNU)) and was higher and more variable in the river water **8E**).

Analytical determination of pesticides in river water

Targeted analysis. Seven of the nine targeted pesticides were detected in the samples from the river water aquariums and the river itself (**Figure 3**). Imidacloprid and chlorantraniliprole were not detected in any samples. Levels of detected pesticides were consistently higher in the river water than in the laboratory water, particularly following the precipitation event on June 18 (**Figure 3**). Five pesticides—AMPA (glyphosate breakdown product), atrazine, glyphosate, metolachlor, and thiamethoxam (precursor of clothianidin)—were detected in the laboratory water aquariums. A background level of atrazine and metolachlor was present in all samples, while glyphosate and thiamethoxam were detected only once and AMPA thrice. The highest values detected in the laboratory water were 1441 ng/L AMPA (June 11), 57 ng/L atrazine (June 10), 156 ng/L glyphosate (June 24), 28 ng/L metolachlor (June 26), and 6 ng/L thiamethoxam (June 17; Supporting Information, **Table 3**). Background levels of atrazine and metolachlor were sample at 3 and 6ng/L, respectively, and in all river water samples. These chemicals are routinely detected in Montreal's tap water (Montiel-León et al. 2019) from which the ultrapure water was made.

In river water aquariums, all of the compounds but glyphosate and AMPA peaked on June 19 following the June 18 heavy rain event (~30 mm) and then declined back to background levels over the next few days (**Figure 4**). Peak concentrations for the detected pesticides on June 19 in the river water aquariums were 1451 ng/L AMPA, 298 ng/L atrazine, 89 ng/L clothianidin, 244 ng/L imazethapyr, 1752 ng/L metolachlor, and 32 ng/L thiamethoxam. Temporal trends and absolute concentrations of targeted pesticides measured in the river water aquariums were generally well matched to levels measured in the Richelieu River at Saint-Ours (near the pump location; **Figure 3**). Some exceptions to this relationship were observed for clothianidin. On June 21 and June 22, clothianidin was detected in the river water aquarium at levels close to the method quantification limit (20 ng/L) but not in the river itself. In addition, glyphosate peaks in the river water aquariums did not correspond to the peaks from the river itself (**Figure 3**).

Nontargeted analysis. Suspect screening was performed on data from Richelieu River water samples collected at Saint-Ours on June 19 after heavy rain events and the control water. A total of 451 molecular features with abundance level at least two times higher in river water than in control water were extracted and screened against the Environmental Water screening PCDL and the Pesticide PCDL libraries. Suspected compounds from this initial screening included 24 PPCPs and 23 pesticides (**Figure 4**). For name-assigned molecular features with an MS/MS spectral library available, two suspected compounds with mass-to-charge ratios of 215.0963 and 229.0859 were tentatively identified as the pesticide metribuzin and the sunscreen additive oxybenzone, respectively, based on their multiple targeted MS/MS fragment ions well matched with those of the two compounds in PCDL library (Supporting Information, **Figure 9**). The correct identification of these two suspected compounds was further fully confirmed using the pure analytical standards based on matching retention times and fragment ions (Supporting Information, **Figure 9**). Three of the targeted pesticides (imazethapyr, metolachlor, and thiamethoxam) were also detected using suspect screening; for the other six targeted analytes, peak intensities were below the peak abundance threshold.



Figure 3: Daily pesticide concentrations measured in laboratory water (green) and river water (orange) aquariums and in the Richelieu River itself (yellow). Precipitation during sample collection is also presented. Water samples from the replicate laboratory and river aquariums were pooled before analysis. Richelieu River samples were collected near the pump intake feeding the aquariums. Two additional chemicals, chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid, were also targeted but were not detected in any water samples. Note that aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is a degradation product of glyphosate and that thiamethoxam is the precursor of clothianidin. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life are shown as solid red lines only for compounds in exceedance of the threshold (C, G). Thresholds for other compounds not shown on graphs are (A) AMPA, not available; (B) atrazine, 1800 ng/L; (D) glyphosate, 65,000 ng/L; (E) imazethapyr, 8100 ng/L; (F) metolachlor, 7800 ng/L.



Figure 4: Previously reported gene interactions between differentially expressed genes in copper redhorse and chemicals detected in the present study. Interactions were identified from the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database. Detected chemicals include compounds that were quantified in the Richelieu River by targeted analysis (marked with asterisk) and tentatively identified with nontargeted analysis. Interactions marked in pink have not been reported or are not included in the database. Interactions marked in green were reported in the same direction (up- or down- regulated) as the changes observed in the copper redhorse. Interactions marked in orange either involve simultaneous exposure to multiple chemicals or involve changes in the opposite (or unknown) direction of those observed in the copper redhorse. The atrazine degradation product atrazine-desisopropyl and the pesticide esprocarb were detected in the river water but absent from the database. Genes in black were upregulated, while genes in red were down-regulated in copper redhorse. See Supporting Information, **Table 4** for the complete name of genes. AMPA = aminomethylphosphonic acid.

Survival

Overall survival for embryos of both species was high (>79%) throughout the experiment except for one of the nine river redhorse tumblers from the laboratory water group that malfunctioned, between days 11 and 12, trapping and killing larvae in the metal mesh blocking the exit. After that time point, data from this tumbler were excluded from the analysis. At 14 dpf, river redhorse survival was 89.0% (\pm 4.5%) for the laboratory and 84.0% (\pm 5.7%) for the river water group. No significant differences in survival between treatments were observed at any time point (**Figure 5**). For copper redhorse, survival was similar in the two treatment groups through the first 13 dpf. However, survival at 14 dpf was significantly higher in the laboratory water group (93.3%; \pm 3.1%) than in the river water group (79.2%; \pm 15.6%). The large standard deviation in the river water group at 14 dpf was driven by three tumblers (out of nine), one per aquarium with varying positions, which averaged 61.2% survival (Supporting Information, **Figure 10**). In the other six tumblers, survival was more comparable between treatments (88.2% vs. 93.3%). No significant batch effect from aquariums was detected. When comparing the laboratory water groups, there was a statistically significant difference in survival between the two species, with copper redhorse exhibiting higher survival than river redhorse at 14 dpf (p = 0.023; **Table 1**).

Timing of hatching

River redhorse in both treatments began hatching at 6 dpf, and hatching was complete at 9 dpf (**Figure 6A**). At 7 dpf, the percentage of hatched embryos was significantly higher in the river water group than in the laboratory water group. In the copper redhorse exposed to river water, hatching was first observed at 5 dpf, 24 h before it was observed in the laboratory water group. For both treatments, all embryos were hatched by 8 dpf. There was a significant difference in hatching between the laboratory and river water groups at 5, 6, and 7 dpf.

Hatching data were also expressed in terms of cumulative degree days, and fitted curves were used to determine the 50% hatch time (**Figure 6B**). For river redhorse, the time to 50% hatch was 2.4 cumulative degree days earlier for the river water group than for the laboratory group (**Table 1**). For copper redhorse, the time to 50% hatch was 10.7 cumulative degree days earlier for the river

water group than the laboratory water group. For both species, the difference in the 50% hatching time was statistically significant between the laboratory and river water groups.



Figure 5: Effect of exposure to Richelieu River water on survival of copper redhorse and river redhorse embryos and larvae over the 14-day exposure period. Data are expressed as the percentage of live individuals over total embryos. Each data point represents the average of nine egg tumblers, and error bars represent standard error. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk (p < 0.05). Dual asterisks mark the days during which the embryos were hatching. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (Quebec, Canada) by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (https://climate.weather.gc.ca). Given the strong relationship between precipitation and pesticide concentrations in the water column (Figure 4), these data may be used as surrogate data for the total pesticide concentration over time. See Supporting Information, Figure S2, for the individual copper redhorse incubator data from day 14 post-fertilization. RR = river redhorse; CR = copper redhorse; Lab = laboratory.

Deformities

The frequency of deformities was $4.0 \pm 2.2\%$ and $2.8 \pm 2.6\%$ in the laboratory and river water groups, respectively, for river redhorse and $9.3 \pm 5.6\%$ and $12.1 \pm 3.7\%$ for the laboratory and river water groups, respectively, for copper redhorse (**Table 1**). There was no statistically significant difference in deformity rates between laboratory and river water groups for either species. However, independent of treatment, river redhorse had a significantly lower incidence of deformities than copper redhorse. The most prevalent deformities were spinal curvature (kyphosis/lordosis), which represented 79.4% of the river redhorse deformities and 64.2% of the copper redhorse deformities (Supporting Information, **Table 4**).



Figure 6: Effects of exposure to Richelieu River water on timing of hatching of copper redhorse and river redhorse embryos. Data are expressed as the percentage of live embryos that hatched on a given date. Each data point represents the average of nine egg tumblers per species, and error bars represent standard error. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk (p < 0.05). Data are plotted as a function of (A) days post-fertilization and (B) cumulative degree days, which takes into consideration the effect of water temperature on embryonic development. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (Quebec, Canada) by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (https://climate.weather.gc.ca). RR = river redhorse; CR = copper redhorse; lab = laboratory.

Species	Treatment	Frequency of Deformities	Std dev	Time to 50%	95% Confidence	Survival at 14 day post-	Std dev
		(%)	(%)	hatch (CDD)	interval	fertilization (%)	(%)
River redhorse	Lab water	4.0 ^A	2.2	63.8 ^A	63.6 to 63.9	89.0 ^{A,B}	4.3
	River water	2.8 ^A	2.6	61.5 ^B	61.2 to 61.7	84.0 ^A	5.7
Copper redhorse	Lab water	9.3 ^в	5.6	67.7 ^c	67.5 to 68.0	93.3 ^в	3.1
	River water	12.1в	3.7	57.3 ^D	56.1 to 58.4	79.2 ^c	15.6

Table 1. Summary of organismal level endpoints assessed in river and copper redhorse

CDD: cumulative degree days

Percentage (%) are based on initial number of embryos per treatment, which was 495 larvae per species.

Different letters represent significative differences.

RNAseq

A total of 9025 KOs were identified, 8903 of which were matched to unique gene-level (Entrez ID) expression. Of these, 18 genes were significantly differentially expressed (adjusted p value <0.05, and absolute log₂FC >1) between the river water– and laboratory water–exposed copper redhorse (11 upregulated and seven down-regulated; Supporting Information, **Figure 11** and **Table 5**). Of the up-regulated DEGs, eight (cd44, il1b, lamb3, lamc2, tgm5, orm1, saa, acod1) were linked to immune function and injury response. The remaining were involved in xenobiotic metabolism (cyp1a1), mutagenesis prevention (ung), and membrane transport (slc16a3). All of the down-regulated DEGs (cpa2, ctrb, cela2a, ctrl, cpa1, prss1, cel) were involved with digestion and nutrient absorption. A single significant pathway was identified in the overrepresentation analysis (supporting Information, **Table 6**). The significant enrichment of pathways showed 40 pathways with mainly up-regulated genes, many related to growth, development, and drug metabolism in copper redhorse raised in river water. The remaining 20, which showed mainly down-regulated genes, were mostly involved in various cellular and synapse signaling pathways.

The RNAseq profiles are publicly available through the National Center for Biotechnology Information's Gene Expression Omnibus database (GSE185175).

We used the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database to explore previously reported interactions between the 36 river water contaminants and the 18 DEGs identified in our study (**Figure 4**). The three genes affected by the highest number of compounds in the database were cyp1a1 (14 compounds), il1b (10), and ung (4). The compounds that had the most known interactions with the identified DEGs were atrazine (nine interactions), urethane (five), glyphosate (four), acetylsalicylic acid (four), 4-nitroaniline (two), butylated hydroxyanisole (two), and carvacrol (two).

3.8 Discussion

Our study used an ELS riverside exposure to evaluate the impacts of spawning site contamination on the threatened river redhorse and the endangered copper redhorse. The experimental design permitted continuous exposure of one treatment group to water pumped directly from the Richelieu River, while the other group was exposed to temperature- matched laboratory water. Targeted and nontargeted chemical analyses revealed the presence of complex mixtures of pesticides and other contaminants in the river water, whereas the laboratory water had lower background levels of contamination. The riverside system successfully maintained favorable conditions for embryo development, hatching, and early larval development; and water parameters were generally well matched between the laboratory and river water (Supporting Information, **Figure 8**).

Chemical analyses

Our investigation of contaminants in laboratory water, river water, and the river itself focused on nine current-use pesticides that were most frequently detected at higher concentrations in tributaries of the Richelieu River in the years preceding our study (Giroux, 2015, 2019). An initial broad screen of contaminants in Richelieu River water carried out in the winter previous to our experiments also indicated that pesticides were prevalent contaminants in this system (H. Marchand et al., unpublished data). Background levels of AMPA, atrazine, glyphosate, metolachlor, and thiamethoxam were detected in laboratory water, whereas higher levels and a larger variety of pesticides were detected in the river water (**Figure 3**). Most of the targeted

pesticides fluctuated in river water aquariums through the month of June with one small (June 7) and one large (June 19) spike following heavy rain events (Figure 3). This pattern is representative of many agricultural rivers, where pesticides tend to peak in the spring following heavy rain as pesticides and sediments are washed into the river (Giroux 2019). During the 3 days following the heavy rain event, peak concentrations of two pesticides, the neonicotinoid clothianidin (89 ng/L) and its precursor thiamethoxam (32 ng/L), exceeded Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life of 20ng/L (Health Canada 2018). Thiamethoxam is converted to clothianidin in plants and insects, but both compounds are also independently applied for pest control. Given the ubiquitous presence of contaminants in all environmental matrices, it is often difficult to identify a suitable control for ecotoxicological studies. We used reconstituted ultrapure laboratory water that matched river water in terms of temperature, pH, and hardness. Small differences in turbidity and conductivity were observed (see Supporting Information and Figure 8). In addition, our analysis revealed that the laboratory water was contaminated with low levels of pesticides. Previous drinking water surveys detected atrazine in 100% of water samples tested in the Montreal area (2015–2018; Montiel-León et al. 2019), where McGill University is located. During the experiment, the atrazine concentrations in laboratory water varied between 13 and 57 ng/L (Supporting Information, **Table 3**), which was at the lower end of the range (40–250 ng/L) reported by Montiel-León et al. (2019). Glyphosate and its metabolite AMPA have also been detected in drinking water in Montreal and surrounding areas (Montiel- León et al. 2019). In our study, laboratory water was contaminated with levels that were two (AMPA and glyphosate), six (atrazine and thiamethoxam), and almost 65 (metolachlor) times lower than the lowest level detected in the river water.

In addition to the targeted pesticides, other compounds such as PPCPs and additional pesticides were tentatively identified in the Richelieu River water through suspect screening (**Figure 4**). Local urban wastewater effluents are a likely source for PPCPs (Schreder & La Guardia 2014). Many of the wastewater-treatment plants along the Richelieu are known to overflow following heavy rain events (Cliché & Saladzius 2018). Oxybenzone, one of the two compounds that was tentatively identified through suspect screening and then validated using analytical standards, is an organic ultraviolet filter commonly used in sunscreen that has been detected in surface water worldwide (Schneider & Lim 2019). This compound is hard to remove from wastewaters and has

been identified in tissues of many fish species across Europe (Schneider & Lim 2019). In most cases, levels measured in surface water were two orders of magnitude below the predicted-no-effect concentrations (Burns et al. 2021). The second validated compound, metribuzin, is an herbicide which was detected below 1 μ g/L each year between 2015 and 2017 in the Huron River (Giroux 2019). In a study with juvenile zebrafish, the no-observed-effect level of metribuzin was estimated to be 16 mg/L (four orders of magnitude higher than what was measured in the present study; Stepanova et al. 2012), suggesting that metribuzin is unlikely to pose a risk to copper and river redhorse.

Biological endpoints

Using a riverside system, artificial rearing of river and copper redhorse over a 2-week period was successful, with survival rates of 89% and 93%, respectively, in the laboratory water groups. Survival was similar in the laboratory and river water groups throughout the experiment until 14 dpf, when it sharply decreased for the copper redhorse exposed to river water (79.2% vs. 93.3%; **Table 1**). This decrease occurred when the fish were nearing the end of their larval stage, 10 days after the peak of the pesticides in the river water. Pesticides can be acutely toxic to ELS fish but typically only at much higher concentrations than were measured in our river water aquariums (Mhadhbi & Beiras 2012; Osterauer & Köhler 2008; Sulukan et al. 2017). This and the fact that the decrease in survival was not observed in all of the tumblers in each tank (Supporting Information, **Figure 10**) make it difficult to determine whether it was associated with the presence of contaminants. Some detoxification mechanisms in fish are energy-dependent and may reroute valuable energy from an already limited supply in developing embryos (Bains & Kennedy 2004). This could cause them to rely on an external food source earlier than the fish in laboratory water, which may explain why the die-off occurred only in the river water group.

Deformity rate is an important sublethal indicator of environmental pollutant exposure in ELS fish (Lin Sun et al. 2009). Deformity rates were low in both species exposed to laboratory water (river redhorse 4.0%, copper redhorse 9.3%) and river water (river redhorse 2.8%, copper redhorse 12.1%), with no indication that they were affected by the treatment (**Table 1**). Pesticides such as glyphosate (Sulukan et al. 2017), atrazine (Mhadhbi & Beiras 2012), diazinon, and thiacloprid (Osterauer & Köhler 2008) have been shown to be teratogenic but at much higher doses than

present concentrations that river and copper redhorses were exposed to in our study. Independent of treatment, copper redhorse had a significantly higher rate of deformities than river redhorse (9.3% vs. 4.0%). Little information is available from the literature on average rates of deformities in wild fish ELS, but they are likely to be highly variable. For example, the incidence of kyphosis deformities in a wild population of lagoonal sand smelts (Atherina lagunae) was 9.75% (Ayed et al. 2008), while spinal deformities reached 33% in wild haddock (Melanogrammus aeglefinus; Jawad et al. 2018).

During our experiment, both species hatched prematurely when exposed to river water. Many of the pesticides that we detected in the river water have previously been shown to individually alter hatching time in fish and other aquatic vertebrates, albeit at concentrations above those detected in our samples. For example, sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) exposed to 25 and 250 µg/L of atrazine hatched prematurely only at the highest dose (Du Gas et al. 2017), which was almost three orders of magnitude higher than our highest measurement of 298 ng/L. Both diazinon (3 mg/L) and glyphosate (50mg/L) have been associated with premature hatching in zebrafish (Fiorino et al., 2018; Osterauer & Köhler 2008). However, the same dose of glyphosate (50 mg/L) had the opposite effect (hatch retardation) on common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), which suggests that responses can differ among species (Fiorino et al. 2018). This dose of glyphosate was almost 35,000 times higher than the peak of 1451ng/L that we measured in the Richelieu River water. Previously reported effects on fish hatching time all occurred at higher concentrations than we observed, but these studies focused on a single compound, whereas our study involved a complex mixture of contaminants. Further research is needed to identify components of the mixture that may be responsible for the effects that we observed. The potential consequences of early hatching on copper and river redhorse populations are unclear, but Bowerman et al. (2014) reported that early emerging larvae were less developed, which could lead to lower survival. In our case, following a visual inspection, healthy larvae that hatched earlier could not be visually distinguished from those hatching later in time.

Factors other than contaminants may also influence fish hatching time. In many salmonids, the presence of fine sediment in the water can lead to premature hatching and emergence of the larvae (Bowerman et al. 2014). This may be explained by the localized hypoxia caused by fine sediment surrounding the embryos. Sediment may also prevent water flow, which would clean the embryo

surface of metabolic waste (Bowerman et al. 2014). In our study, it is possible that the fine sediment, which was only present in the river aquariums, influenced hatching time. However, the sponges at the entrance of the egg tumblers prevented most sediment from accumulating in the egg chambers, and constant agitation was maintained by the air pump. Given these considerations, it is unlikely that the presence of sediment was an important factor influencing hatching times in the river water groups.

Two neonicotinoid insecticides, clothianidin and thiamethoxam, were periodically detected in river water at levels that exceeded water quality thresholds for aquatic life (**Figure 3**). However, organism-level effects resulting from neonicotinoid exposure in ELS fish have only been previously reported at higher doses than these thresholds. In a 4-month study on ELS salmon exposed to clothianidin, no effects on hatching, growth, survival, or deformities were observed from concentrations of $0.15-150 \ \mu g/L$ (Marlatt et al. 2019). More subtle effects such as increases in whole-body 17β -estradiol were observed at 150 ng/L, the lowest tested dose (Marlatt et al. 2019), a concentration approximately two times higher than the highest concentration in our river water aquariums. In zebrafish, continuous exposure to thiamethoxam over 4 weeks caused an increase of reactive oxygen species, followed by an increased antioxidant response at concentrations of 300 $\mu g/L$ (Yan et al. 2016). This is a dose more than 9000 times higher than what we measured in the Richelieu. No effects on hatching or survival were observed at this concentrations of other individual pesticides measured were generally below the level where effects have previously been reported in ELS fish.

Some of the compounds tentatively identified through nontargeted screening may have sublethal effects on ELS fish. For example, zebrafish exposed to 5%, 10%, and 50% municipal wastewater effluent from Calgary (Canada) showed delayed hatching at 48 and 57h post-fertilization (Gauthier & Vijayan 2020). Known effects of PPCPs on aquatic organisms also include endocrine disruption, teratology, gene toxicity, and aberrant physiological processes (Wang et al., 2021). We were not able to quantify the concentrations of the nontargeted compounds in the present analysis, but this suggests that contaminants other than pesticides may also be involved in the observed changes to hatching time and gene expression.

The complexity of contaminant mixtures makes it difficult to link effects to specific chemicals, and more research is warranted in this area. In a notable recent example of this type of work, researchers attributed mortality observed in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) exposed to stormwater runoff to a single chemical in the mixture: 6-p-phenylenediamine-quinone (Tian et al. 2020). In addition, contaminants within complex mixtures can have synergistic effects, which amplify their impacts on fish. For example, when atrazine and chlorpyrifos were present together, their toxicity potential was increased compared with what would be predicted by the simple principle of addition (Perez et al. 2013). This has also been demonstrated for chlorpyrifos and betacypermethrin (Zhang et al. 2017) as well as phoxim and atrazine (Wang et al. 2017).

In the present study the exposure to river water was associated with altered hatching time in both redhorse species and decreased larval survival in copper redhorse. These effects appeared to be most severe in the copper redhorse, pointing to a possible link between species sensitivity and conservation status; but other explanations are also possible. River and copper redhorse artificial breeding occurred a week apart; thus, the fish were exposed to pesticide peaks caused by rain events at different developmental stages (Figures 5 and 6). The major pesticide peak coincided with the advanced larval developmental stage of river redhorse (mesolarvae), whereas copper redhorse were exposed at the moment of hatching (protolarvae; which was premature). Even though there is a consensus that ELS are more vulnerable than adults, not all ELS are equally sensitive. The literature suggests that the larval stage is often more vulnerable than embryonic and juvenile stages of fish (Mhadhbi & Beiras 2012; Oliva et al., 2008; Velki et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2017). This could be explained by the fact that the early larval stage lacks the embryo's chorin, which acts as a protective barrier, and has under- or undeveloped biological defenses or means of detoxification that are present in the later larval and juvenile stage (Velki et al. 2017). In comparison with embryonic and juvenile stages, larvae can be sensitive to pesticide doses 10-100times lower in concentration (Oliva et al. 2008). A second important consideration related to species sensitivity is that embryos for each species came from a single pair of fish. Siblings from a single cross cannot be considered to be representative of the species as a whole (Jager 2013). In the present study, using siblings was advantageous because it allowed for similar prenatal, genetic, and underlying conditions. Moreover, given that we were working with endangered species, sampling from multiple crosses was not possible. Overall, our results suggest that copper redhorse

were more sensitive than river redhorse, but further work is needed to confirm and explore the mechanism behind this observation.

RNAseq

We used RNAseq to identify genes and pathways that were differentially expressed in copper redhorse exposed to river water compared to control laboratory water. At 14dpf, 18 DEGs were identified (11 up- and 7 down-regulated; Supporting Information, **Table 4**). The low number of DEGs is likely reflective of the fact that copper redhorse larvae were exposed to relatively low levels of contaminants in the river water and that sampling occurred at 14 dpf rather than immediately after the peak of pesticides at 4 dpf (Figure 5). Interestingly, a large proportion (44%) of the 18 DEGs were involved in injury and immune response. For example, the gene with the highest fold change, lamb3 (2.4 log₂FC), produces a protein that regulates cell growth and motility. This gene is important in the basement membrane of the skin but also plays an important role in wound healing (Miner & Yurchenco 2004). The gene with the second highest fold change, illb, is a key mediator of the inflammatory response (Dinarello 1996). Six other DEGs have roles in injury healing (lamc2, tgm5, orm1, saa) or immune response (cd44, acod1). Pesticides, including neonicotinoids, which were the only measured and identified compounds above Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life, have been linked to immune suppression in fish (Gibbons et al., 2014). Of the 10 remaining overexpressed KOs, cyp1a1 was the most clearly linked to contaminant exposure. This Phase I metabolic enzyme can be induced by exposure to many contaminants including PAHs, PCBs, and some pesticides (Danielson 2002). A previous study, using opportunistically sampled adult copper redhorse, found PAHs and PCBs present in fish tissues but below toxic levels (De Lafontaine et al., 2002). Up-regulation of cyp1a1 was consistent with xenobiotic exposure and has often been used as a marker of pollution in fish (Goksoyr 1995). Among the targeted pesticides, atrazine (Fu et al. 2013), glyphosate (Wang et al. 2020), and metolachlor (Dierickx 1999) are known cyp1a1 inducers. For the other targeted pesticides, induction of cyp1a1 has not been documented.

In addition to the targeted pesticides, many other contaminants were tentatively identified in the river water that may have contributed to the observed dysregulation of gene expression. We explored potential associations between these contaminants and changes in gene expression by

probing the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database (**Figure 4**). This analysis revealed that the dysregulated genes had previously been associated with exposure to many of the contaminants detected in our river water samples. For example, atrazine has been linked to changes in messenger RNA expression of nine of the 18 DEGs (lamb3, cd44, illb, ung, orm1, cyp1a1, slc16a3, ctrl, cpa2) and glyphosate to four (cd44, illb, ung, slc16a3; **Figure 4**). Many contaminants alter levels of cyp1a1 expression; according to the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database, more than 6000 interactions between cyp1a1 and 1500 chemicals have been reported. Because of potential synergistic and antagonistic effects between compounds and the fact that the database is biased toward compounds that have been more extensively studied, it is difficult to decipher the specific role that a given contaminant plays in causing toxic effects within a complex mixture. However, this analysis suggests avenues for future research by identifying compounds of interest within the mixture.

Using gene set enrichment analysis, we identified 60 pathways in copper redhorse that were affected by the river water in comparison to laboratory water (Supporting Information, Table 6). It is notable that a much higher number of significant pathways than DEGs was detected. This is possible because gene set enrichment analysis is performed independently from differential expression analysis and captures more subtle changes in genes that are grouped together in pathways. However, these results should be interpreted with caution when working with Seq. 2Fun and KOs because the gene universe is restricted to the space covered by KOs rather than the complete transcriptome measured by RNAseq. In addition, the actual pathways present in the species under study are a subset of the total KEGG pathways. This reduced gene universe coupled with inflated pathway annotation will likely interfere with the analysis. The second pathway enrichment analysis that we used, overrepresentation analysis, is based on significant differential expression. In this case, the small number of DEGs explains why only a single significant pathway was detected. Many of the pathways identified by gene set enrichment analysis and the single pathway identified by overrepresentation analysis are related to metabolism, growth, and development. The increased metabolism that we observed in the river water group can be linked to increases in the energetic cost of detoxification (Bains & Kennedy 2004). Drug metabolism was also in the top 20 pathways that were affected by river water exposure. Because many of the DEGs were related to immune or injury response, we expected that pathways related to immune functions would be affected.

Limitation of the present study and future research

Working with endangered wildlife brings extra challenges because of regulatory and practical considerations as well as ethics and the limited information available for these species. Focusing on ELS allowed us to work with copper redhorse, but the opportunities for a greater sample size and study replication were limited. In the present study, we had access to a single embryo collection from a single cross, which limited our ability to draw conclusions at the population level. Future studies should include laboratory studies to try to associate precise contaminants to observed effects and to evaluate species sensitivity of ELS redhorses to these contaminants.

In addition, the absence of an annotated genome hindered our ability to extract biologically meaningful information from the raw data. Even for fish species with annotated genomes, pathway enrichment analysis depends on databases that are biased toward mammals, leading to a more cautious interpretation of these results. This first publication of the copper redhorse transcriptome lays the groundwork for future molecular studies on this endangered fish.

3.9 Conclusion

Our study sheds light on the biological effects of exposure to a real-world mixture in important developmental stages of two fish species of concern. We provided evidence that the endangered copper redhorse is more sensitive than the threatened river redhorse, but more research is required to confirm this and to determine the potential consequences at the population level. Overall, multiple factors could be threatening the copper redhorse such as late age of maturity, the late season breeding, habitat loss and degradation including the reduced numbers of spawning grounds and nurseries, as well as ELS exposure to pesticides. Future work will be aimed at clarifying the individual effects of contaminants present in the Richelieu River on fish ELS. Laboratory research using zebrafish as a model and follow-up copper redhorse studies are already underway. The differential expression of genes related to the immune system suggests that an immune challenge of copper redhorse ELS is an interesting avenue for future research.

3.10 Supporting information

Chemical List and Purity

All the native standards (AMPA, atrazine, chlorantraniliprole, clothianidin, glyphosate, imazethapyr, imidacloprid and thiamethoxam) were purchase from Millipore Sigma (Sigma-Aldrich) with purity above 98%. All the isotope-labeled internal standards (atrazine-D3, chlorantraniliprole-D3, clothianidin-D3, imazethapyr-D3, thiamethoxam-D3) were purchased from Millipore Sigma (Sigma-Aldrich) except for glyphosate-D2, imidacloprid-D4, metolachlor-D6 which were from CDN Isotopes, all with purity above 98%. AMPA-¹³C₁₅ND₂ was donated by Jean-Francois Roy from Agilent Technologies. All the solvents used were at HPLC grade (except for water at LC-MS grade) and were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Hampton, NH, United States).

LC-MS Analysis methods

Standards preparation. Stock solutions of individual native and mass-labeled compounds were prepared in methanol or LC-MS water at 500 and 100 μ g/mL, respectively. Multiple sub-stock solutions of native compound mixtures were prepared in LC-MS water at a concentration range from 0.2 to 1000 ng.mL⁻¹. One solution of mixed mass-labeled analogs was prepared from primary stock solutions at 1 μ g/mL in LC-MS water. Calibration standards solutions were prepared by adding 10 μ L of the corresponding sub-stock solution of native analytes and 10 μ L of mass labeled analog mixture into 880 μ L of LC-MS water, or grab samples of river water matrix. 100 μ L methanol was added to reach total volume of 1000 μ L. The concentration of calibration standards ranged from 2 ng/L to 10000 ng/L.

Sample preparation

Grab samples of river water were prepared by spiking 10 μ L internal standards mixture and 100 μ L methanol into 890 μ L river water sample, followed by filtration with 0.22 μ m PTFE syringe filter (Canadian Life Science, Canada) before introduction into the LC-MS. All LC-MS samples were stored at -20°C in the dark.

Instrument analysis

Analysis were performed at McGill Bayen's Food Science Lab (Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, QC, Canada). Data were collected with an Agilent 1290 Infinity II LC system coupled to the 6545 Quadrupole-Time of Flight-Mass spectrometry (Q-TOF-MS) (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA). The LC separation was performed on a CS-MS C18 column (Agilent Technologies; 2.1 µm \times 150 mm). The mobile phase A was LC-MS grade water with 0.1% formic acid and the mobile phase B was methanol with 0.1% formic acid. 5µM deactivator medronic acid (Agilent Technologies) was added into mobile phase A to reduce the possible interactions of polar analytes with stainless steel parts and improve the peak shape. The HPLC and MS parameters were optimized for positive (ESI+) modes based on the separation and MS responses of the nine targeted analytes. Samples were kept at 4°C in the multisampler compartment. HPLC parameters were as follows: the injection volume was 20 μ L, the flow rate was 0.35 mL/min, the column temperature was 40°C. The elution gradient used was: 0.1% B (0 to 1.5 min), linear increase to 20% B (1.5 to 2 min), ramp to 40% B (2 to 4 min), ramp to 100% B (4 to 6 min). 100% B (6 to 8 min) and 0.1% B (8 to 8.5 min), and finally 0.1% B (8.5 to 10 min) with 3 min post-column run. Optimized MS conditions for ESI+ were: the drying gas temperature at 220 °C, drying gas flow rate at 11 L/min, sheath gas temperature at 300 °C, sheath gas flow rate at 11 L/min, nebulizer pressure at 30 psi, the capillary voltage at 3000 V, the fragmentor voltage at 100 V, the skimmer voltage at 65 V and the nozzle voltage t 1500 V. Full scan MS data were recorded at mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) range from 100 to 1100 with a scan rate of 2 spectra/s, and were collected at both centroid and profile mode. Two reference ions (m/z at 121.0508 and 922.0098) were used in ESI+ mode for automatic mass recalibration during data acquisition.

Targeted analysis of the compounds

Method validations were first conducted using standard solutions containing the 9 target compounds prepared in HPLC water. The quantification was performed using Quantitative Analysis 10.0 from Agilent MassHunter Workstation Software. For each target analyte, the most abundant isotope peak of either $[M+H]^+$ in ESI+ was selected as the quantifier ion. A mass extraction window (MEW) of ±20 ppm, was used for the present mass extraction and quantitative analysis.

For the quantification of each target analyte, a mass-labeled internal standard at constant concentration was used as internal standard to compensate any systematic errors subjected by native compounds. For each analyte, the relative response (RR) was calculated at each calibration point using the equations below:

$$RR = \frac{A_t/A_{is}}{C_t/C_{is}}$$
(eq. 1)

where A_t and A_{is} were the peak area of target analyte and corresponded mass-labeled internal standard respectively; and C_t and C_{is} were the concentration of target analyte and corresponded mass-labeled internal standard, respectively. The concentration of each target compound in the simulated matrix was calculated at the following equations:

$$C_{t} = \frac{A_{t}/A_{is}}{RR} \times C_{is}$$
 (eq. 2)

where, mean RR values averaged from the whole calibration range were used for each target analyte.

Method performance was also assessed based on the linearity of the calibration response, method detection limits (MDLs; 3σ of the procedural blank signals), the method quantification limits (MQLs, 10σ of the procedural blank signals), precision, relative recoveries, and matrix effect. Recoveries of the target analytes were evaluated by spiking tests conducted at 3 levels (100, 1000 and 10000 ng L⁻¹ ww, n=3 for each level) before filtration. Relative recovery (%) was calculated as the ratio of the peak area ratio for target analyte and its internal standard spiked into water prior to filtration, to the one for corresponded compounds spiked into the water without filtration. Matrix effects were assessed as the ratios of the slopes of matrix-matched calibration and the calibration in water.

Non-targeted analysis of the compounds

Suspect screening was performed on data from Richelieu River sample collected at Saint-Ours (downstream) on June 19th after heavy rain events and the control water, using the software

MassHunter Profinder B.10.00 from Agilent Technologies. Data treatment was first conducted in the "Batch Recursive Feature Extraction" mode (mass window \pm 20 ppm; RT window \pm 0.15 min; peak filter (height) \Box 300 counts), where 4189 molecular features were aligned and extracted. These features were then statistically analyzed in Mass Profiler Professional (MPP) by applying a fold change \geq 2. In total, 451 molecular features with abundance level at least two-times higher than in control water were extracted, and further screened against *Environmental Water Screening PCDL* and pesticide *PCDL* in IDBrowser. For the molecular features with assigned compound names, manual checks were conducted in Qualitative Analysis (Agilent) in terms of 1) HPLC peak shape, 2) peaks present in both river water aquarium and river water on June 19, 2018, 3) signals in river water aquariums and river water on June 19, 2018 were at least two-times higher than in control for both June 16 and 19, 2018, 4) all ion and targeted MS/MS fragmentation by comparing with MS spectral library. For the two tentatively identified compounds (oxybenzone and metribuzin), authentic standards were used to confirm their identification.

Water physico-chemical parameters

Water parameters in lab water and river water aquariums were similar with respect to temperature, DO and pH (Figure 3 A-C). Over the course of the experiment, natural river water temperature, in and around the aquariums, varied from 18° C to 22° C, and generally increased over time. The average temperatures in the lab water aquariums, river water aquariums, and the river itself were within 1°C throughout the entire experimental period (Figure 3A). Dissolved oxygen was almost at saturation in lab and river water aquariums (96-98%), and in the river itself (94% -103%) (Figure 3B). The pH in both lab and river water aquariums was stable (8.2 to 8.6) and similar to river pH (8.0 to 8.6) (Figure 3C).

Conductivity varied widely (138-294 μ S/cm) in the 3 lab water aquariums. The initial conductivities of the 3 aquariums differed due to a human error in preparing the reconstituted hard water. This error was corrected after the initial loading of the aquariums and variations among lab water aquariums diminished as the experiment went on and water was replaced. Conductivity in the lab water aquariums increased over time, likely because evaporated water from the aquariums was replaced with reconstituted hard water rather than ultrapure water. Conductivity in the river water aquariums matched the actual river conductivity (178 to 218 μ S/cm) (Figure 3D). Overall

conductivity was higher in the lab water group than in the river water group throughout the experiment. Changes in water conductivity can have an effect on fish due to increased energy expenditure relating to osmoregulation. Little information is available for fish early life stages but conductivity below $3700 \,\mu$ S/cm had no negative impact on sensitive aquatic fauna (Kennedy et al. 2003), which suggests that the variation between 150 and 300 us/cm observed in our study is unlikely to have affected the results.

Turbidity was negligible in the lab water aquariums throughout the experiment (0-1 Formazin Nephelometric Units (FNU)) and was higher and more variable in the river water aquariums (5 to 32 FNU). Overall, the river water aquariums matched the turbidity in the actual river (Figure 3E). The coarse sponge at the entrance of the waterflow likely filtered out larger particles, but some turbidity in the tumbler water was visible. Turbidity peaked in the river and the river water aquariums following the large rain event on June 18. High turbidity or fine sediment accumulation on fish embryos can cause entombment leading to asphyxia (Bowerman et al. 2014), but this was not observed in our experiment. Since turbidity accumulated in the river water aquariums (where it was measured) rather than in the tumblers which were blocked by a coarse sponge, turbidity was almost certainly lower in the tumblers. Additionally, the controlled waterflow prevented asphyxiation of the embryos, limiting any potential negative effects of turbidity on the endpoints measured.



Figure 7: Examples of copper redhorse deformities observed. A) Normal larvae. B) Larva with edema in the thoracic region (identified by arrow). C) Larvae exhibiting different extents of spinal curvature (kyphosis/lordosis; arrows). D) Two-headed larva (arrow). E) Larvae with pinched yolk sac (and yolk sac edema; arrows).



Figure 8: Water parameters, A) temperature, B) dissolved oxygen, C) pH, D) conductivity and E) turbidity, during the river and copper redhorse riverside exposure in June 2018. Parameters are reported as the average value measured in 3 laboratory water aquariums (control) (green solid line), 3 river water aquariums (red solid line) and in the Richelieu River itself (yellow dashed line). Error bars represent standard deviations amongst aquariums. For river water, a single value was taken each day. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (QC), about 21 km away, by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (https://climate.weather.gc.ca).



Figure 9: A includes the HPLC peak and MS/MS fragmentation information for the molecular feature m/z 229.0859 at 7.0 min and oxybenzone standard; B includes the HPLC peak and MS/MS fragmentation information for the molecular feature m/z 215.0963 at 6.2 min and metribuzin standard.


Figure 10: Effects of exposure to Richelieu River water on survival of copper redhorse (CR) and river redhorse (RR) embryos and larvae over the 14-day exposure period. Data are expressed as the percentage of live individuals over total embryos. Each data point represents the average of 9 egg tumblers, and error bars represent standard error. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk (p < 0.05). The dual asterisks mark the days during which the embryos were hatching. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (QC) by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (<u>https://climate.weather.gc.ca</u>). Given the strong relationship between precipitation and pesticide concentrations in the water column (Figure 4), these data are a surrogate for the total pesticide concentration over time. On the right side panel are the survival data on day 14 post-fertilization for the individual copper redhorse incubators.



Figure 11: Volcano plot of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) from copper redhorse exposed to river water for 14 days post-fertilization. The labelled Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthologues (KOs) in red were significantly differentially expressed (adjusted p value < 0.05 and absolute log2 fold change > 1) when compared to the copper redhorse exposed to lab water.

Compounds	Mass to	Retention	Method	Method	Instrument	Mean relative	Matrix	Intraday
	charge	time RT	Detection	Quantification	Detection	recovery (%,	effect	Precision
	ratio((min)	Limit	Limit MQLs	Limits	n=9)	(%)	(RSD%)
	m/z,		MDLs	(ng/L)	IDLs (pg			
	[M+H] ⁺)		(ng/L)		injected)			
Atrazine	216.101	6.955	0.97	3.23	0.31	87±9%	14%	5%
Metolachlor	284.1412	7.245	3.18	10.60	0.14	100±12%	8%	1%
Imazethapyr	290.1499	6.607	2.33	7.77	0.09	102±11%	-11%	9%
Clothianidin	250.016	5.886	6.26	20.87	0.72	127±11%	-35%	3%
Thiamethoxam	292.0266	5.091	0.24	0.79	0.39	83±8%	9%	6%
Imidacloprid	256.0596	5.729	0.19	0.63	0.18	92±9%	8%	6%
Chlorantraniliprole	481.9786	6.988	21.00	70.00	1.45	90±7%	-7%	5%
Glyphosate	170.0213	2.306	124.18	413.93	15.04	88±11%	5%	16%
AMPA	112.0158	1.022	321.53	1071.77	22.51	99±15%	-18%	33%
Atrazine-D ₅	221.1324	6.938						
Metolachlor-D ₆	290.1788	7.237						
Clothianidin-D3	253.0348	5.886						
Imidacloprid-D4	260.0847	5.704						
AMPA- ¹³ C ₁₅ ND ₂	116.0287	0.7742]					
Glyphosate-D ₂	172.0344	2298]					

Table 2. Targeted LC/MS method detection limits, method quantification limits, instrument detection limits, relative recoveries, and matrix effects and precision of chemicals analyzed.

AMPA: Aminomethylphosphonic acid

Table 3. Summary table of means and ranges of the pesticide concentrations detected in the laboratory water aquariums, river water aquariums and the Richelieu River itself in June 2018. Chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid were also targeted but were not detected in any samples.

Compounds	Atrazine Clot		Clothi	anidin	iidin Glyphosate		AMPA*		Imazethapyr		Metolachlor		Thiamethoxam	
Treatmonte	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range
Treatments	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)	(ng/L)
Lab water	33	13 57			Q	0.155	166	0 1441			15	3 78	~1	0.6
aquarium	55	15-57	-	-	0	0-155	100	0-1441	-	-	15	5-28	$\langle 1$	0-0
River water	47	11 208	Q	0.80	24	0.201	785	0 3032	21	0.244	180	20 1752	4	0.32
aquarium	47	11-290	0	0-89	24	0-291	785	0-3032	21	0-244	109	20-1752	4	0-32
River water	36	7-257	2	0-43	29	0-201	844	0-3940	14	0-179	131	13-1247	3	0-24

AMPA: Aminomethylphosphonic acid

Table 4. Summary table of the deformities observed in river and copper redhorse larvae exposed to either river water or laboratory water matching river water physio-chemical parameters. Each treatment started with 495 larvae per species.

Species *	Treatment	Kyphosis/ lordosis	Kyphosis/ lordosis High	Edema (N=)	Shortened tail (N=)	Craniofacial malformation	Pinched yolk	Total number
		moderate (N=)	(N=)			(11-)	(N=)	(11-)
River	Lab water	18	0	1	0	1	0	20
Redhorse	River water	9	0	2	2	0	1	14
Copper	Lab water	28	5	1	8	0	3	46
Redhorse	River water	32	3	6	3	2	14	60

Table 5. Differentially expressed Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG)Orthologues (KOs) from copper redhorse exposed to river water.

Gene name	Gene	KO#	Log ₂ FC
	abbreviation		
Laminin beta 3	lamb3	K06244	2.532
CD 44 antigen	cd44	K06256	1.836
Interleukin 1 beta	il1B	K04519	1.677
Laminin gamma 2	lamc2	K06246	1.445
Uracil-DNA			1.363
glycosylase 2	ung	K10861	
Transglutaminase 5	tgm55	K05622	1.201
Alpha-1-acid			
glycoprotein	orml	K17308	1.121
Cytochrome P450			
family 1 subfamily			
A1	cyplal	K07408	1.082
Serum amyloid A			
protein	saa	K17310	1.047
Solute carrier			
family 16 member 3	slc16a3	K08180	1.024
Aconitate			1.015
decarboxylase	acod1	K17724	
Bile salt-stimulated			-1.030
lipase	cel	K12298	
Trypsin	prss1	K01312	-1.046
Carboxypeptidase	cpa1	K08779	-1.050
Chymotrypsin-like			-1.112
protease	ctrl	K09632	
Pancreatic elastase			-1.153
II	cela2a	K01346	
Chymotrypsin	ctrb	K01310	-1.249
Carboxypeptidase			-1.812
A2	cpa2	K01298	

Table 6. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) for differentially expressed Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthologues (KOs) from copper redhorse exposed to river water. Genes with positive enrichment score were over expressed and gene with negative enrichment score (grey shading) were under expressed.

		Enrichment	Adjusted	
	Name	Score	p value	
1	DNA replication	0.882	0.002	
2	Mismatch repair	0.818	0.002	
3	One carbon pool by folate	0.792	0.002	
4	Valine, leucine and isoleucine degradation	0.784	0.002	
5	Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.776	0.002	
6	Fatty acid degradation	0.753	0.002	
7	Nucleotide excision repair	0.751	0.002	
8	Butanoate metabolism	0.722	0.002	
9	Propanoate metabolism	0.713	0.002	
10	Fat digestion and absorption	0.711	0.002	
11	Base excision repair	0.706	0.002	
12	Homologous recombination	0.689	0.002	
13	Drug metabolism - other enzymes	0.671	0.002	
14	Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.651	0.002	
15	Folate biosynthesis	0.638	0.007	
16	Fanconi anemia pathway	0.635	0.002	
17	Tyrosine metabolism	0.623	0.006	
18	Fatty acid metabolism	0.622	0.002	
19	Carbon metabolism	0.619	0.002	
20	Pyrimidine metabolism	0.619	0.002	
21	Fatty acid elongation	0.613	0.010	
22	Glycine, serine and threonine metabolism	0.590	0.002	
23	beta-Alanine metabolism	0.586	0.012	
24	Cell cycle	0.579	0.002	
25	Pyruvate metabolism	0.577	0.008	
26	Protein digestion and absorption	0.575	0.002	
27	Cysteine and methionine metabolism	0.572	0.003	
28	Lysine degradation	0.565	0.002	
29	Oxidative phosphorylation	0.533	0.002	
30	Arginine and proline metabolism	0.520	0.014	
31	Aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis	0.514	0.024	

32	RNA polymerase	0.506	0.035
33	PPAR signaling pathway	0.498	0.008
34	Oocyte meiosis	0.474	0.006
35	Biosynthesis of amino acids	0.451	0.029
36	Cholesterol metabolism	0.449	0.022
37	Progesterone-mediated oocyte maturation	0.420	0.040
38	Purine metabolism	0.411	0.002
39	Thermogenesis	0.410	0.002
40	Ribosome	0.406	0.002
41	cAMP signaling pathway	-0.356	0.006
42	Axon guidance	-0.362	0.010
43	Autophagy - animal	-0.389	0.012
44	Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction	-0.395	0.002
45	Oxytocin signaling pathway	-0.400	0.005
46	Chemokine signaling pathway	-0.403	0.005
47	Aldosterone synthesis and secretion	-0.404	0.031
48	Endocytosis	-0.415	0.002
49	Serotonergic synapse	-0.418	0.008
50	Circadian entrainment	-0.420	0.007
51	Estrogen signaling pathway	-0.421	0.008
52	Cell adhesion molecules (CAMs)	-0.422	0.006
53	GABAergic synapse	-0.463	0.003
54	Cholinergic synapse	-0.464	0.002
55	Long-term depression	-0.468	0.011
56	Dopaminergic synapse	-0.500	0.002
57	Taste transduction	-0.546	0.004
58	Glutamatergic synapse	-0.560	0.002
59	Long-term potentiation	-0.567	0.002
60	Synaptic vesicle cycle	-0.659	0.002

3.11 References

Ayed N, Faure E, Quignard JP, Maamouri F, Trabelsi M. 2008. Incidence of kyphosis deformities in natural population of Atherina laguna (Trabelsi et al. 2002) from the Tunis North Lake. Marine Biology. 153(1): 319-325.

Bains OS & Kennedy CJ. 2004. Energetic costs of pyrene metabolism in isolated hepatocytes of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquatic Toxicology. 67(3): 217-226.

Berryman D, Rondeau M, Trudeau V. 2015. Concentrations of medications, hormones and other emergent contaminants in the St. Lawrence and three of its tributaries. Ministère du Développement durable. P. 15.

Bony S, Gillet C, Bouchez A, Margoum C, Devaux A. 2008. Genotoxic pressure of vineyard pesticides in fish: Field and mesocosm surveys. Aquatic Toxicology. 89(3): 197-203.

Bowerman T, Neilson BT, Budy P. 2014. Effects of fine sediment, hyporheic flow, and spawning site characteristics on survival and development of bull trout embryos. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 71(7).

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 2011. Protocols manual for water quality sampling in Canada. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. https://beta-static.fishersci.com/content/dam/fishersci/en_CA/documents/brochures-and-catalogs/catalogs/ccme-protocols-manual-water-quality-sampling.pdf

Cliché G & Saladzius A. 2018. Évaluation de performance des ouvrages municipaux d'assainissement des eaux - Bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu et de la zone Saint-Laurent, années 2014 à 2016. Fondation Rivières.

Committee On the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). 2004. COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the copper redhorse Moxostoma hubbsi in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. vii + 38 pp. (www.sararegistry.gc.ca/status/status_e.cfm)

Committee On the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). 2015. COSEWIC status appraisal summary on the River Redhorse Moxostoma carinatum in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xivpp. (http://www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/default_e.cfm).

Committee On the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). 2014. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Copper Redhorse Moxostoma hubbsi in Canada. Ottawa: Canada. P. xiii-80.

Comité de Concertation et de la Valorisation du Bassin de la Rivière Richelieu (COVABAR) 2015. Plan directeur de l'eau - Portrait du bassin versant de la Rivière Richelieu et de la zone Saint-Laurent, août 2015. Beloeil.

Danielson PB. 2002. The cytochrome P450 superfamily: Biochemistry, evolution and drug metabolism in humans. Current Drug Metabolism. 3(6): 561-597.

Davis AP, Grondin CJ, Johnson RJ, Sciaky D, Wiegeers J, Wiegers TC, Mattingly CJ. 2021. Comparative Toxicogenomics Database (CTD): update 2021. Nucleic Acids Research. 49(D1): D1138-D1143.

De Lafontaine Y, Gilbert NL, Dumouchel F, Brochu C, Moore S, Pelletier É, Dumont P, Branchaud A. 2002. Is chemical contamination responsible for the decline of the copper redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi), an endangered fish species, in Canada? The Science of the Total Environment. 298(1): 25-44.

Dierickx PJ. 1999. Glutathione-dependent cytotoxicity of the chloroacetanilide herbicides alachlor, metolachlor, and propachlor in rat and human hepatoma-derived cultured cells. Cell Biology and Toxicology. 15(1): 325-332.

Dinarello CA. 1996. Biological Basis for interleukin-1 in Disease. Blood. 87(6): 2095-2147.

Du Gas LM, Ross PS, Walker J, Marlatt VL, Kennedy CJ. 2017. Effects of atrazine and chlorothalonil on the reproductive success, development, and growth of early life stage sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). Environmental Toxicology. 36(1): 1354-1364.

Fiorino E, Sehonova P, Plhalova L, Blahova J, Svobodova Z, Faggio C. 2018. Effects of glyphosate on early life stages: comparison between Cyprinus carpio and Danio rerio. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 25(9): 8542-8549.

Fu Y, Li M, Liu C, Qu JP, Zhu WJ, Xing HJ, Xu SW, Li S. 2013. Effect of atrazine and chlorpyrifos exposure on cytochrome P450 contents and enzyme activities in common carp gills. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 94(1): 28-36.

Gauthier PT & Vijayan MM. 2020. Municipal wastewater effluent exposure disrupts early development, larval behavior, and stress response in zebrafish. Environmental Pollution. 259(1).

Gibbons D, Morrissey C, Mineau P. 2014. A review of the direct and indirect effects of neonicotinoids and fipronil on vertebrate wildlife. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 22(1): 103-118.

Giroux I. 2015. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau du Québec: Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2011 à 2014. Ministère du Développement durable, de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction du suivi de l'état de l'environnement.

Giroux, I. 2019. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2015 à 2017, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction générale du suivi de l'état de l'environnement, 64 p. + 6 ann.

Goksoyr A. 1995. Use of cytochrome P450 1A (CYP1A) in fish as a biomarker of aquatic pollution. Toxicology in Transition. 17(1): 80-95.

Health Canada. 2018. Special Review of clothianidin risk to aquatic invertebrates: proposed decision for consultation. Pest Management Regulatory Agency. https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2018/sc-hc/h113-30/H113-30-2018-1-eng.pdf

Hong X, Zhao X, Tian X, Li J, Zha J. 2018. Changes of hematological and biochemical parameters revealed genotoxicity and immunotoxicity of neonicotinoids on Chinese rare minnows (Gobiocypris rarus). Environemental Pollution. 223(1): 862-871.

118

Jager T. 2013. All individuals are not created equal; accounting for interindividual variation in fitting life-history responses to toxicants. Environmental Science and Technology. 47(3): 1664-1669.

Jawad LA, hansen TJ, Meier Sonnich, Skjaeraasen JE, Fjelldal PG. 2018. Vertebral column deformity in adult wild haddock (Melanogrammus aeglefinus). Journal of Fish Diseases. 41(12): 1909-1915.

Kennedy AJ, Cherry DS, Currie RJ. 2003. Field and laboratory assessment of a coal processing effluent in thee Leading Creek Watershed, Meigs County, Ohio. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 44(1): 324-331.

Lin Sun P, Hawkins WE, Overstreet RM, Brown-Peterson N. 2009. Morphological deformities as biomarkers in fish from contaminated rivers in Taiwan. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 6(8): 2307-2331.

Liu P, Ewald J, Galvez JH, Head J, Crump D, Bourque G, Basu N, Xia J. 2021. Seq2Fun: ultrafast functional profiling of RNAseq data for non-model organisms. Genome Research (<u>10.1101/gr.269894.120</u>)

Mao X, Cai T, Olyarchuk JG, Wei L. 2005. Automated genome annotation and pathway identification using the KEGG Orthology (KO) as a controlled vocabulary. Bioinformatics. 21(19): 3787-3793.

Marlatt VL, Sherrard R, Kennedy CJ, Elphick JR, Martyniuk CJ. 2016. Application of molecular endpoints in early life stage salmonid environmental biomonitoring. Aquatic Toxicology. 173(1): 178-191.

Marlatt VL, Leung TYG, Calbick S, Metcalfe C, Kennedy C. 2019. Sub-lethal effects of a neonicotinoid, clothianidin, on wild early life stage sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). Aquatic Toxicology. 217(1).

Mhadhbi L & Beiras R. 2012. Acute toxicity of seven selected pesticides (Alachlor, atrazine, dieldrin, diuron, pirimiphos-methyl, chlorpyrifos, diazinon) to the marine fish (turbot, Psetta maxima). Water, Air, & Soil Pollution. 223(9): 5917-5930.

Miner JH & Yurchenco PD. 2004. Laminin functions in tissue morphogenesis. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology. 20(1): 255-284.

Mohammed A. 2013. Why are early life stages of aquatic organisms more sensitive to toxicants than adults. In: New Insights into Toxicity and Drug Testing. Chapter 3, 49-62.

Montiel-León JM, Muoz G, Vo Duy S, Tien Do D, Vaudreuil MA, Goeury K, Guillemette F, Amyot M, Sauvé S. 2019. Widespread occurrence and spatial distribution of glyphosate, atrazine, and neonicotinoids pesticides in the St-Lawrence and tributary rivers. Environmental Pollution. 259(1): 29-39.

Oliva M, Garrido C, Sales D, Gonzalez de Canales ML. 2008. Lindane toxicity on early life stages of gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) with a note on its histopathological manifestations. 2008. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 25(1): 94-102.

Osterauer R & Köhler HR. 2008. Temperature-dependent effects of the pesticides thiacloprid and diazinon on the embryonic development of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Aquatic Toxicology. 86(4): 485-494.

Perez J, Domingues I, Monteiro M, Soares AMVM, Loureiro S. 2013. Synergistic effects caused by atrazine and terbuthylazine on chlorpyrifos toxicity to early-life stages of the zebrafish Danio rerio. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 20(1): 4671-4680.

Richterova Z, Machova J, Stara A, Tumova J, Velisek J, Sevcikova M, Svobodova Z. 2015. Effects of a cypermethrin-based pesticide on early life stages of common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). Veterinarni Medicina. 60(8): 423-431.

Robinson MD, McCarthy DJ, Smyth GK. 2010. EdgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. Bioinformatics. 26(1): 139-140.

Schneider SL, & Lim HW. 2019. Review of environmental effects of oxybenzone and other sunscreen active ingredients. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 80(1): 266-271.

Burns EE, Csiszar SA, Roush KS, Davies IA. 2021. National scale down-the-drain environmental risk assessment of oxybenzone in the United States. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management. 17(5): 951-960.

Schreder ED and La Guardia MJ. 2014. Flame retardant transfers from U.S. households (dust and laundry wastewater) to the aquatic environment. Environmental Science and Technology. 48(19): 11575-11583.

Simoneau M & Thibault G. 2009. État de l'écosystème aquatique du bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu: faits saillants 2005-2007. In Synthèse: Québec. p. 23.

Simonnet-Laprade C., Bayen S, Le Bizec B., Dervilly G. Data analysis strategies for the characterization of chemical contaminant mixtures. Fish as a case study. Environment International. 2021. 155, 106610.

Stepanova S, Praskova E, Chromcova L, Zelnickova L, Divisova L, Skoric M, Pistekova V, Bedanova I, Svobodova Z. The effects of subchronic exposure to metribuzin on Danio rerio. The Scientific World Journal. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/728189

Sulukan E, Köktürk M, Ceylan H, Beydemir S, Isik M, Atamanalp M, Ceyhun SB. 2017. An approach to clarify the effect mechanism of glyphosate on body malformations during embryonic development of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 180(1): 77-85.

Tian Z, Zhao H, Peter KT, Gonzalez M, WWetzel J, Wu C, Hu X, Prat J, Mudrock E, Hettinger R, Cortina A, Biswas RG, Kock FVC, Soong R, Jenne A, Du B, Hou F, He H, Lundeen R,

Gilbreath A, Sutton R, Scholz N, Davis JW, Dodd MC, Simpson A, Mcintyre J, Kolodziej EP. 2020. A ubiquitous tire rubber-derived chemical induces acute mortality in coho salmon. Science. 371 (6525): 185-189.

Ullah S, Jalil M, Zorriehzahra J. 2014. Ecotoxicology: A review of pesticides induced toxicity in fish. Advances in Animal and Veterinary Sciences. 3(1): 40-57.

Vachon N. 2014. Annual young-of-the-year redhorse survey in the Richelieu River: Main approach to measure the achievement of the objectives of protection and recovery of the copper redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi). In 144th Annual American Fisheries Society.

Vachon N, Velasquez Medina S, Grondin P. 2019. Motilité des spermatozoïdes du chevalier cuivré dans les différents traitements de cryopréservation en 2013, ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs, Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, Secteur de la faune, Rapport technique 16-47, 24p.

Vachon, N. 2021a. Reproduction artificielle, ensemencements et suivi de la population du chevalier cuivré (*Moxostoma hubbsi*) en 2018. Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, Secteur des opérations régionales, ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs. Rapport technique 16-57, viii + 43 p.

Vachon, N. 2021b. Reproduction artificielle, ensemencements et suivi de la population du chevalier cuivré (*Moxostoma hubbsi*) en 2019. Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, Secteur des opérations régionales, ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs, Rapport technique 16-58, vii + 30 p.

Velki M, Meyer-Alert, Seiler TB, Hollert H. 2017. Enzymatic activity and gene expression changes in zebrafish embryos and larvae exposed to pesticides diazinon and diuron. Aquatic Toxicology. 193(1): 187-200.

Vignet C, Cappello T, Fu Q, Lajoie K, De Marco G, Clérandeau C, Mottaz H, Maisano M, Hollender J, Schirmer K, Cachot J. 2019. Imidacloprid induces adverse effects on fish early life stages that are more severe in Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) than in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 225(1): 470-478.

Wang H, Xi H, Xu L, Jin M, Zhao W, Liu H. 2021. Ecotoxicological effects, environmental fate and risks of pharmaceutical and personal care products in the water environment: A review. Science of the Total Environment. 788 (1): 147819

Wang W, Liu Q, Zhang T, Chen L, Lu S, Xu S. 2020. Glyphosate induces lymphocyte cell dysfunction and apoptosis via regulation of miR-203 targeting of PIK3R1 in common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). Fish and Shellfish Immunology. 101(1): 51-57.

Wang Y, Lv L, Yu Y, Yang G, Xu Z, Wang Q, Cai L. 2017. Single and joint toxic effects of five selected pesticides on the early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 170(1): 61-67.

Yan SH, Wang JH, Zhu LS, Chen AM, Wang J. 2016. Thiamethoxam induces oxidative stress and antioxidant response in zebrafish (Danio rerio) livers. Environmental Toxicology. 31(12): 2006-2015.

Zhang Z, Liu Q, Cai J, Yang J, Shen Q, Xu S. 2017. Chlorpyrifos exposure in common (Cyprinus carpio L.) leads to oxidative stress and immune responses. Fish & shellfish Immunology. 67(1): 604-611.

Zhou G, Soufan O, Ewald J, Hancock REW, Basu N, Xia J. (2019). NetworkAnalyst 3.0: a visual analytics platform for comprehensive gene expression profiling and meta-analysis. Nucleic Acids Research. 47 (W1): W234-W241.

Preface to Chapter 4

The previous chapter demonstrated that exposure to river water during ELS caused premature hatching of both river and copper redhorse and decreased the survival of the latter only. I have also shown that exposure to river water causes alteration in expression of genes related to the immune system and metabolism. I have also shown that pesticide concentrations peak at Saint-Ours along the Richelieu River following heavy rain events.

In this chapter I performed a more holistic, temporal and spatial analysis of the contamination of the Richelieu River and two of its tributaries to better understand the exposome of river and copper redhorse. Preliminary water samples were collected in winter, far from the agricultural season, to determine baseline contamination of the river. Then a complementary sampling approach was used in copper redhorse spawning grounds using passive samplers and daily grab samples during the river and copper redhorse spawning season. The data collected provided an overview of the river contamination, demonstrated peaks in pesticide concentrations following rain events during the fish spawning season. We also identified two insecticides that were above toxicity thresholds for aquatic life. Identifying the level of pesticide contamination in the river was the second step in understand the effects of early life exposure to environmental pesticides in wild fish.

Chapter 4

4. Pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu river and its tributaries during the spawning period of threatened and endangered fishes.

4.1 Title page

Title of the manuscript

Pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu river and its tributaries during the spawning period of threatened and endangered fishes.

Authors:

Hugo Marchand¹, Benjamin D. Barst², Emily Boulanger¹, Nathalie Vachon³, Magali Houde⁴, Lan Liu¹, Stephane Bayen¹, Jessica A. Head^{*1}

Affiliations:

 1: Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, McGill University, Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Quebec, Canada
 2: Water and Environmental Research Center, University of Alaska Fairbanks, Fairbanks, AK, USA
 3 : Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec, Longueuil, Quebec, Canada

4: Aquatic Contaminants Research Division, Environment and Climate Change Canada, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

*corresponding author: jessica.head@mcgill.ca

Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by Fisheries and Oceans Canada National Contaminants Advisory Group (DFO-NCAG). We are grateful for the help of Jenny Eng (McGill), Nil Basu (McGill), Mélisssa Lamoureux (MFFP), Sylvain Desloges (MFFP), Marc-Antoine Couillard (MFFP), Ève Surprenant-Desjardins (MFFP), Laurie Mercier (ECCC) and all other ECCC and MFFP staff that

helped in the field. We thank Jean-François Roy (Agilent Technologies) for providing the CS-C18 column.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

4.2 List of Figures

Figure 12: Map of the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada) indicating the locations of water sampling. B) The Richelieu River is located in southeastern Canada. The Richelieu River is east of Montreal and flows from Lake Champlain (USA) to the St. Lawrence River (Canada). B) The Saint-Ours sampling site (indicated with the arrow) is downstream of the Saint-Ours Dam. This is the most downstream sampling location. Copper redhorse spawn in the rapids downstream of the Saint-Ours Dam. Passive samplers were also deployed at this location. C) The Acadie Tributary, Huron Tributary and Richelieu River Chambly sampling sites (indicated with the arrows) are in and around the Chambly basin. Chambly is the most upstream sampling location. Copper redhorse also spawn in the Chambly rapids within the Chambly basin. Passive samplers were also deployed at the Richelieu River Chambly location. The two tributaries that pour into the Richelieu (Acadie and Huron) were sampled as close as possible to the Richelieu River.......... 132

Figure 13: Daily pesticide concentrations (ng/L) measured in 2 locations in the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) and two of its tributaries (Acadie and Huron Rivers) during the river and copper redhorse spawning season. Daily surface water grab samples were hand-collected (4 times 40 mL/per location and per day). Precipitation (mm) during sample collection is also presented. Note that aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is a degradation product of glyphosate and thiamethoxam is the precursor of clothianidin. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life are shown as solid red lines only for compounds in exceedance of the threshold. Thresholds for other compounds not shown on graph are A) AMPA: not available, B) Atrazine: 1800 ng/L, C) Chlorantraniliprole E) Glyphosate: 65,000 ng/L, F) Imazethapyr: 8100 ng/L, H) Metolachlor: 7800 ng/L.

4.3 List of Tables

Table 9. Time weighted daily average pesticide concentrations measured in passive sampler disc deployed in each of copper redhorse spawning grounds. The time weighted average concentrations were calculated using the average concentrations per disc (6 disc per unit) for each of the two field replicates (units) deployed in each location. The long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life for each compound is from The Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environments (CCME).

Table 10. Pesticide concentrations per sampler (disc) (ng) measured in passive samplers after a 28- (Chambly) or 29- (Saint-Ours) day deployment in 2 locations along the Richelieu River. These are the absolute concentrations measured in the passive samplers and not daily averages. The letters A and B represent field replicates, two per location, each containing 6 sampling discs. 144

Table 11. List of compounds analyzed (pesticides multiresidue analysis) from passive samplersdeployed in each of the copper redhorse spawning grounds.157

4.4 Abstract

Many fishes spawn in the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada) during the spring and summer months. This is also a period of intensive agricultural activity when pesticides are applied and leach from adjacent fields into the Richelieu and its tributaries. Here we provide a detailed temporal data describing concentrations of pesticides and other contaminants in the Richelieu River and two tributaries throughout the month of June, 2018. Our complementary and thorough approach based on targeted temporal trends, and integrative passive sampling, captures in detail what early life stage fishes may be exposed to during a sensitive developmental period. Several species of fish spawn in the Richelieu River during this month, including the threatened river redhorse (Moxostoma carinatum) and the endangered copper redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi). We detected a total of 69 compounds in river water, of which 31 were pesticides (12 herbicides, 16 insecticides and 3 fungicides) including many that have been previously banned. The remaining compounds included 12 polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and 26 pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs). Pesticide concentrations varied from ng/L to µg/L levels, and peaked following rainfall. Notably the 2 neonicotinoids, thiamethoxam and clothianidin, were detected at concentrations exceeding the Canadian freshwater chronic safety thresholds for aquatic life.

4.5 Introduction

Global increases in agricultural activities and pesticide use have occurred over the last half century (Fulton et al. 2013). This is concerning, in part, due to increasing contamination of surface water with pesticides and associated threats to aquatic biodiversity (Stehle & Schulz 2015). To increase crop yields, multiple pesticides are often applied to crops either together or in succession, which can lead to contamination of surface waters with a cocktail of compounds to which aquatic fauna are continuously exposed (de Souza et al. 2020). Moreover, in mixed use watersheds containing both urban areas and agricultural fields, pesticides in streams and rivers are also accompanied by other types of compounds sourced from urban runoff and municipal wastewater. Collectively these compounds may pose risks to various taxa, including algae (de Baat 2018), invertebrates (Morrissey 2015), crustaceans (Zaleska-Radziwill et al. 2011), and fishes (Zaleska-Radziwill et al. 2011).

The current study focuses on pesticides and other contaminants in surface water from the Richelieu River and two of its tributaries: the Acadie and Huron Tributaries. The Richelieu River originates from Lake Champlain (New York/Vermont) in the United States and flows northward to the Saint-Lawrence River (Quebec) in Canada (Figure 1). Up to 70% of the Richelieu River's watershed is dedicated to agriculture (Simoneau & Thibault 2009). Additionally, the river is bordered by 64 municipalities and 26 municipal wastewater treatment facilities. At least 80 species of fishes inhabit the Richelieu River's watershed (MFFP 2018), and it is a spawning location for many threatened species such as lake sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*) (Thiem et al. 2013), the river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*) (COSEWIC 2015), as well as the endangered copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*) (COSEWIC 2014). Legacy organic contaminants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and dioxins and furans have been monitored in Richelieu River water consistently since the early 2000s (Laliberté 2020). These compounds have all remained stable over the last 20 years and maximum concentrations are consistently below the provincial criteria for the prevention of aquatic organism contamination (CPCO).

Pesticide concentrations have been monitored in the Huron River, one of the Richelieu River tributaries, consistently since the early 1990s. Pesticide concentrations above the safety threshold for the protection of aquatic life have been reported for both the Acadie and Huron Tributaries (Giroux 2015 & 2019), as well as in the Richelieu River itself (Marchand et al. 2022). Between 2015 and 2017, 70% of the surface water samples collected from the Huron River had clothianidin and thiamethoxam concentrations exceeding the provincial surface water quality criteria for the protection of aquatic life (Giroux 2019). In the spring including during the copper redhorse spawning period, pesticide concentrations in river water peak following heavy rain events, a trend that has been consistently observed over many years of monitoring (Giroux 2015 & 2019). For example, baseline total pesticide concentrations in the water of tributaries of the Richelieu are typically in the ng/L range (Giroux 2015), but following heavy rain events, concentrations can be 10 times higher than the baseline levels. Contaminant monitoring in the Acadie and Huron Tributaries is part of a larger effort across Quebec's highly agricultural Saint-Lawrence Valley (Giroux 2015 & 2019). Though water quality monitoring has provided valuable data for contamination trends in the watershed since the early 1990s, due to the watershed's size monitoring efforts have provided an overview of pesticide concentrations at a large spatial scale and coarse

temporal resolution. In this critical habitat for fish, understanding the pattern of contamination at a finer temporal scale during critical periods of embryonic development for aquatic species is important. Precise daily variations of pesticide concentrations in small river systems of the region are poorly understood since previous data were collected over multiple day intervals.

Accordingly, the objective of the current study was to screen pesticides and other contaminants in surface waters of the Richelieu River, and two of its tributaries: the Acadie and Huron Tributaries. We specifically targeted two sites in the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) that are the only known spawning areas for the endangered copper redhorse. The two sites are also used for spawning by other native threatened fishes, including the river redhorse and both lake and Atlantic sturgeon. Daily grab samples of surface water and passive samplers were used as complementary methods to assess water contamination over broader and finer time scales. The collection of water from two major tributaries, helped us to understand how and when pesticides reach the Richelieu River. We focussed on a window of time that encompasses spawning and the first three to four weeks of development for many native fishes. Though this period is relatively short, it is a critical developmental period during which fishes are most sensitive to contaminants (Mohammed 2013). Our data will improve our understanding of which mixtures early life stage fishes and other aquatic fauna are exposed to in the environment and how these mixtures vary spatially and temporally in an ecologically important river system.

4.6 Materials and Methods

Study sites

We sampled water from four different sampling sites. The first two are spawning grounds, used by lake sturgeon, Atlantic sturgeon, river redhorse and copper redhorse, along the Richelieu River, in the Chambly basin (45.454787, -73.273872) and below the Saint-Ours dam (45.863251 - 73.149889) (**Figure 12**). The two other sampling sites were at the mouth of two of the larger tributaries entering the Richelieu River: Acadie (45.480126, -73.280649) and Huron (45.458674, -73.258830) Tributaries (**Figure 12C**). The Chambly sampling site is upstream of where the two tributaries join the Richelieu River and the Saint-Ours sampling site is downstream (**Figure 12C**).



Figure 12: Map of the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada) indicating the locations of water sampling. B) The Richelieu River is located in southeastern Canada. The Richelieu River is east of Montreal and flows from Lake Champlain (USA) to the St. Lawrence River (Canada). B) The Saint-Ours sampling site (indicated with the arrow) is downstream of the Saint-Ours Dam. This is the most downstream sampling location. Copper redhorse spawn in the rapids downstream of the Saint-Ours Dam. Passive samplers were also deployed at this location. C) The Acadie Tributary, Huron Tributary and Richelieu River Chambly sampling sites (indicated with the arrows) are in and around the Chambly basin. Chambly is the most upstream sampling location. Copper redhorse also spawn in the Chambly rapids within the Chambly basin. Passive samplers were also

deployed at the Richelieu River Chambly location. The two tributaries that pour into the Richelieu (Acadie and Huron) were sampled as close as possible to the Richelieu River.

Sampling

A set of preliminary surface water grab samples (n = 2 per location and 2 field blanks) were collected, outside of the agricultural season, in the Richelieu River at both Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) locations on December 17, 2017. Then from June 5th to July 6th (2018), two complementary water sampling methods were used; daily grab samples and passive samplers. This period include both of river and copper redhorse spawning period which span from early to mid-June and from mid-June to early July respectively. Daily grab samples of water were collected on most days of the sampling period from the two locations in the Richelieu River and at the mouths of the two tributaries. For both the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours sites), water was sampled daily below rapids where water was well mixed. For both Acadie and Huron Tributaries, surface water was sampled as close to the Richelieu River as possible. Daily grab samples were hand-collected following the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) protocol (2011) using 50 mL polyethylene tubes. At each location four tubes filled to 40mL were collected. Once collected, samples were kept on ice packs in a cooler in the field before being kept frozen at -20°C until they were analyzed. The data from the Richelieu River Saint-Ours sampling location were previously presented in Marchand et al. 2022 in order to give context to results on the biological effects of river water exposure to early life stage river and copper redhorse at this site. Water quality measurements (pH, dissolved oxygen, temperature, conductivity, turbidity) were collected at each sampling location using a YSI ProDSS multiparameter water quality meter at the time of sampling.

Polar organic chemical integrative samplers (POCIS) (Environmental Sampling Technologies Inc, USA) were deployed to estimate bioavailable pesticides in the water over the month of June, which encompasses most of the river and copper redhorse breeding seasons. In total, four passive sampler units were deployed in the Richelieu River; two units in Chambly (45.452441; -73.278446 & 45.455628; -73.273586) and two units in Saint-Ours (45.864353; -73.148476 & 45.864175; -73.149934). Each unit consisted of 6 POCIS discs placed in a metal cage (total of 24 discs deployed). Passive sampler units were attached to chain-anchored buoys approximately 1 meter below the surface. Passive samplers were deployed near copper redhorse spawning grounds in areas with a high level of turbulence indicating that water was well mixed. Mixing of water was confirmed by water quality measurements (conductivity, dissolved oxygen, pH, temperature,

turbidity) at different depths using a YSI probe. The POCIS membrane were kept in sealed containers until deployment, when they were rapidly and carefully inserted in the protective unit using nitrile gloves. Passive samplers were deployed on June 8th, 2018 in Chambly and on June 9th, 2018 in Saint-Ours. All passive samplers were recovered on July 6th, 2018 (29 days in Chambly, 28 days in Saint-Ours). Once recovered, POCIS disks were kept in sealed containers in a cooler on ice packs and were sent overnight to SGS Axys (Sidney, British Columbia).

Preliminary off-season screening

The preliminary winter water samples were sent to SGS Axys (Sidney, British Columbia) for multi-residue pesticides (including glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA)), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) analysis. Concentrations of pesticides in water were assessed following the US EPA method 1699 using high resolution gas chromatography and high resolution mass spectrometry (EPA 2007). Concentrations of PBDE and congeners in water was assessed following US EPA method 1614A using isotope dilution and high resolution gas chromatography and high resolution mass spectrometry (HRGC/HRMS) (EPA 2010). Concentrations of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in water was assessed following US EPA method 1694 using high performance liquid chromatography combined with mass spectrometry (HLPC/MS/MS) (EPA 2007). These results also helped to guide selection of 9 compounds for the targeted analysis.

Targeted analysis of daily grab samples

Nine pesticides were selected for targeted analysis, these pesticides were previously detected most often and/or with the highest concentrations in the Acadie and Huron Tributaries (Giroux 2015). Grab water samples were analyzed using targeted liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC-MS) to identify 9 pesticides (AMPA, atrazine, clothianidin, chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imazethapyr, imidacloprid, metolachlor, thiamethoxam) and their concentrations. Details of standard solution preparation, sample preparation and instrumental methods are given in Marchand et al. 2022. Briefly, water samples were prepared by spiking a 10 μ L internal standard mixture and 100 μ L methanol into 890 μ L of river water, followed by filtration with a 0.22 μ m PTFE syringe filter (Canadian Life Science, Canada) before introduction into the LC-MS. Mass-labeled standards at constant concentration were used as an internal standard to compensate for any

systematic errors due to native compounds (as recommended in USEPA methods (e.g. Method 1694)). Data were collected with an Agilent 1290 Infinity II LC system coupled to the 6545 Quadrupole-Time of Flight–Mass Spectrometry (Q-TOF-MS) (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA). The LC separation was performed on a CS-C18 column (Agilent Technologies; $2.1 \mu m \times 150 mm$). Method performances were assessed in terms of linearity of the calibration response, method detection limits, the method quantification limits, precision, relative recoveries, and matrix effects.

Passive Samplers

At SGS Axys, each POCIS was individually extracted using methanol. Half of the six samplers extracted from each location were combined and then concentrated using rotary evaporation and nitrogen concentration. Extracts were transferred to analytical vials and laboratory blanks and mass-labeled spiked samples were prepared. Blanks, spiked samples, and POCIS extracts were analyzed for multi-residue pesticide (50 parent compounds and 25 degradation products) (Supporting information, **Table 11**) analysis by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Extracts from the remaining three samplers were combined, sealed in 1 mL amber glass ampullae and stored at -20°C.

Data analyses

Average concentrations per compounds were calculated from the two preliminary winter samples for the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours locations). The averages per compound were then compared between the two locations and with the summer concentrations. For the targeted compounds, we used the daily values to determine the range of concentrations and the highest concentrations for each location. Concentration ranges and maximum concentrations were potted and visually compared between locations. We plotted precipitation data (obtained from the Government of Canada website (https://climate.weather.gc.ca) from the l'Assomption (QC) station which is the closest (~21 km from Richelieu River Saint-Ours site) to our sampling locations) with measured concentrations to establish a relationship. For the passive samplers, average water pesticide concentrations were obtained by dividing POCIS concentrations by individual sampling rates (Supporting information, **Table 12**) and time deployed in days (Alvarez et al. 2007). For each location, the average of the 2 deployed passive sampler units was calculated.

4.7 Results

Water Parameters

Water temperature was closely matched in the tributaries (Huron and Acadie) and the Richelieu River sites (St. Ours and Chambly) and increased throughout the month of June. On average, conductivity and turbidity were higher in the tributaries than in the Richelieu River, whereas dissolved oxygen and pH were higher in the Huron Tributary. All water parameters appeared to be affected by precipitation. In all the sampling locations, pH, percentage dissolved oxygen and temperature decreased following heavy rain events while turbidity increased. Conductivity decreased in the tributaries following heavy rain events while the opposite effect was observed in the Richelieu River (Supporting information, **Figure 14A-E**).

Preliminary off-season screening

Analysis of winter grab samples focussed on pesticides, PBDEs and PPCPs. In total, across the 2 sampling locations along the Richelieu, we detected 50 of the 291 analytes targeted in the water (**Table 7**). These included 12 pesticides, 12 PBDEs and 26 PPCPs (**Table 7**). Of the 50 analytes detected, 48 and 42 were detected in the Richelieu River sites (Chambly and Saint-Ours respectively). Two PBDEs (2,2',3,3',4,5,5',6,6'-NoBDE and 2,2',3,4,4',5',6-HpBDE) were only detected in the Richelieu River Saint-Ours site. Five PPCPs (10-hydroxy-amitriptyline, amphetamine, clarithromycin, Diphenhydramine and Oxazepam) and 3 pesticides (dieldrin, endrin and endrin ketone) were only detected in the Richelieu River Chambly site.

Table 7. Contaminant concentrations (ng/L) measured in winter samples (collected in December 2017) from the Richelieu River Chambly and Saint-Ours sampling locations. The concentration detected in each sample (n=2 per location) is presented. Canadian environmental water quality guidelines values for the protection of aquatic life (long term) are only available for atrazine (1,800 ng/L), glyphosate (800,000 ng/L), metolachlor (7800 ng/L) and simazine (10,000 ng/L). No concentrations exceeded these guidelines. Concentration preceded by "<" are below the detection limit, which is given as the value.

	1	Concentrations ng/L			
Туре	Compounds	Chambly	Saint-Ours		
PBDEs	2,2',3,3',4,4',5,5',6,6'- DeBDE	<0.3, 0.6	<0.3, 0.4		

	2,2',3,3',4,4',5,6,6'- NoBDE	<0.001, 0.089	<0.001, 0.005
	2,2',4,4',5-PeBDE	0.02, 0.02	0.024, 0.062
	2,2',4,4'-TeBDE	0.024, 0.024	<0.020, 0.026
	2,2',3,3',4,4',5,5',6- NoBDE	<0.020, 0.046	<0.020, 0.024
	2,2',3,3',4,5,5',6,6'- NoBDE	<0.001, <0.001	<0.001, 0.038
	2,2',4,4',6-PeBDE	<0.002, 0.005	0.005, 0.013
	2,2',3,4,4',5,5',6- OcBDE	0.002, 0.009	<0.001, 0.005
	2,2',4,4',5,6'-HxBDE	<0.002, 0.003	< 0.002, 0.005
	2,2',4,4',5,5'-HxBDE	<0.002, 0.003	< 0.002, 0.006
	2,2',3,4,4'-PeBDE	0.001, 0.002	0.002, 0.004
	2 2' 2 4 4' 5' C Happe	<0.001,	<0.001_0.003
	2,2,3,4,4,3,0-првре	< 0.001	(01001, 01002
	Metformin	495, 497	497, 578
	Acetaminophen	346, 349	204, 258
	Caffeine	220, 238	195, 235
	Iopamidol	238, 258	178, 193
	Theophylline	145, 169	150, 178
	1,7-Dimethylxanthine	112, 125	123, 135
	Valsartan	24, 28	27, 27
PPCPs	DEET	14, 15	8, 23
	Venlafaxine	9.4, 10.2	6.2, 6.6
	Benzoylecgonine	6.1, 6.5	7.1, 7.1
	Cotinine	6.7, 6.8	6.2, 6.8
	Atenolol	3.9, 4.3	4.0, 4.2
	Carbamazepine	3.4, 4.3	2.8, 4.3
	Ranitidine	2.8, 3.2	2.7, 2.7
	Sulfamethoxazole	2.4, 2.6	1.8, 1.9
	Diltiazem	1.4, 1.7	1.0, 1.1

	Oxazepam	<4.3, 4.4	<4.3, <4.3
	Cocaine	0.93, 0.95	0.66. 1.10
	Citalopram	1.1, 1.3	0.5, 0.8
	Sertraline	0.6, 0.7	0.6, 0.7
	Clarithromycin	<1.6, 2.3	<1.6, <1.6
	Triamterene	0.5, 0.6	0.4, 0.5
	Amphetamine	<1.6, 1.7	<1.6, <1.6
	Desmethyldiltiazem	0.4, 0.5	0.3, 0.3
	Diphenhydramine	<0.6, 0.7	<0.6, <0.6
	10-hydroxy-amitriptyline	0.21, 0.29	<0.20, <0.20
	Aminomethylphosphonic Acid [AMPA]	57, 60	47, 48
	Atrazine	30, 31	32, 33
	Glyphosate	24, 25	21, 48
	Metolachlor	18, 18	16, 16
	Desethylatrazine	6.1, 9.5	5.8, 6.8
Pesticides	Simazine	1.7, 2.9	2.5, 2.6
	Dimethenamid	0.9, 1.0	0.4, 0.4
	Hexachlorobenzene	0.02, 0.03	0.02, 0.03
	Dieldrin	0.02, 0.02	<0.01, <0.01
	Endrin	<0.01, 0.02	<0.01, <0.01
	Endrin Ketone	<0.01, <0.01	<0.01, <0.01
	HCH, alpha (lindane)	< 0.01, 0.02	<0.01, 0.03

Targeted analysis of daily grab samples

Analysis of water samples collected in June focussed on the 9 targeted pesticide. Atrazine and metolachlor were consistently detected at all sampling sites, and Imazethapyr was consistently detected in both tributaries but only in 30% and 44% of the samples from the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours respectively) sites (**Table 8**). All 9 of the targeted pesticides were detected in the Acadie Tributary and all but imidacloprid were detected in the Huron Tributary

(**Table 8**). In the Richelieu River, 6 pesticides were detected at Chambly and Saint-Ours (AMPA, atrazine, clothianidin, imazethapyr, metolachlor, thiamethoxam) (**Table 8**). Levels of detected pesticides were higher in the water from the tributaries than in water from the Richelieu River. The one exception was AMPA, which was measured at higher concentrations in the Richelieu River than the tributaires in 74% of samples (**Figure 13**).

A general trend of low or non-detectable levels of pesticides which spiked in the days after a large rainfall was observed throughout the month of June. Two major concentration peaks were observed for AMPA, atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate, imazethapyr, metolachlor and thiamethoxam, following heavy rain events on June 4th (21 mm) and June 18th (32mm) (**Figure 13**). This trend was less consistent for the two remaining chemicals, chlorantraniliprole and imidacloprid, both of which were detected infrequently and only in the tributaries.

Of the nine targeted compounds, only two nicotinoids pesticides (clothianidin and thiamethoxam) were measured at least once above the Canadian freshwater safety threshold for chronic aquatic life (**Table 8**). The other chemicals (atrazine, chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imidacloprid, imazethapyr) were at least 1 order of magnitude below the Canadian freshwater safety threshold for chronic aquatic life while metolachlor was close (**Table 8**). There is currently no Canadian freshwater safety threshold for chronic aquatic life for AMPA.

Passive Samplers

Analysis of extracts from passive samplers focussed on hydrophilic organic pesticides and their degradation products. Of the 77 compounds measured in the extracts from the passive samplers, 21 were detected at least once. This included 16 parent compounds and 5 degradates (**Table 10**). A total of 14 compounds (12 parent compounds and 2 degradates) were detected in the Richelieu River (both Chambly and Saint-Ours), of which 6 are herbicides, 5 are insecticides and 3 are fungicides. The remaining compounds, the herbicide linuron and the insecticides diazinon, endrin, chlordane, two of its degradation products chlordane alpha and trans nonachlor and heptachlor degradation product heptachlor epoxy were only detected at Richelieu River Saint-Ours site. For the compounds with available published sampling rates, the calculated time weighted average concentrations of pesticides recovered from the passive samplers were all below the CCME toxicity threshold for chronic aquatic life (**Table 9**). Overall, in the Richelieu River the time

weighted average concentrations of pesticides were all higher at Saint-Ours, which is downstream of Chambly

Table 8. Summary table of toxicity thresholds, detection frequency, ranges and dates of the highest concentrations recorded of pesticide concentrations measured in 2 locations along the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) and two of its tributaries (Acadie and Huron Tributaries). Toxicity thresholds were the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life.

				1	Acadie		Huron			Chambly			Saint-Ours					
Туре	Compound	Toxicity threshold (ng/L)	Detection frequency (%)	range (ng/L)	Average (ng/L)	Date of highest concentration recorded	Detection frequency (%)	range (ng/L)	Average (ng/L)	Date of highest concentration recorded	Detection frequency (%)	range (ng/L)	Average (ng/L)	Date of highest concentration recorded	Detection frequency (%)	range (ng/L)	Average (ng/L)	Date of highest concentration recorded
	Aminomethyl- phosphonic acid (AMPA)	NA	32	<150- 7231	925	10-Jun	32	<150- 3238	584	07-Jun	75	<150- 3187	923	08-Jun	84	<150- 3940	844	08-Jun
	Atrazine	1800	100	23- 811	177	19-Jun*	100	15- 569	100	19-Jun*	100	7-38	21	19-Jun*	100	7-257	36	19-Jun*
Herbicides	Glyphosate	65000	58	<220- 969	205	19-Jun*	32	<220- 947	131	19-Jun*	0	<220	0	-	0	<220	0	-
	Imazethapyr	8100	100	7-548	140	21-Jun	100	6-658	111	19-Jun*	30	<1-48	5	07-Jun	44	<1- 179	14	19-Jun*
	Metolachlor	7800	100	184- 6243	1455	05-Jun	100	114- 7008	980	19-Jun*	100	10-38	78	07-Jun	100	13- 1247	131	19-Jun*
	Chlorantranil- iprole	220	5	<9-12	1	07-Jun	21	<9-26	4	06-Jun	0	<9	0	-	0	<9	0	-
icides	Clothianidin	20	32	<6- 199	27	07-Jun	32	<6- 198	35	19-Jun*	5	<6-8	0	14-Jun	4	<6-43	2	19-Jun*
Insect	Imidacloprid	230	5	<4-41	2	07-Jun	0	<4	0	-	0	<4	0	-	0	<4	0	-
	Thiamethoxam	20	63	<1- 395	57	07-Jun	68	<1- 607	69	06-Jun	20	<1-47	6	07-Jun	12	<1-24	3	19-Jun*

*19-Jun was the day after the heaviest rain event.



Figure 13: Daily pesticide concentrations (ng/L) measured in 2 locations in the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) and two of its tributaries (Acadie and Huron Rivers) during the river and copper redhorse spawning season. Daily surface water grab samples were hand-collected (4 times 40 mL/per location and per day). Precipitation (mm) during sample collection is also presented. Note that aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) is a degradation product of glyphosate and thiamethoxam is the precursor of clothianidin. Canadian Council of Ministers of the

Environment (CCME) long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life are shown as solid red lines only for compounds in exceedance of the threshold. Thresholds for other compounds not shown on graph are A) AMPA: not available, B) Atrazine: 1800 ng/L, C) Chlorantraniliprole E) Glyphosate: 65,000 ng/L, F) Imazethapyr: 8100 ng/L, H) Metolachlor: 7800 ng/L.

Table 9. Time weighted daily average pesticide concentrations measured in passive sampler disc deployed in each of copper redhorse spawning grounds. The time weighted average concentrations were calculated using the average concentrations per disc (6 disc per unit) for each of the two field replicates (units) deployed in each location. The long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life for each compound is from The Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environments (CCME).

	CCME water quality	Time weighted average concentrations (ng/L)					
Compound (pesticides)	guidelines (ng/L)	Chambly	Saint-Ours				
Ametryn ^a	No data	0.18	0.28				
Atrazine ^a	1800.0	112	201				
Dacthal ^a	No data	0.10	0.13				
Diazinon ^b	4.0	-	0.04				
Dieldrin ^b	4.0	0.10	0.25				
Dimethenamid ^a	5600.0	4.5	13.2				
Endrin ^b	2.3	-	0.02				
Linuron ^a	7000.0	-	1.3				
Metolachlor ^a	7800.0	56	194				
Metribuzin ^a	1000.0	4.7	16.8				
Tebuconazole ^c	No data	0.45	0.49				

- Not detected at this location

^a Herbicides ^b Insecticides ^c Fungicides

Table 10. Pesticide concentrations per sampler (disc) (ng) measured in passive samplers after a 28- (Chambly) or 29- (Saint-Ours) day deployment in 2 locations along the Richelieu River. These are the absolute concentrations measured in the passive samplers and not daily averages. The letters A and B represent field replicates, two per location, each containing 6 sampling discs.

		Chai	nbly	Saint-Ours		
		А	В	А	В	
Herbicides	Atrazine	3120	1560	4260	3860	
	Ametryn	7.5	2.9	7.5	8.4	
	Dacthal	1.3	0.7	1.2	1.2	
	Dimethenamid	229	114	423	540	
--------------	--	------	------	------	------	
	Linuron	-	-	28.2	26.5	
	Metolachlor	2450	1800	6380	7970	
	Metribuzin	92.2	45.6	226	247	
Insecticides	Chlordane, alpha (chlordane)*	-	-	0.3	0.2	
	Chlordane, gamma	-	-	0.7	0.4	
	Diazinon	-	-	2.8	-	
	Dieldrin	0.9	0.6	1.8	1.9	
	Endosulphan sulfate (endosulphan)*	2	-	2.5	2.5	
	Endrin	-	-	0.3	0.1	
	Hexachlorocyclohexane, alpha (lindane)*	1.7	0.9	1.5	1.6	
	Hexachlorocyclohexane, gamma (lindane)	0.7	-	1	0.9	
	Heptachlor (chlordane)	-	0.2	0.1	0.2	
	Heptachlor epoxy (heptachlor) (chlordane)*	-	-	0.5	0.5	
	Nonachlor, trans (chlordane)*	-	-	0.3	-	
Fungicides	Hexachlorobenzene	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	
	Quintozene	1	0.5	4	-	
	Tebuconazole	12.8	6	-	19.7	

*These compounds are degradation products of the compound in parenthesis.

4.8 Discussion

June is an important time of year in the Richelieu River as it is a favored breeding time for many fish species, including those at risk. It is also a period of intensive agricultural activity when pesticides can leach from fields and be found at high concentrations in the river water. Here we provide a detailed temporal analysis of pesticides in the Richelieu river and two tributaries throughout the month of June using daily grab samples, passive samplers and off-season sampling. Overall, our results confirm that fish are exposed to a complex mixture of contaminants; a total of 69 compounds were detected in water, including 31 pesticides (12 herbicides, 16 insecticides and 3 fungicides including several that have been banned in Canada), 12 PBDEs and 26 PPCPs. Pesticides concentrations varied considerably (2 orders of magnitude) over time with peaks associated with rain. Two neonicotinoid pesticides, thiamethoxam and clothianidin, were

frequently detected at concentrations above the Canadian freshwater chronic safety threshold for aquatic life.

Targeted compounds

Nine pesticides were selected for targeted analysis due to their previous occurrence in the watershed (Giroux 2015), known toxicity, and our preliminary data. The selected chemicals are good representatives of current use pesticides in modern corn and soy agriculture. All of the targeted pesticides were detected at least once.

Herbicides

Atrazine is one on the most frequently detected herbicides in surface water worldwide (De Souza et al. 2020). This herbicide is an important tool for large-scale agricultural production of corn and soy, the two crops that are most prevalent in the Richelieu watershed. In the Richelieu River and its tributaries, we detected atrazine in all of our samples in all locations during the month of June. Concentrations in tributaries ranged from 15 to 811 ng/L and concentrations in the Richelieu River ranged from 7 to 38 ng/L at Chambly and 7-257 ng/L at Saint-Ours (Table 8). The time weighted average calculated from the passive samplers gives concentrations in the same range in the Richelieu River (112 ng/L for Chambly and 201 ng/L for Saint-Ours) (Table 9). Similar background concentrations (32 ng/L) of atrazine were also measured in the Richelieu River in December, well outside of the agricultural season (Table 7). Previous data demonstrate that atrazine has been ubiquitous in St. Lawrence watershed, which includes the Richelieu River (Giroux 2019, Montiel-León et al. 2019). Levels of atrazine alone measured in the Richelieu River and its tributaries are expected to have minimal, if any, impact on wildlife. Most studies that report deleterious effects from atrazine in aquatic organisms occur at dose one and two order of magnitude higher than what we measured in the environment (Van Der Kraak et al. 2014, Hanson et al. 2019).

The second herbicide that was omnipresent in our samples was metolachlor, which is also used in Canada for corn and soybean crops. Metolachlor is the targeted compound that we measured at highest concentrations, with maximal values of above 7000 ng/L measured in the Huron Tributary (**Table 8**). Similar metolachlor concentrations (10,500 ng/L) were measured in 2016 in the surface

water of an agricultural area in South Georgia, where it was also the most frequently detected herbicide (Glinski et al. 2018). Sub-lethal effects of metolachlor have been reported at doses in 1000 of ng/L. For example, concentration of 10,000 ng/L of metolachlor increased transcription of thyroid-related genes in female juvenile medaka (Oryzias latipes) (Jin et al. 2011). Peaks of metolachlor concentrations have previously been linked to intense rain events (Griffini et al. 1997, Giroux 2019). In the Richelieu River, concentrations of metolachlor ranged from 10-1247 ng/L (**Table 8**). The time weighted average calculated from the passive samplers gives concentrations in the same range for the Richelieu River (56 ng/L for Chambly and 194 ng/L for Saint-Ours) (**Table 9**). Similar background concentrations (17 ng/L) of metolachlor were also measured in the Richelieu River in December, well outside of the agricultural season (**Table 7**). The concentrations of metolachlor measured in the tributaries were very close to the CCME toxicity threshold, however, concentrations in the Richelieu River itself were 7-20 times lower than levels reported to have an effect on fish (Jin et al. 2011).

Concentrations of the herbicide imazethapyr, in tributaries ranged from 7 to 658 ng/L and concentrations in the Richelieu River ranged from <MDL to 48 ng/L (**Table 8**). Imazethapyr was not measured in the passive samplers nor in the winter samples. The selective mode of action of imazethapyr, inhibition of acetohydroxyacid synthase, an enzyme which is only found in plants suggests minimal effects on non-vegetal organisms (Solomon et al. 2013), but effects in non-target organisms have been reported (Moraes et al. 2011, Costa et al. 2022). Effects on fish such as reduced acetylcholinesterase enzyme activity, increased oxidative stress and protein catabolism have been reported in *Cyprinus carpio* (Moraes et al. 2011), but at doses approximately 20 times higher than the highest concentration of imazethapyr (657.7 ng/L) that was measured in the tributaries in the current study (**Table 8**). Overall the concentrations of imazethapyr measured in the Richelieu River should have minimal effects on the river fish fauna.

Glyphosate is a non-selective, broad spectrum, post-emergence herbicide, often used in combination with genetically engineered glyphosate resistant crops (Borggaard & Gimsing 2007). In our analysis, glyphosate was never detected in the Richelieu River and was detected in 21% and 42% of the samples from, respectively, the Huron and Acadie Tributaries (**Table 8**). It is most likely that glyphosate was present in the Richelieu but the concentrations were below the detection limits of our instruments (220 ng/L). For example, background levels of glyphosate were detected

in the Richelieu River (24 ng/L at Chambly and 22 ng/L at Saint-Ours) during winter (**Table 7**). Also other analysis of surface water in the Richelieu downstream of Saint-Ours showed that glyphosate was detected in 84% of the samples and at concentrations up to 3000 ng/L (Montiel-Leon 2019). Our relatively high detection limit may explain why our detection frequency in the Huron Tributary is about four times lower than the previous years. For example, from 2015-2017 glyphosate has been detected in 96% of the samples from the Huron Tributary (Giroux 2019). In the tributaries, the concentrations of glyphosate that we measured reached 969 and 947 ng/L in Acadie and Huron respectively (**Figure 13E**). Overall the concentrations of glyphosate measured in the Richelieu River were two order of magnitude below the long term Canadian Council of Ministers of the environment long term water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life and would be expected to have minimal effects on the river fish fauna.

Glyphosate and its primary metabolite, AMPA, are most often detected together in the environment (Battaglin et al. 2014). Very little information is available regarding aquatic organism long-term chronic exposure to AMPA. The compound with the highest concentrations in all the locations that we sampled was AMPA, with concentrations peaking at 7231 ng/L in the Acadie Tributary (**Figure 13A**). Available data suggests low chronic toxicity of AMPA to *Daphnia magna* and fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) with no observed adverse effect at concentration of 15mg/L and 12 mg/L, respectively (Levine et al. 2015). This is more than ten thousand times higher than what we measured in the Richelieu river (μ g/L). Even though safety thresholds are often set very high for glyphosate since acute toxicity only happens at very high concentrations (mg/L), more information related to chronic long term exposure on aquatic organisms is still needed (Tresnakova et al. 2021).

Insecticides

Chlorantraniliprole is a highly selective insecticide which can have negative effects on untargeted aquatic life (Rodrigues et al. 2015). We detected chlorantraniliprole in the 2 tributaries of the Richelieu River only with the highest concentration being 26 ng/L (**Table 8**). This concentration is about 8 times lower than the level previously reported to affect aquatic arthropods (Rodrigues et al. 2015 & 2016) but 96h exposure of fathead minnow to 25 ng/L of chlorantraniliprole had a negative impact on neuromuscular health through overactivation of the ryanodine receptor

(Stinson et al. 2022). Other sub-lethal effects in fish such as disruption of muscle and gill ATPase (Temiz et al. 2018) and oxidative stress (Rathnamma & Nagaraju al. 2014), were only observed at concentrations in the mg/L range which suggests that concentrations in the Richelieu River are unlikely to have a major impact on fish health.

Neonicotinoids (clothianidin, imidacloprid and thiamethoxam)

Neonicotinoids are broad-spectrum insecticides that are often detected in Canadian waters (Struger et al. 2017). They are designed to irreversibly bind to the insect-specific nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, which means they are highly and indiscriminately toxic to all insects, but in theory have minimal impacts on other taxa (Hladik et al. 2018). Effects on aquatic invertebrate communities are estimated to occur at an average concentration of 35 ng/L (Morrissey et al. 2015). Difficulties establishing guidelines for neonicotinoids in aquatic ecosystems come from large differences in sensitivity among species (Morrissey et al. 2015). For example, toxicity values can vary up to 4 orders of magnitude between different arthropod species (Raby et al. 2018). Current Canadian water quality guidelines set the chronic safety threshold for imidacloprid at 230 ng/L (no data for acute), and the thresholds for thiamethoxam and clothianidin are temporarily set at 430 ng/L (2780ng/L for acute) and 130 ng/L (340 ng/L for acute) respectively.

Overall, thiamethoxam concentration were higher in the tributaries (607 ng/L in Acadie Tributary and 305ng/L in the Huron Tributary) than in the Richelieu River (**Figure 13I**). The concentration in the Acadie Tributary was above the Canadian chronic water quality guideline but below the acute threshold. In both tributaries, concentrations were one order of magnitude higher than the more conservative Morrissey et al. (2015) predicted concentration to have effects on aquatic invertebrate communities. In the Richelieu River, Chambly (46.9 ng/L) and Saint-Ours (24.1 ng/L), highest thiamethoxam concentrations were 9 and 18 times respectively lower than the safety guidelines (**Table 8**). During 2 non-consecutive days, clothianidin values measured in both tributaries (198 ng/L) were above the chronic Canadian safety threshold. Concentrations were also, during multiple days, above the concentration predicted to have effects on aquatic invertebrates communities (Morrissey et al. 2015). In the Richelieu River, clothianidin concentrations only peaked the day following a heavy rain event and highest concentrations were almost 25 times lower at Chambly (8.1 ng/L) and almost 5 times lower at Saint-Ours (43 ng/L) and below all

thresholds (**Figure 13I**). The occasional exceedance of current Canadian water quality guidelines and often exceedance of the predicted effect concentrations for aquatic invertebrates make the presence of these 2 pesticides concerning. This is mostly relevant in regards to the aquatic invertebrate communities living in the tributaries which are often at the base of the aquatic communities' food web and effects on them could trickle down to other species. Imidacloprid was only detected once, in the Acadie Tributary at 41.2 ng/L, almost one order of magnitude below the chronic safety threshold (**Figure 13G**). Imidacloprid is one of the most widely used neonicotinoid worldwide (Hladik et al. 2018) although it is not often detected in the Richelieu River watershed (Giroux 2019). Imidacloprid was only detected in the Huron Tributary in 2017 but only later in the summer (July and August) at concentrations ranging from 4 to 15 ng/L (Giroux 2019).

Other compounds in the river

In addition to the 9 targeted compounds, the river contained a mixture of at least 22 pesticides (7 herbicides, 12 insecticides and 3 fungicides) that were all detected at levels below the safety thresholds (**Table 10**). The estimated time weighted average concentrations measured in the Richelieu River in ng/L were between 2 and 3 orders of magnitude lower than the Canadian freshwater safety threshold for chronic aquatic life (when available), which are all in μ g/L. Concentrations were most likely higher in the tributaries but passive samplers were only deployed in the main river.

Many of the insecticides detected in the passive samples have been banned for agricultural use in Canada and elsewhere. For example, dieldrin, endrin, lindane, heptachlor and nonachlor were detected in the river and are all prohibited by Health Canada (Health Canada 2022). In fact, dieldrin and endrin, 2 organochloride insecticides that have been banned in the U.S. and Canada for almost 30 years. This level of persistence has been previously documented. For example, after a single application in an experimental plot, dieldrin was still measurable in earthworms 45 years later (Beyer & Gale 2013). Concentrations of these persistent compounds were however all very low, in the ng/L range.

Concentrations of pesticides measured in the winter preliminary samples were all below safety thresholds. The pesticides with the highest concentrations measured were AMPA (53 ng/L), atrazine (32 ng/L) and metolachlor (17 ng/L) (Table 1). Concentrations of atrazine and metolachlor

were two order of magnitude below the CCME water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life, while no threshold value was available for AMPA.

Compounds other than pesticides were also measured in the winter samples. This included a total of 12 PBDEs and 26 PPCPs (**Table 7**). We did not target these chemicals in the water collected in June, but it is very likely that they are present in the river year round. The 5 compounds detected with the highest concentrations in the Richelieu river water were PPCPs: metformin (517 ng/L), acetaminophen (289 ng/L), caffeine (222 ng/L), iopamidol (217 ng/L), and theophylline (161 ng/L) (**Table 7**). Aquatic environmental safety thresholds for these compounds are not available. We know that the local wastewater treatment plants, which are prone to overflow following heavy rain events, are sources of such pharmaceutical and personal care products to the river (Cliché & Saladzius 2018). For example, a total of 24 pharmaceutical and personal care products and 23 pesticides were previously tentatively identified in the Richelieu River at Saint-Ours in samples collected following a heavy rain event (Marchand et al. 2022). Even though we are here focusing on pesticides, there are a lot of other compounds in the river that may have an effect on wildlife.

Our water analysis focused on the active molecules of 9 current use pesticides, while the river water may contain hundreds if not thousands of chemicals including natural compounds, formulants and various degradation products. These formulants and degradation products can be more toxic than the active or parent compounds. For example, among 14 glyphosate-based herbicides, the most toxic compound was not glyphosate, but the petroleum-based compounds in the formulation. As mentioned previously, degradation products, such as those from metolachlor, can be more toxic than the parent compounds (Coffinet et al. 2012) and remain in the environment for a long time (De Souza et al. 2020).

Concentrations were consistently higher in the summer for most of the pesticides (dimethanamid, dieldrin, endrin, lindane and hexachlorobenzene) detected in both the summer passive samplers and in the winter samples. Simazine was the only pesticide that was measured in the Richelieu River winter samples (2.3 ng/L at Chambly and 2.5 ng/L at Saint-Ours) but not detected in the summer samples (**Table 7 & 10**). This could be explained by the lesser mobility of simazine when compared to similar use herbicides (such as atrazine) or difference in timing of application (Kruger et al. 1996). This means that it will take longer for simazine spring application to reach surface

water, which is in agreement with the previous monitoring which detected simazine only in August (Giroux 2019). Overall, multiple pesticides that were detected in the summer were also present in the winter samples, but at lesser concentrations.

Association of Contamination Pulse with Rain/Source of Contamination

Highest concentrations of pesticides were detected, in all locations, after heavy rain events. Heavy precipitation is known to wash agricultural fields of pesticides leading to spikes in surface water concentrations (USGS 1997, Perez et al. 2017, Struger et al. 2017). We measured concentrations up to 100 times higher than the baseline levels following rain events, with thiamethoxam exhibiting the highest increase in the levels in the Huron Tributary (Figure 13I & Table 8). This association between pesticide concentrations and precipitation was observed with neonicotinoid insecticides in Southern Ontario (Struger et al. 2017) and with multiple pesticides in the Maritime region of Canada (Lalonde & Garron 2020). In the latter, a 6-year survey of 13 freshwater stream sites identified acetamiprid, atrazine, chlorantraniliprole, clothianidin, imidacloprid, metolachlor, thiamethoxam as the 7 most often detected pesticides. For all these compounds, the frequency of detection was 2-19% higher during rain events when compared to samples collected during dry weather, and the largest differences in frequency were for clothianidin, imidacloprid and thiamethoxam (Lalonde & Garron 2020). We also detected pesticides more frequently after rain events with neonicotinoids exhibiting the highest pulse (Figure 13D, G & I). Most of the pesticides we detected are commonly used in corn and soy cultures (mainly broad spectrum herbicides and neonicotinoid insecticides), which are prevalent in this agricultural-rich region (COVABAR 2015; Giroux 2015 & 2019). Acetamiprid which was detected in the maritime region and absent from our results, targets crops such leafy vegetables and fruit trees, which represents less than 5% of the cultivated crops in the Richelieu (Huron) watershed (Giroux 2022). These major pulses in concentrations showcase the importance of sampling all along spawning season since the timing of the rain (and pesticide spike) could have a big impact on the success of individual fish spawns (including sensitive early developmental stages) and of different species.

Pesticides concentrations, mostly atrazine and metolachlor were also detected in the December winter samples (**Table 7**). In Canada temperate climate, corn and soy are planted in the spring (May and June) (USDA 2022), with herbicide application occurring before, during and after

planting (Krähmer et al. 2021). Rain event runoffs occurring in the two first weeks following application are the main source of pesticides contamination of surface water (CCME 1999). But for the ubiquitous atrazine and metolachlor, the concentrations measured in winter were similar to the baseline concentrations measured in between rain events (**Tables 7 & 8**). The detection of atrazine and metolachlor in winter can most likely be attributed to their long degradation time in water with half-life in water well above 6 months (Senseman 2007; de Souza et al. 2020).

Spatial variations (Tributaries vs. River)

The timing of pesticide peaks was similar in all the sampled locations but peaks and overall concentrations were higher in the tributaries than in the Richelieu River itself (**Figure 13**). Similar trends were previously observed in the Lake Erie basin where smaller tributaries had higher maximum concentrations and greater temporal variability than larger tributaries (Richards & Baker 2013). The higher concentrations detected in the tributaries can most likely be explained by the fact that these smaller and slower watercourses, are directly fed by agricultural drainage. The Richelieu on the other hand, receive most of its water from Lake Champlain and has, overall a much higher dilution factor from higher volume of water and flow. It has also been previously suggested that contaminated ground water source (from agricultural activities) may contribute to the pesticide burden of smaller streams (Lalonde & Garron 2020), but it is unknown if this is applicable to the Richelieu watershed.

In the Richelieu River itself, concentrations of most compounds measured (targeted and passive sampling), were higher at the downstream location of Saint-Ours than in the upstream location of Chambly (**Tables 8 & 9**). Many tributaries, including the Huron and Acadie, feed into the Richelieu between these 2 locations and likely add to the Saint-Ours total pesticide burden (Map if added). A notable exception is thiamethoxam, which had a higher range and maximal concentration at the Richelieu River Chambly site while its degradation product clothianidin (another neonicotinoid insecticide) was higher in the Richelieu River Saint-Ours site (**Tables 8 & 9**), suggesting either slower transport of the compound along the river or potential degradation in between the 2 locations. These major differences in concentrations showcase the importance of sampling all along the watershed and the variability of the pesticide burden within aquatic community habitats.

Difference Between Passive Sampler and Targeted Analysis Results

The daily average results from the passive sampler are only an estimation. The daily average concentrations from the passive samplers were calculated using estimated flow rate and calibration data. Moreover, sampling rates weren't available for some of the compounds that were detected preventing us from calculating daily averages. Instead, available previously published sampling rates and calibration data were used to provide estimated daily averages. It is worth mentioning, that water parameters, such as temperature (Dalton et al. 2014), pH and turbidity (Li et al. 2011) may all effect POCIS individual chemical uptake rate. Although daily average were estimations, they were still under one order of magnitude differences with the data we collected from the daily analysis.

Of the nine targeted compounds, we were able to compare concentrations from two between passive samplers and grab samples. Richelieu River atrazine and metolachlor concentrations calculated from passive samplers (Chambly 112 ng/L and Saint-Ours 201 ng/L) using estimated flow rate data were within one order of magnitude of the concentrations measured directly in the Richelieu River water (Chambly 7-38 ng/L and Saint-Ours 7-257ng/L). The other targeted compounds detected in the Richelieu grab samples but not in the POCIS most likely not captured by the passive samplers. The POCIS we used are able to capture hydrophilic organic contaminants (log kow 4-8) but are not as useful for very hydrophilic compounds (log kow <4). For example, due to their high polarity, neonicotinoids insecticides could not be detected (Xiong et al. 2019). Since our experiment, modifications to the POCIS were developed that permit sampling of neonicotinoids in surface water (Xiong et al. 2019), but these were not used in the current experiment.

Other Source of Contamination

As previously observed in many regions across the globe, pesticide peaks in surface water have been associated with rain events that wash surrounding soils and vegetation (Glinski et al. 2018), but other sources of contamination should not be ignored. For example, the source of some of the contaminants detected may be caused by atmospheric transport rather than local application. The herbicide dacthal that we detected using the passive samplers, is used more in the US than in Canada and can travel long distances in the atmosphere (Yao et al. 2007). Further investigation is required to better source the contamination of the Richelieu River.

4.9 Conclusion

Our work provided data on the temporal and spatial trends in pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu River and two of its tributaries. Using complementary sampling and analysis methods allowed for the detection of a wider range of compounds. Our data covers the month of June, which includes intensive agricultural activities in the watershed but also the breeding period of fish such as the threatened river redhorse and the endangered copper redhorse.

None of the pesticides measured were found at levels expected to be toxic to fish but two neonicotinoids were above the threshold for the protection of aquatic life. Most of the previous research has been focused on the effects of a single chemical but we detected dozens of pesticides in the Richelieu and mixture risks are frequently ignored in regulatory thresholds. Other ingredients in the pesticide formulation may be more toxic than the pesticides themselves (Lewis 1990; Tsui & Chu 2003; Grisolia et al. 2004). Also many pesticides are known to have additive or even synergistic effects and simultaneous environmental mixture risks are often underestimated (Weisner et al. 2021), making it extremely hard to predict the effects of such complex mixtures on aquatic organisms.

The surges in pesticides may have an impact on the fish species breeding in the Richelieu but even more so in the tributaries where concentrations were higher. Our results suggest that the tributaries contribute large amount of pesticides into the Richelieu River, which in turn pours them into the Saint-Lawrence River before reaching the Atlantic Ocean. Future work should aim to identify the potential effects of environmental mixtures on natural species, and identifying contaminants of concern.

4.10 Supporting information



D) Turbidity

A) Conductivity

Figure 14: Water parameters, A) conductivity, B) dissolved oxygen, C) pH, D) turbidity and E) temperature, from 2 locations in the Richelieu River (Chambly and Saint-Ours) and two of its tributaries (Acadie and Huron tributaries) during the river and copper redhorse spawning season. Parameters reported are single value taken each day. Daily precipitation data were collected at the l'Assomption station (QC), about 21 km away, by the Meteorological Service of Canada of Environment and Climate Change Canada (https://climate.weather.gc.ca).

Compounds						
2,4'-DDD	Dacthal	Hexazinone				
2,4'-DDE	Desethylatrazine	Linuron				
2,4'-DDT	Diazinon	Malathion				
4,4'-DDD	Diazinon-Oxon	Methoprene				
4,4'-DDE	Dieldrin	Methoxychlor				
4,4'-DDT	Dimethenamid	Metribuzin				
Alachlor	Dimethoate	Mirex				
Aldrin	Disulfoton	Nonachlor, cis-				
alpha-Endosulphan	Disulfoton Sulfone	Nonachlor, trans-				
Ametryn	Endosulphan Sulphate	Octachlorostyrene				
Atrazine	Endrin	Parathion-Ethyl				
Azinphos-Methyl	Endrin Ketone	Parathion-Methyl				
beta-Endosulphan	Ethalfluralin	Pendimethalin				
Butralin	Ethion	Permethrin				
Butylate	Fenitrothion	Perthane				
Captan	Flufenacet	Phorate				
Chlordane, alpha (cis)	Flutriafol	Phosmet				
Chlordane, gamma (trans)	Fonofos	Pirimiphos-Methyl				
Chlordane, oxy-	HCH, alpha	Quintozene				
Chlorothalonil	HCH, beta	Simazine				
Chlorpyriphos	HCH, delta	Tebuconazol				
Chlorpyriphos-Methyl	HCH, gamma	Tecnazene				
Chlorpyriphos-Oxon	Heptachlor	Terbufos				
Cyanazine	Heptachlor Epoxide	Triallate				
Cypermethrin	Hexachlorobenzene	Trifluralin				

Table 11. List of compounds analyzed (pesticides multiresidue analysis) from passive samplersdeployed in each of the copper redhorse spawning grounds.

Compounds	Sampling rate	Published source
Ametryn	0.339	Alvarez et al. 2007
Atrazine	0.240	Alvarez et al. 2007
Dacthal	0.109	Van Scoy - DaSilva et al. 2015
Diazinon	0.424	Alvarez et al. 2007
Dieldrin	0.086	Alvarez et al. 2007
Dimethenamid	0.435	Bartelt-Hunt et al. 2011
Endrin	0.094	Alvarez et al. 2007
Linuron	0.236	Mazzella et al. 2007
Metolachlor	0.440	Alvarez et al. 2007
Metribuzin	0.168	Alvarez et al. 2007
Tebuconazol	0.240	Alvarez et al. 2007

Fable 12. Sampling rate	s per compound used for	or passive sampler ana	lysis.
-------------------------	-------------------------	------------------------	--------

4.11 References

Alvarez DA, Huckins JN, Petty JD, Jones-Lepp T, Stuer-Lauridsen F, Getting DT, Goddard JP, Gravell A. 2007. Chapter 8 Tool for monitoring hydrophilic contaminants in water: polar organic chemical integrative samples (POCIS). Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry. 48(1): 171-197.

Bartelt-Hunt SL, Snow DD, Damon-Powell T, Brown DL, Prasai G, Schwarz M, Kolok AS. 2011. Quantitative evaluation of laboratory uptake rates for pesticides, pharmaceuticals, and steroid hormones using POCIS. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 30(6): 1412-1420.

Battaglin WA, Meyer MT, Kuivila KM, Dietze JE. 2014. Glyphosate and its degradation product AMPA occur frequently and widely in U.S. soils, surface water, groundwater, and precipitation. Journal of the American Water Resources Association. 50(2): 275-290.

Beyer WN & Gale RW. 2013. Persistence and changes in bioavailability of Dieldrin, DDE, and heptachlor epoxide in earthworms over 45 years. Ambio. 42(1): 83-89.

Borggaard OK & Gimsing AL. 2007. Fate of glyphosate in soil and the possibility of leaching to ground and surface waters: a review. Pest Management Science. 64(4): 441-456.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 1999. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life – Metribuzin. In: Canadian environmental quality guideline, 1999, Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. (2011). Protocols manual for water quality sampling in Canada.

Cliché G & Saladzius A. 2018. Évaluation de performance des ouvrages municipaux d'assainissement des eaux—Bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu et de la zone Saint-Laurent, années 2014 à 2016. Fondation Rivières.

Coffinet S, Rifai A, Genty C, Souissi Y, Bourcier S, Sablier M, Bouchonnet S. 2012. Characterization of the photodegradation products of metolachlor: structural elucidation, potential toxicity and persistence. Journal of Mass Spectrometry. 47(12): 1582-1593. Comité de Concertation et de la Valorisation du Bassin de la Rivière Richelieu (COVABAR) 2015. Plan directeur de l'eau - Portrait du bassin versant de la Rivière Richelieu et de la zone Saint-Laurent, août 2015. Beloeil.

Costa G, Fernandes A, Santos T, Brito L, Rodrigues L, Valadares M. 2022. In vitro and in vivo cytotoxicity assessment of glyphosate and imazethapyr-based herbicides and their association. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A. 85(12): 481-493.

Dalton R, Pick FR, Boutin C, Saleem A. 2014. Atrazine contamination at the watershed scale and environmental factors affecting sampling rates of the polar organic chemical integrative sampleer (POCIS). Environmental Pollution. 189(1): 134-142.

De Baat ML, Bas DA, van Beusekom SAM, Droge STJ, van de Meer F, de Vries M, Verdonschot PFM, Kraak MHS. 2018. Nationwide screening of surface water toxicity to algae. Science of the Total Environment. 645(1): 780-787.

De Souza RM, Seibert D, Quesada HB, Bassetti FdJ, Fagundes-Klen MR, Bergamasco R. 2020. Occurrence, impacts and general aspects of pesticides in surface water: A review. Process Safety and Environmental Protection. 135(1): 22-37.

Fulton MH, Key PB, DeLorenzo ME. 2013. Insecticide toxicity in fish. Fish Physiology. 33(1): 309-368.

Giroux I. 2015. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau du Québec: Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya—2011 à 2014. Ministère du Développement durable, de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction du suivi de l'état de l'environnement.

Giroux I. 2019. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2015 à 2017, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction générale du suivi de l'état de l'environnement, 64 p. + 6 ann.

Giroux I. 2022. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2018 à 2020, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte

contre les changements climatiques, Direction de la qualité des milieux aquatiques, 71 p. + 15 ann.

Glinski DA, Purucker T, Van Mter RJ, Black MC, Henderson WM. 2018. Analysis of pesticides in surface water, stemflow, and throughfall in an agricultural area in South Georgia, USA. Chemosphere. 209(1): 496-507.

Griffini O, Bao ML, Barbieri C, Burrini DD, Pantani F. 1997. Occurence of pesticides in the Arno River and in potable water – A survy of the period 1992-1995. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 59(1): 202-209.

Grisolia CK, Bilich MR, Menezes Formigli L. 2004. A comparative toxicologic and genotoxic study of the herbicidal arsenal, its active ingredient imazapyr, and the surfactant nonylphenol ethoxylate. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 59(1): 123-126.

Hanson ML, Solomon KR, Van Der Kraak GJ, Brian RA. 2019. Effects of atrazine on fish, amphibians, and reptiles: update of the analysis based on quantitative weight of evidence. Critical Reviews in Toxicology. 49(8): 670-709.

Health Canada. 2022. Pesticide Product Information Database. Government of Canada. Consumer Product Safety – Pesticides and Pest Management.

Hladik ML, Main AR, Goulson D. 2018. Environmental risks and challenges associated with neonicotinoid insecticides. Environmental Science and Technology. 52(1): 3329-3335.

Jin Y, Chen R, Wang L, Liu J, Yang Y, Zhou C, Liu W, Fu Z. 2011. Effects of metolachlor on transcription of thyroid system-related genes in juvenile and adult Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). General and Comparative Endocrinology. 170(3): 487-493.

Krähmer H, Walter H, Jeschke P, Haaf K, Baur P, Evans R. 2021. What makes a molecule a preor a post-herbicide – how valuable are physicochemical parameters for their design. Pest Management Science. 77(11): 4863-4873. Kruger EL, Coats JR, Zhu BE. 1996. Relative mobilities of atrazine, five atrazine degradates, metolachlor, and simazine in soils of Iowa. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 15(5): 691-695.

Laliberté D. 2020. Water quality in the Richelieu and Yamaska rivers / prepared by Denis Laliberté, Québec, Québec, Ministère de l'environnement et de la lutte contre les changements climatiques, 2020, 1 ressource en ligne (11 pages) : illustrations en couleur, Collections de BAnQ.

Lalonde B and Garron C. 2020. Temporal and spatial analysis of surface water pesticide occurences in the maritime region of Canada. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 79(1): 12-22.

Levine SL, von Mérey G, Minderhout T, Manson P, Sutton P. 2015. Aminomethylphosphonic acid has low chronic toxicity to daphni magna and pimephales promelas. Environmental Toxicology and chemistry. 34(6): 1382-1389.

Lewis MA. 1990. Chronic toxicity of surfactants and detergent builders to algae: a review and risk assessment. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 20(1): 123-140.

Li H, Helm PA, Paterson G, Metcalfe CD. 2011. The effects of dissolved organic matter and pH on sampling rates for polar organic chemical integrative samplers (POCIS). Chemosphere. 83(3): 271-280.

Li Z and Jennings A. 2018. Global variations in pesticide regulations and health risk assessment of maximum concentration levels in drinking water. Journal of Environmental Management. 212(1): 384-394.

Li S, Wu Q, Sun Q, Coffin S, Gui W, zhu G. 2019. Parental exposure to tebuconazole causes thyroid endocrine disruption in zebrafish and developmental toxicity in offspring. Aquatic Toxicology. 211(1): 116-123.

Mazzella N, Dubernet JF, Delmas F. 2007. Determination of kinetic and equilibrium regimes in the operation of polar organic chemical integrative samplers: Application to the passive sampling of the polar herbicides in aquatic environments. Journal of Chromatography A. 1154(1-2): 42-51.

Magdaleno A, Peralta Gavensky M, Fassiano AV, Rios de Molina MC, Santos M, March H, Moretton J, Juarex AB. 2015. Phytotoxicity and genotoxicity assessment of imazethapyr herbicide using a battery of bioassays. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 22(1): 19194-19202.

Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec (MFFP). 2018. Banque de données des résultats de pêches expérimentales – « Feuilles de pêche » - données de 1928 à 2017. Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval. 270 000 enregistrements.

Montiel-León JM, Munoz G, Duy SV, DO DT, Vaudreuil Ma, Goeury K, Guillemette F, Amyot M, Sauvé S. 2019a. Widespread occurrence and spatial distribution of glyphosate, atrazine, and neonicotinoids pesticides in the St. Lawrence and tributary rivers. Environmental Pollution. 250(1): 29-39.

Montiel-León JM, Duy SV, Munoz G, Bouchard MF, Amyot M, Sauvé S. 2019b. Quality survey and spatiotemporal variations of atrazine and desethylatrazine in drinking water in Quebec, Canada. Science of the Total Environment. 671(1): 578-585.

Moraes BS, Clasen B, Loro VL, Prtto A, Toni C, de Avila LA, Marchesan E, de Oliveira Machado SL, Zanella R, Reimche GB. 2011. Toxicological responses of cyprinus carpio after exposure to a commercial herbicide containing imazethapyr and imazapic. EEcotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 74(3): 328-335.

Morrissey CA, Mineau P, Devries JH, Sanchez-Bayo F, Liess M, Cavallaro MC, Liber K. 2015. Neonicotinoid contamination of global surface waters and associated risk to aquatic invertebrates: A review. Environment International. 74(1): 291-303.

Perez DJ, Okada E, De Geronimo E, Menone ML, Aparicio VC, Costa JL. 2017. Spatial and temporal trends and flow dynamics of glyphosate and other pesticides within an agricultural watershed in Argentina. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 36(12): 3206-3216.

Raby M, Noierski M, Perlov D, Zhao X, Hao C, Poirier DG, Sibley PK. 2018. Acute toxicity of 6 neonicotinoid insecticides to freshwater invertebrates. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 37(5): 1430-1445.

Rathnamma VV & Nagaraju B. 2014. Oxidative stress induced by chlorantraniliprole in various tissues of freshwater fish ctenopharyngodon Idella. Journal of Medical Scieences and Public Health. 2(1): 21-27.

Rodrigues ACM, Gravato C, Quintaneiro C, Golovko O, Zlabek V, Barata C, Soares AMVM, Pestana JLT. 2015. Life history and biochemical effects of chlorantranilipriole on Chironomus riparius. Science of the Total Environment. 508(1): 506-513.

Rodrigues LDB, do Oliveira R, Abe FR, Brito LB, Moura DS, Valadares MC, Grisola CK, de Oliveeira DP, de Oliveira GAR. 2016. Ecotoxicological assessment of glyphosate-based herbicides : effects on different organisms. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 36(7): 1755-1763.

Senseman SA. 2007. Herbicide Handbook. 9th Edition, Weed Science Society of America, Lawrence, 275-278.

Solomon KR, Dalhoff K, Volz D, Van Der Kraak G. 2013. 7 – Effects of herbicides on fish. Fish Physiology. 33(1): 369-409.

Stehle S and Schulz R. 2015. Agricultural insecticides threaten surface waters at the global scale. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 112(18). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1500232112

Stinson SA, Hasenbein S, Connon RE, DDng X, Alejo JS, Lawler SP, Holland EB. 2022. Agricultural surface water, imidacloprid and chlorantraniliprole result in altered gene expression and receptor activation in Pimephales promelas. Science of the Total Environment. 806(4): 150920.

Struger J, Grabuski J, Cagampan S, Sverko E, McGoldrick D, Marvin CH. 2017. Factors influencing the occurrence and distribution of neonicotinoid insecticides in surface waters of southern Ontario, Canada. Chemosphere. 169(1): 516-523.

Temiz O, Cogun HY, Kargin F. 2018. Infuence of chlorantraniliprole toxicity on ionic regulation of gill and muscle ATPase activity of Nile fish (Oreochromis niloticus). Fresenius Environmental Bulletin. 27(7): 5027-5032.

Thiem J.D., Hatin D., Dumont P., Van Der Kraak G., and S.J. Cooke. 2013. Biology of lake sturgeon (Acipenser fulvescens) spawning below a dam on the Richelieu River, Quebec: behaviour, egg deposition, and endocrinology. Can. J. Zool. 91: 175–186.)

Tresnakova N, Stara A, Velisek J. 2021. Effects of glyphosate and its metabolite AMPA on aquatic organisms. Applied Sciences. 11(19): 9004.

Tsui MT and Chu LM. 2003. Aquatic toxicity of glyphosate-based formulations: comparison between different organisms and the effects of environmental factors. Chemosphere. 52(1): 1189-1197.

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2022. Crop Calendars for Canada. In: International Production Assessment Division, U.S. Department of agriculture. Available on: https://ipad.fas.usda.gov/rssiws/al/crop_calendar/can.aspx, visited on 7 dec, 2022.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2007. Method 1694: Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in water, soil, sediment, and biosolids by HPLC/MS/MS. U.S. environmental protection agency office of water, office of science and technology, engineering and analysis division. EPA–821–R-08-002.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2007. Method 1699: Pesticides in water, soil, sediment, and biosolids by HRGC/HRMS. U.S. environmental protection agency office of water, office of science and technology, engineering and analysis division. EPA–821–R-08-001.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2010. Method 1614A: Brominated diphenyl ethers in water, soil, sediment, and tissue by HRGC/HRMS. U.S. environmental protection agency office of water, office of science and technology, engineering and analysis division. EPA–821–R-10-005.

United States Geological Survey (USGS). 1997 Seasonality of pesticides in surface waters. United States Geological Survey, Fact sheet FS-039-97. https://water.usgs.gov/nawqa/pnsp/pubs/fs97039 /sw5.html

Weisner O, Frische T, Liebmann L, Reemtsma T, Rob-Nickoll M, Schäfer RB, Schäffer A, Scholz-Stark B, Vormeier P, Knillmann S, Liess M. 2021. Risk from pesticide mixtures – The gap between risk assessment and reality. Science of the Total Environment. 796(20): 149017.

Xiong J, Wang Z, Ma X, Li H, You J. 2019. Occurrence and risk of neonicotinoid insecticides in surface water in a rapidly developing region: Application of polar organic chemical integrative samplers. Science of The Total Environment. 648(1): 1305-1312.

Yao Y, Harner T, Ma J, Tuduri L, Blanchard P. 2007. Sources and occurrence of dacthal in the Canadian atmosphere. Environmental Science & Technology. 41(3): 688-694.

YSI. 2019. Environmental dissolved Oxygen – Values greater than 100% air saturation. Technical Note T602-01 0719.

Zaleska-Radziwilll M, Lebkowska M, Affek K, Zarzeczna A. 2011. Environmental risk assessment of selected pharmaceuticals present in surface water in relation to animals. Archives of environmental protection. 37(3): 31-42.

Preface to Chapter 5

The previous chapters focused on the ELS effects from exposure to river water in two wild fish species; the river and copper redhorse. We have also looked at the river contamination, its variation across time and space, and which components were present in the environmental mixture. Due to many factors such as legal status, late age of maturity, large size, it was impossible to assess later life effects in either river or copper redhorse.

In this chapter we used a model organism, the zebrafish, to assess the full life cycle effects of ELS exposure to river water. By using zebrafish, we were able to rear the fish to adulthood to assess endpoints throughout their lives. The zebrafish embryos were exposed during ELS only to river water collected during the copper and redhorse spawning season, after a heavy rain event, when pesticide contamination was expected to be the highest. Thereafter, fish were raised in clean laboratory water and we were able to evaluate reproductive outputs and raise a second generation from the exposed fish. Organismal endpoints were also measured in the second generation. This was the first step to understanding the complete life cycle effects of early life exposure to environmental pesticides in laboratory fish, with the further objective of extrapolating the data to wild fish.

Chapter 5

5. Decrease in fertilization rate of zebrafish exposed during early life stage to Richelieu River (QC, Canada) water

5.1 Title Page

Title of the manuscript

Decrease in fertilization rate of zebrafish exposed during early life stage to Richelieu River (QC, Canada) water

Authors:

Marchand Hugo¹, Barst Benjamin D², Boulanger Emily¹, Vachon Nathalie³, Houde Magali⁴, Xu Ke¹, George Saji¹, Head Jessica A^{*1}.

Affiliations:

1: Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, McGill University, Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Québec, Canada

2: Water and Environmental Research Center, University of Alaska, Fairbanks, Alaska, USA
3: Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec, Longueuil, Québec, Canada
4: Aquatic Contaminants Research Division, Environment and Climate Change Canada, Montréal, Québec, Canada

*corresponding author: jessica.head@mcgill.ca

Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by Fisheries and Oceans Canada National Contaminants Advisory Group (DFO-NCAG). We are grateful for the help of Jenny Eng (McGill), Diane Langan (McGill) and Nil Basu (McGill).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

5.2 List of Figures

Figure 16. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on timing of hatching of zebrafish embryos. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the percentage of live embryos that hatched on a given hour post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk ($\alpha < 0.05$). Included in the data are the **A**) exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only and B) their offspring (F1), which were never exposed.

Figure 18. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on length of zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the total length of fish on days post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Included in the data are the exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only.

Figure 20. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on the percentage of fertilized embryos and the number of eggs per day produced per centimeter of female zebrafish.

5.3 List of Tables

Table 13. Pesticide concentrations in ng/L measured in the Richelieu River samples used forzebrafish early life stage exposure. Chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imidacloprid andthiamethoxam were also targeted but not detected. Clothianidin was not detected in Chambly andImazethapyr was not detected in Saint-Ours.189

5.4 Abstract

Fish worldwide spawn in waters that are contaminated with complex mixtures of environmental chemicals. This may negatively affect the health of offspring, particularly if exposure occurs at a sensitive early life stage (ELS). Here we study the acute and persistent effects of exposure of zebrafish to pesticide contaminated river water at an early life stage. Zebrafish are used as a surrogate for copper redhorse, an endangered fish that is only known to spawn in the Richelieu River (QC, Canada). During copper redhorse spawning season, surface water samples were collected at two known spawning areas in the Richelieu river (Chambly - downstream and Saint-Ours - upstream) following heavy rain events when pesticide concentrations peak. Based on targeted pesticide analysis, the Saint-Ours sampling site, which is downstream of tributaries fed by agricultural drainage, had higher pesticide concentrations than the upstream site. Zebrafish embryos (3 replicates of 100 embryos each) were exposed to river water (upstream or Saint-Ours) or laboratory water (control group) from < 3hrs post-fertilization until 120 hours post-fertilization. Thereafter, zebrafish were raised to maturity in clean water. Exposure to river water delayed zebrafish hatching compared to controls but had no effect on larval survival or deformities. For fish that were exposed as embryos survival was low in all treatments, most likely due to rearing conditions. In adults, the number of eggs produced was not different among treatment groups. However, fertilization success for the fish exposed to river water was lower than for control fish. This effect was more pronounced in the fish exposed to water from the more contaminated site (65, 72 and 81% for Saint-Ours river water, Chambly river water and control water respectively). The effects were maintained but were more moderate when Saint-Ours river water exposed fish were crossed with control fish, suggesting that both males and females were contributing to this effect. These results suggest that environmentally relevant levels of contaminant present in river water could have lasting impacts on fish fecundity. However, high mortality in the first 60 days across all treatment group suggests that these experiments should be interpreted with cautions.

5.5 Introduction

In agricultural landscape, pesticide concentrations have been shown to peak following heavy rain events with the highest peak often measured in June, a favored time for fish to spawn (Giroux 2019; Marchand et al. 2022). Contamination of spawning grounds and exposure of early life stage (ELS) fish to peaking pesticide concentrations is concerning since early life stages of development are considered to be particularly sensitive to contaminants (Mohammed 2013). Exposure of ELS fish to these contamination peaks could be detrimental to recruitment, but few studies have addressed this concern, particularly in the context of environmentally relevant mixtures .

The Richelieu river is located in south-eastern Québec (Canada), and runs for 124 km through mainly agricultural landscape between Lake Champlain and the Saint-Lawrence River. The Richelieu is home to more than 80 species of fish (MFFP 2018) and includes spawning sites of threatened species such as lake sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*) (Thiem et al. 2013), river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*) (COSEWIC 2015) and endangered species such as the copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*) (COSEWIC 2014). The only two known spawning grounds of the copper redhorse are located in the Richelieu River (COSEWIC 2014).

In recent years, many contaminants have been detected in the Richelieu river including legacy organic compounds, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dioxins, furans (Laliberté 2020), and pharmaceutical and personal care products (Cliché & Saladzius 2018). These are generally detected at concentrations below the provincial criteria for the prevention of contamination of aquatic organism (Laliberté 2020). However, other classes of contaminants such as pesticides have been detected at levels that are concerning. For example, in the Richelieu and its tributaries, neonicotinoids pesticides have been measured at levels that exceed the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) safety threshold for aquatic life over multiple years in the last decade (Giroux 2022, Marchand et al. 2022). This isn't surprising since 70% of the Richelieu River watershed is dedicated to agriculture (Simoneau & Thibault 2009).

Many listed fish species are spawning in the Richelieu river and we previously found that river water may negatively affects ELS fish. Others have also demonstrated that ELS fish exposure to pesticides has a variety of effects on endpoints such as hatching success and timing (Du Gas et al. 2017; Fiorino et al. 2018), juvenile survival (Vignet 2019), incidence of deformities (Sulukan et al. 2017), immune system deficiencies (Hong et al. 2018), and oxidative stress (Richterova et al. 2015). Exposure to Richelieu river water specifically caused premature hatching in both copper

and river redhorse and decreased survival in copper redhorse larvae but later life effects are unknown (Marchand et al. 2022).

Only few studies have evaluated the later life effects of fish ELS exposure only to pesticides (Wirbisky et al. 2016, Cleary et al. 2019). For example, when zebrafish and Japanese medaka where exposed to atrazine during ELS, reproductive dysfunction and molecular alterations were reported in the adult zebrafish (Wirbisky et al. 2016) and reproductive defects were observed in the medaka grandchildren (Cleary et al. 2019.

These studies focused on a single chemical, while natural waters can contain mixtures of thousands of chemicals. More studies are necessary to better understand the effects of real-world exposure to complex mixtures of pesticides in wild fish (Simonnet-Laprade et al. 2021). This is almost impossible to investigate directly on most threatened wild fish species due to their late age of maturity or large size.

Here, we use the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), to study persistent effects of ELS exposure to water collected from the Richelieu river. Zebrafish are used as a surrogate for wild species that are spawning in the Richelieu due to their ease of maintenance and short generation time, allowing for a full life cycle assessment. In order to isolate the potential effects of ELS exposure, zebrafish were exposed to river water as embryos and larvae, and then raised in clean water until they reached sexual maturity. Biological endpoints were assessed during the exposure, upon sexual maturation, and in the offspring.

5.6 Materials and Methods

Source of animal and care/maintenance

All work with animals was approved by the McGill University animal care committee (protocol number 2018-7992). On site, a AB wildtype zebrafish colony (from Zebrafish Core Facility, Dalhousie University, Canada) was kept in a recirculating system and fed a commercial diet. Water quality was assessed on a weekly basis. For the first generation, fish were bred in colonies (20-40 individuals) in 5-gallon tanks with a breeding cup (container with a mesh top to prevent the adults from preying on the eggs). Embryos were harvested approximately 2 hours after the initiation of breeding when the light was turned on. Fertilized eggs were removed from the breeding cups and

dipped in a methylene blue solution (2%) for 20 minutes (adapted from Bran et al. 2002) before being rinsed and prepared for treatment. Non-viable embryos were removed at this point.

Source of water and water analysis

Grab water samples (one liter per sample, n = 2 per location) were collected daily in June 2019 during the copper redhorse spawning season at two locations along the Richelieu River. These locations, in the Chambly basin below the Chambly rapids and at Saint-Ours below an artificial dam, are the only two known copper redhorse spawning grounds. Chambly was the upstream sample location on the Richelieu River and will herein be referred to as the upstream site, while Saint-Ours was the downstream site and will be referred to as such. Samples collected from each location on June 16 were selected for the exposure since pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu River are known to peak following heavy rain events and over 12 mm of rain were received on June 14 and 15 (Giroux 2015 & 2019, Marchand et al. 2022). All samples were frozen at -20°C until analysis. The samples were analyzed using targeted liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC-MS) to quantify 9 pesticides (aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA), atrazine, clothianidin, chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imazethapyr, imidacloprid, metolachlor, thiamethoxam), which are prevalent in the Richelieu surface water (Giroux 2015 & 2019, Marchand et al. 2022). Details of standard solution preparation, sample preparation and instrumental methods are given in Marchand et al. 2022. Briefly, water samples were prepared by spiking a 10 µL internal standard mixture and 100 µL methanol into 890 µL of river water, followed by filtration with a 0.22 µm PTFE syringe filter (Canadian Life Science, Canada) before introduction into the LC-MS. Mass-labeled standards at constant concentrations were used as an internal standard to compensate for any systematic errors due to native compounds (as recommended in USEPA methods (e.g. Method 1694)). Data were collected with an Agilent 1290 Infinity II LC system coupled to the 6545 Quadrupole-Time of Flight-Mass Spectrometry (Q-TOF-MS) (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA). The LC separation was performed on a CS-C18 column (Agilent Technologies; 2.1 μ m × 150 mm). Method performances were assessed in terms of linearity of the calibration response, method detection limits, the method quantification limits, precision, relative recoveries, and matrix effects.

Exposure and Hatching

Zebrafish embryos were exposed from < 3hrs to 120 hours post-fertilization to river water from the upstream site, river water from the downstream site or to control laboratory water that matched river parameters (ultrapure water supplemented with sodium bicarbonate (96 mg/L), magnesium sulfate (60 mg/L), calcium chloride (39 mg/L), and potassium chloride (4 mg/L) (Modified USEPA-821-R-02-12) (**Figure 15A**). For each treatment, 3 replicates of 100 viable embryos were used. For each replicate, embryos were placed in a 250 mL beaker, which was previously solvent-washed and baked (450°C in muffle furnace for 4 hours), and filled with 200 mL of either river (upstream or downstream site) or reconstituted water. The beakers were then placed in a heated water bath (bain-marie) that maintained the temperature of all the beakers at 28°C. Air was gently pumped into each beaker to agitate the surface using a borosilicate glass pipette as dispenser. Hatching, gross deformities (presence/absence) and survival were assessed 3 times daily throughout the exposure period. Dead embryos and larvae were counted and removed. Water parameters were monitored daily.

Rising F0 to maturity

Following the 120-hour exposure, embryos were slowly acclimated to tank water from the recirculating system, then rinsed and raised in clean water in the recirculating system until maturity (**Figure 15**). Survival and deformities were monitored daily throughout the rest of the experiment. Starting at 26 days post-fertilization, embryo length was measured monthly for a period of 18 months. For measurement, fish were placed in a glass beaker with enough water to cover them. The beaker was placed over a graduated scale and a picture was taken from above. ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health) was then used to measure the total length of the fish based on the scale.

Sex ratio and Breeding

Breeding experiments were conducted in three different trials. In trial 1, mature fish were sexed through visual assessment. For breeding, a subsample of 3 males and 4 females was randomly selected from each of the three replicates. Fish were bred within their own replicate and treatment groups, i.e., control with control, upstream site with upstream site, downstream site with downstream site (**Figure 15B**). These groups of fish were each placed in a 5-gallon tank with a breeding cup for 18 days. The daily number of eggs produced by each group was recorded. The

fertilization rate and viability of the embryos was assessed under a microscope 4 hours after fertilization and embryos were discarded. Then fish were returned to their respective treatment groups and were provided with a 1-week break in between each breeding experiment (in their respective treatment groups). Embryo production was calculated as number of eggs per female, per day and per cm of length ((total number of eggs collected over the trial)/((number of females)*(days of breeding trial)*(average female size in cm)). Trial 2 was performed following the same procedure as trial 1 except that males from control were matched with females from the downstream site water treatment and vice versa. The same endpoints were measured over 14 days. Trial 3 was identical to trial 1 but lasted only 14 days.

Second generation

To obtain the second generation (F1), F0 fish were bred in their respective treatment groups. Embryos were reared following the same method used for the initial exposure of their parents, but without the exposure to river water; they were all reared in clean laboratory water. The following endpoints were measured in the second generation: hatching time, deformities, survival and length. The second generation was terminated at 30 hpf (**Figure 15B**).

Termination, weight and condition factor

F0 Fish were sacrificed at 552 days post-fertilization (dpf) (18 months post-fertilization) using a tricaine methane-sulfonate (MS-222) solution (250 mg/L buffed with equal weight of sodium bicarbonate). The carcasses were visually inspected, measured and weighed, then Fulton's condition factor ((100*weight (g))/(Length(cm)³)) was calculated for each individual.



Figure 15. Experimental design used for the early life exposure of zebrafish to river water. **A**) Zebrafish embryos were exposed to river water for 120 hours post-fertilization only, then raised in clean water in a recirculating system. **B**) Following the early life stage exposure, a full life cycle was completed and embryos from the exposed fish (F0) were collected and reared for 30 days. The second generation (F1) was never exposed to river water.

Data analysis

Percentage hatching was calculated as a proportion of the total number of living embryos (hatched larvae/all alive) per time point and per replicate. Mean incidence of deformities and mean survival were calculated as a percentage of the initial number of embryos that were placed in each beaker. All data residuals were tested for normality. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and a Bonferroni post-hoc test were performed for daily percentage hatching, incidence of deformities, and survival between replicates using JMP statistical visualization software (SAS Institute). An $\alpha < 0.05$ was considered significant. Percentage hatching data were fitted to a sigmoidal four parameter logistic regression model and the 50% hatch time was calculated using Prism 9 (GraphPad) in hpf. The 50% hatch time values were compared using 95% confidence interval overlap.

5.7 Results

Water analysis

Of the 9 targeted pesticides, 3 were detected in water samples collected at both upstream and downstream sites at roughly equivalent concentrations (Table 1). Imazethapyr (119 ng/L) was only detected in water samples collected at the upstream site and clothianidin (243 ng/L) was only detected at the downstream site. The remaining 4 pesticides (chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imidacloprid and thiamethoxam) were not detected at either location (**Table 13**). Only clothianidin was detected at concentrations exceeding the CCME water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life.
Hatching

Percentage hatching was high across treatment groups with no significant differences detected. Percentage hatching was 86% (\pm 5) in the control, 82% (\pm 3) in the upstream site water and 77% (\pm 4) in the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 16A**). For the F0 generation, the time to 50% hatch was significantly higher in the upstream site water (64 ± 3.5 hours post-fertilization (hpf)) and in the downstream site water (70 ± 4.7 hpf) treatments than in the control treatment (52 ± 5.3 hpf) (**Figure 16A**). Both the upstream and downstream sites water treatments were significantly different from the control treatment but not from each other. Significant differences in hatching time between river water (both upstream and downstream site) and control were recorded at 3 time points, 48, 52 and 73 dpf.

In the F1 generation, the time for 50% hatch was 45 (\pm 2.7) hpf for control, 44 (\pm 4.0) hpf for the upstream site water and 44 (\pm 3.6) hpf for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 16B**). There was no statistically significant effect of F0 early life exposure to river water on F1 50% hatch time. However, there was a significant difference in the hatching time in controls between the F0 and the F1 generations ($\alpha = 0.029$).

Survival

Survival to 30 dpf was low for both generations. Following the exposure, zebrafish larvae were still too small for the recirculating system and were kept in static vessels with daily water renewal until large enough. They were raised on dry feed until they were large enough to consume freshly hatched *Artemia*. The static water conditions and early life dry feed diet, probably both contributed to the low survival observed. Another study also reported lesser survival, around 60%, when zebrafish larvae were raised on dry feed exclusively (Farias & Certal 2016). At 60 dpf, fish were placed in a recirculating system and there was a minimal decline in survival after that.

For F0, the percent survival at 30 dpf was 31% (\pm 12) for the control, 38% (\pm 6) for the upstream site water and 27% (\pm 1) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 17A**). At the end of the 18 month experiment, the percent survival of the zebrafish was 14% (\pm 4) for the control, 15% (\pm 1) for the upstream site water and 12% (\pm 1) for the downstream site water treatments. There were

no statistically significant differences in survival between treatment groups and control on over the 120h early life exposure to river water nor over the whole 18 months of the experiment.

For F1, which were raised to 30 dpf, the percent survival at the end of that period was 28% (\pm 3.6) for the control, 27% (\pm 2.8) for the upstream site water and 29 % (\pm 1.3) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 17B**). The was no significant difference between the treatment nor between the F0 and F1 generations.



Figure 16. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on timing of hatching of zebrafish embryos. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the percentage of live embryos that hatched on a given hour post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk ($\alpha < 0.05$). Included in the data are the **A**) exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only and B) their offspring (F1), which were never exposed.

Deformities

Overall incidence of deformities was low for F0 fish and there was no significant differences between treatments (control 3.9% (\pm 1.4); upstream site water 3.4% (\pm 1.2); downstream site water 3.7% (\pm 0.5)). For all the fish that suffered from deformities, none survived beyond the larval stage.

Overall incidence of deformities was higher in the F1 fish and there was significant differences between treatment (control 8.5% (± 3.8); upstream site water 15.7% (± 2.5); downstream site water 16.6% (± 3.4)). Both upstream site water ($\alpha = 0.0369$) and downstream site water ($\alpha = 0.0238$) treatment percentage of deformities was significantly higher than control. Overall, there was also a significant difference in the percentage of deformities between the F0 and the F1 generations (α < 0.0001). Edema (pericardial and yolk edema) represented 37% and 45% of the recorded deformities for the upstream and downstream site water treatments respectively. Craniofacial deformities (shorter jaw, incomplete head formation) represented 32% and 15% and spinal curvature (kyphosis and lordosis) represented 32% and 40%.



Figure 17. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on survival of zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to River water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the

percentage of live fish on days post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk ($\alpha < 0.05$). Included in the data are the **A**) exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only and **B**) their offspring (F1), which were never exposed.

Length

The F0 fish grew steadily throughout the 18 months of the experiment with the growth curves diverging at 80 dpf until about 100 dpf and then remaining parallel. The average total length of the zebrafish after 18 months was 3.40 cm (\pm 0.62) for the control, 3.03 cm (\pm 0.57) for the upstream site water and 3.06 cm (\pm 0.50) for the downstream site water treatment (**Figure 18**). This difference was not statistically significant at any timepoint throughout the experiment.

For F1, the average total length at dpf 30 (at termination) was 0.85 cm (\pm 1.66) for the control, 0.86 cm (\pm 1.82) for the upstream site water and 0.87 cm (\pm 1.82) for the downstream site water treatments. The F0 fish were not measured at 30 dpf but similar lengths were observed at 26 dpf (control 0.87 cm (\pm 0.40); upstream site water 0.72 cm (\pm 0.36); downstream site water 0.79 cm (\pm 0.32)) (**Figure 18**).



Figure 18. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on length of zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the

total length of fish on days post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Included in the data are the exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only.

Weight and condition factor

The average total weight of the zebrafish after 18 months was 0.40 g (\pm 0.24) for the control, 0.32 g (\pm 0.22) for the upstream site water and 0.32 g (\pm 0.15) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 19B**). Overall, the zebrafish from the control group were heavier than the fish of both river water treatment groups but there was no statistically significant difference between the groups. The average Fulton's condition factor of the zebrafish after 18 months was 1.08 (\pm 0.31) for the control, 1.17 (\pm 0.53) for the upstream site water and 1.19 (\pm 0.43) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 19C**). There was no statistically significant difference in condition factor between the groups.



Figure 19. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on sex ratio (percentage of males), body weight and Fulton's condition factor of zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to river water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the total length of fish on days post-fertilization. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk ($\alpha < 0.05$). Included in the data are the exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only.

Sex ratio

Overall the proportion of male to female was close to 50% and there was no significant effect of early life exposure to river water on the fish sex ratio (control 52.1% (\pm 3.6); upstream site water 42.9% (\pm 5.7); downstream site water 47.6% (\pm 4.1)) (**Figure 19A**).

Breeding and fertilization rate

For trial 1, the average number of eggs produced per day over 18 days, per centimeter of female zebrafish was 3.7 (\pm 0.8) for the control, 4.0 (\pm 0.4) for the upstream site water and 4.1 (\pm 0.9) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 20B** and **Table 14**). There was no statistically significant effect on the average number of eggs produced per day, per centimeter of female zebrafish resulting from early life exposure to river water. The percentage of fertilized and viable embryos 4h post-fertilization was 81% (\pm 3) for the control, 72% (\pm 3) for the upstream site water and 65% (\pm 4) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 20A**). There was a statistically significant difference between the control and the 2 river water treated groups (upstream site water $\alpha = 0.0175$; downstream site water $\alpha = 0.0012$) which exhibited a lower fertilization rate. There was also a significant difference between upstream site water and downstream site water treatments ($\alpha = 0.0462$).

For trial 2, which was a cross between control fish and downstream site water treated fish, the average number of eggs produced per day, per centimeter of female zebrafish was 3.0 (\pm 0.7) for downstream site water treated females with control males, and 3.1 (\pm 1.1) for control females with downstream site water treated males for Saint-Ours (**Figure 20F**). There was no statistically significant effect on the average number of eggs produced per day, per centimeter of female zebrafish resulting from each cross nor when compared with the control average from the other 2 breeding trials. The percentage of fertilized and viable embryos 4 hpf was 74% (\pm 0.7) for downstream site water treated females with control males, and the percentage of fertilized and viable embryos 4 h post-fertilization was 73% (\pm 1.1) for control females with downstream site water treated males (**Figure 20E**). There was no statistically significant effect on the percentage of fertilized and viable embryos 4 h post-fertilization between the two crosses but downstream site water treated males (**Figure 20E**). There was no statistically significant effect on the percentage of fertilized and viable embryos 4 h post-fertilization between the two crosses but downstream site water treated females ($\alpha = 0.0062$) and control females with downstream site water treated males ($\alpha = 0.0032$) were both significantly lower than the controls from the other two breeding trials.

For trial 3, the average number of eggs produced per day, per centimeter of female zebrafish was $3.3 (\pm 0.9)$ for the control, $3.9 (\pm 0.5)$ for the upstream site water and $3.6 (\pm 0.4)$ for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 20D**). There was no statistically significant effect on the average number of eggs produced per day, per centimeter of female zebrafish resulting from early life exposure to river water. The percentage of fertilized and viable embryos 4h post-fertilization was

83% (± 5) for the control, 73% (± 3) for the upstream site water and 64% (± 5) for the downstream site water treatments (**Figure 20C**). There was, also, a statistically significant difference between the control and the 2 river water treated groups (upstream site water $\alpha = 0.0309$; downstream site water $\alpha = 0.0016$) which exhibited a lower fertilization rate. There was also a significant difference between upstream and downstream stream sites water treatments ($\alpha = 0.0381$).

Females that failed to release embryos were observed in all the replicate of both exposure groups (upstream site water ($11.2 \% \pm 3.6$) and downstream site water ($16.7 \% \pm 5.8$)), but none in control (**Figure 21**). Embryos could be manually released from the female by gently massaging the female's underside, but they were incapable of releasing embryos naturally (during spawning). Due to their inability to release embryos, these females were not included in the breeding trials and were euthanized to prevent rupture of the abdominal wall from embryo reclusion.



Figure 20. Effects of early life stage exposure to Richelieu River water on the percentage of fertilized embryos and the number of eggs per day produced per centimeter of female zebrafish. The exposure groups were exposed for 120 hours to River water that was collected at either one of the two locations along the Richelieu River; Chambly, which is upstream and Saint-Ours, which is downstream. Data are expressed as the total length of fish on days post-fertilization. The viability of the embryos was assessed under the microscope four hours after fertilization, the number of fertilized viable embryos was recorded. Each data point represents the average of n=3 replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences between treatments are marked with an asterisk ($\alpha < 0.05$). Included in the data are the exposed generation (F0), which were exposed to river water during early life stage only. Three breeding trials were performed, the first one **A**) & **B**) lasted 18 days and the second **C**) & **D**) lasted 14 days. Between the two breeding trials, males from control were matched with females from Saint-Ours and vice versa **E**) & **F**), and the same endpoints were measured over 14 days.

Table 13. Pesticide concentrations in ng/L measured in the Richelieu River samples used for zebrafish early life stage exposure. Chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imidacloprid and thiamethoxam were also targeted but not detected. Clothianidin was not detected in Chambly and Imazethapyr was not detected in Saint-Ours.

Compounda	CCME Toxicity	Richelieu River	Richelieu River	
Compounds	threshold	(Chambly)	(Saint-Ours)	
AMPA	NA*	1006	1361	
Atrazine	1800	18	19	
Clothianidin	120	ND**	243	
Imazethapyr	NA	119	ND**	
Metolachlor	7800	63	50	

*NA: Not available

****ND:** Not detected



Figure 21. Picture of a female zebrafish with embryos accumulating in the abdominal cavity (red arrow) compared to a regular fish. Females that failed to release embryos were observed in both river water exposure groups but not in control. Embryos could be manually released from the female by gently massaging the female underside, but they were incapable of releasing embryos naturally (during spawning). Due to their inability to release embryos, these females were not included in the breeding trials and were euthanized to prevent rupture of the abdominal wall from embryos reclusion.

	Treatment	Average female size	numbers of eggs/female/day	% viable fertilized eggs	eggs/day/cm of female
1 st breeding trial	Control	4.8 ± 0.3	13.0 ± 2.5	81 ± 3	2.7 ± 0.5
	Chambly	4.4 ± 0.4	12.0 ± 2.0	72 ± 3	2.7 ± 0.5
	Saint-Ours	4.8 ± 0.2	12.3 ± 1.8	65 ± 4	2.5 ± 0.3
2 nd breeding trial	Control	4.8 ± 0.3	11.5 ± 2.8	83 ± 5	2.4 ± 0.6
	Chambly	4.4 ± 0.4	11.8 ± 2.3	73 ± 3	2.7 ± 0.6
	Saint-Ours	4.8 ± 0.2	10.7 ± 0.7	64 ± 5	2.2 ± 0.1
Cross breeding trial	Control males x Saint-Ours females	4.8 ± 0.2	10.0 ± 2.4	74 ± 3	2.1 ± 0.5
	Saint-Ours males x control females	4.8 ± 0.3	9.5 ± 2.5	73 ± 2	2.0 ± 0.5

Table 14. Summary of reproductive endpoints assessed in zebrafish exposed during early life stages to Richelieu River water.

5.8 Discussion

Summary of basic finding

Our experiment exposed zebrafish during ELS to an environmental mixture (river water) of contaminants from local surface water. We confirmed the presence of pesticides in the river water and observed minimal effects on ELS fish but persistent effects on their reproduction as adults. Our results demonstrated that ELS exposure to river water can have later life effects in fish. This is important since the sampling locations are important fish spawning grounds, and also the only spawning grounds of the endangered copper redhorse.

Water analysis

Measured water concentrations of AMPA, atrazine, and metolachlor were similar between upstream and downstream sites. Chlorantraniliprole, glyphosate, imidacloprid and thiamethoxam were not detected in either location. Since many tributaries that bring pesticides meet the river between the two sampling locations, we expected contamination to be higher at the downstream site. Only clothianidin was higher in downstream site (243 ng/L) than in the upstream site (<6 ng/L). Of all the targeted pesticides, the clothianidin concentration was the only one above the Canadian chronic toxicity threshold for aquatic life; it was approximately two times higher than the threshold (120 ng/L) (Health Canada 2021) (**Table 13**). Imazethapyr on the other hand was only detected at the upstream site but there is currently no Canadian chronic toxicity threshold available for imazethapyr for aquatic life.

Hatching

When exposed to Richelieu River water, zebrafish hatching was delayed when compared to control. Changes in hatching time is a sub-lethal indicator of environmental stress in ELS fish (Barton et al. 2002). In a previous experiment we exposed the endangered copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubsii*) and the threatened river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*) ELS to river water from the Richelieu in 2018 (Marchand et al. 2022). Both species hatched almost 24h prematurely when compared to control (Marchand et al. 2022). Here, we observed the opposite effect in zebrafish; exposed groups showed delayed hatching when compared to control (**Figure 16**). Species differences in hatching time during pesticide exposure have previously been documented.

For example, when both zebrafish and common carp (Cyprinus carpio) ELS were exposed to glyphosate (50 mg/L), the zebrafish hatched prematurely while the carp exhibited delays in hatching (Fiorino et al. 2018). Clothianidin was the only pesticide that we measured above the CCME toxicity threshold for protection of the aquatic life but early life exposure of sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) to up to 150 µg/L clothianidin had no effect on hatching (Marlatt et al. 2019). Hatching delay may have been caused by exposure to a mixture rather than to a single compound. A similarly delayed hatching at 48 and 57 hours post-fertilization was previously reported in zebrafish exposed to 5, 10 and 50% municipal wastewater effluent (Gauthier & Vijayan 2020). Even though we targeted only pesticides and did not measure the full spectrum of contaminants, we know that other anthropogenic contaminants, such as polybrominated diphenyl ethers, pharmaceuticals and personal care procucts and unidentified compounds, are in the river water (Marchand et al, in preparation see Chapter 4). Many contaminants probably reach the river through the wastewater treatment plants which are known to overflow following heavy rain events (Cliché & Saladzius 2018). The absence of differences in hatching time in the unexposed offspring confirms that the river water was the cause of the observed effects (Figure 16). Further research is needed to be able to link specific contaminants of the mixture to the effects that we observed. The potential consequences of delayed hatching are unclear but longer time in the egg could potentially lead to increased predation (Barton et al. 2002).

ELS effects (survival, deformities, morphometrics and sex ratio)

Survival (Wang et al. 2017), deformities (Lin Sun et al. 2009; Mhadhbbi & Beiras 2012), and alterations to growth (Wirbisky et al. 2016) or sex ratio (Teather et al. 2005) have all been reported to be affected by ELS exposure to pesticides in fish, albeit at higher doses than the concentrations that zebrafish were exposed to here. In our study, no direct effects of exposure to the environmental mixture present in river water were observed on these endpoints (**Table 14**).

Persistent effects (reproduction and F1 deformity rate)

Zebrafish raised to maturity in clean water following ELS exposure to river water exhibited reduced fertility compared to controls. No effect on egg production was observed, but a significantly lower proportion of fertilized embryos was observed (**Figure 20**). Both males and females from the exposed group seem to have been contributing to the decrease in fertilization

rates. The cross breeding of male from control with female from downstream site water treatment and vice versa resulted in a fertilization rate halfway between downstream site water treatment and control for both (Figure 20 & Table 14). This suggests that both males and females that were exposed during ELS had decreased fertility. The mechanisms behind this are still unknown, as is which components of the mixture are driving the effects. Many of the pesticides that we measured have the potential to influence reproduction and fertility since they are known endocrine disruptors. For example, exposure of adult zebrafish to 300 µg/L metolachlor had endocrine disruption effects and reduced production of sex hormones (Ou-Yang et al. 2022). Also, atrazine is an endocrine disruptor that has a consistent effect of demasculinization and feminization of males among vertebrates (Hayes et al. 2011). Gonadal abnormalities were observed in fathead minnow exposed to concentrations of atrazine as low as 500 ng/L (Tillitt et al. 2010). Previously observed changes in sex hormones, gonadal abnormalities and chromosomal abnormalities in spermatogonia (Tillitt et al 2010; Papoulias et al. 2014) could lead to lower fertilization success. Breeding behavior was not assessed in this experiment, but previous studies have reported alteration of breeding behavior in fish following pesticide exposure (Moore & Lower 2001; Shenoy 2014). Further studies could investigate the cause of this reduced fertility using histology or gene expression.

Females with abdominal swelling, that failed to release their embryos, were observed in both treatment groups (**Figure 21**). The same condition was observed in female zebrafish that had been exposed to $30 \ \mu g/L$ of atrazine during embryonic development (Wirbisky et al. 2016). This dose is 3-fold higher than the concentration of atrazine that we measured in the river but changes in sex hormones levels or to gonadal tissues were also reported in other measured compound as previously mentioned. The sum of effects of the many chemicals present in the river may have a similar effect on female abdominal swelling. The consequence of this could be dramatic since the females were unable to spawn volitionally and their abdominal wall could rupture from the increase in ovary size.

Larval deformities, were observed in F1, but not in F0 even though these were the fish that were directly exposed. No other multigeneration study reported a similar increase in the rate of deformities following exposure to pesticides, but ELS exposure to atrazine. 0.3, 3 and 30 ug/L caused alterations of head length to body ratio in zebrafish unexposed offspring (Wirbisky et al.

2016). There is increasing awareness of the importance of both trans- and multigenerational effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals including pesticides at environmentally relevant levels (Robaire et al. 2022, De Courten et al. 2020). To better determine the long term effects of river water on wild fish populations, future studies could span additional generations to also assess the unexposed germline.

Gradation of effects (upstream to downstream)

The magnitude of the effects that we observed followed the expected gradient of contamination. For example, the delayed hatching (**Figure 16**) and the decrease in fertilization rates were observed in both exposure groups (**Figure 20**), but the effect size was larger in fish exposed to water from the downstream site than the upstream site. Previous water analysis did show that the downstream site, was the most contaminated location of the two (Marchand et al, in preparation Chapter 4). Our results were not as clear since only 5 of the 9 pesticides targeted were detected and only one was higher in the downstream site water (**Table 13**). However, it is still reasonable to assume, even if we did not measure it, that the downstream site water contaminant mixture is more complex than the one from the upstream site, and all the contaminants present in the water at the upstream site will most likely end up passing through the downstream site. And more contaminants will be added up along the way.

Limitations

Here we focused on ELS exposure, but fish in the wild would be exposed to fluctuating levels of contamination throughout their lives. Here, the exposure was environmentally realistic in terms of using real water samples but river contamination varies spatially but also across time (Marchand et al. 2022). Even daily concentrations can vary up to 100-fold (Marchand et al. in preparation, see Chapter 4). This is also true for seasonal and yearly fluctuations which may be caused by changes in the activities in the watershed but also changes in agricultural practices.

The low survival rate to 60 days in all treatment groups including control is a major limitation. At 60 dps, survival was $14 \pm 4\%$ for the control, $15 \pm 1\%$ for the upstream site water and $12 \pm 1\%$ for the downstream site water. There are no specific guidelines for survival in a long term experiment as the one presented here, but for the 28 days juvenile fish growth test (OECD 215), survival above

90% in control is required for validation. The mortality was high due to sub-optimal diet and rearing conditions, that were equivalent for all the treatments. Nevertheless, because the fish were raised in sub-optimal conditions for the first 30 days of life, later life effects reported here should be interpreted with caution. Moreover, low survival had effect on the reproductive assay since the number of fish used to assess the effects on breeding was small. In each replicate, the sub sample of fish used was of 3 males and 4 females. Given these considerations, the experiment should be replicated to confirm the results reported here.

5.9 Conclusion

Our work sheds light on the effects of ELS exposure to real-world mixtures in zebrafish. We provided evidence that the ELS exposure to river water, can directly impact larvae, but also lead to a reduction of fertilization rate in adults that were raised to maturity in clean water. A reduction in egg fertilization, such as the 15% observed in the ELS fish exposed to water from the downstream site could be detrimental to wild populations of fish spawning in the Richelieu. There also was a gradation of effect from downstream to upstream which means that ELS of fish from spawning at the former are more likely to have more severe effects than those from the latter. Due to the high variability of contaminant mixtures, more research is required to determine if the effects are always present and if similar effects can be observed in native fish species. Similar studies should be repeated in the future, with water from the Richelieu but also from other water bodies to evaluate the real impact of environmental mixtures. Future work will be aimed at clarifying the individual effects of contaminants present in the Richelieu River on wild fish ELS. Identifying how the fertilization rate was affected is also an essential objective for future research.

5.10 References

Barton A. 2002. Stress in fishes: A diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. Integrative and comparative biology. 42(3): 517-525.

Bautista FEA, Varela Jr AS, Corcini CD, Acosta IB, Caldas SS, Primel EG, Zanette J. 2018. The herbicide atrazine affects sperm quality and the expression of antioxidant and spermatogenesis genes in zebrafish testes. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology. 206-207 (1): 17-22

Brand M, Granato M, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 2002. Keeping and raising zebrafish. In: Dahm R and Nüsslein-Volhard C, Zebrafish: A Practical Approach. London: IRL Press, p. 7-37.

Cleary JA, Tillitt DE, vom Saal FS, Nicks DK, Claunch RA, Bhandari RK. 2019. Atrazine induced transgenerational reproductive effects in medaka (Oryzias latipes). Environmental Pollution. 251(1): 639-650.

Cliché G & Saladzius A. 2018. Évaluation de performance des ouvrages municipaux d'assainissement des eaux - Bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu et de la zone Saint-Laurent, années 2014 à 2016. Fondation Rivières.

DeCourten BM, Forbes JP, Roark HK, Burns NP, Major KM, White JW, Li J, Mehinto AC, Connon RE, Brander SM. 2020. Multigenerational and transgenerational effects of environmentally relevant concentrations of endocrine disruptors in estuarine fish model. Environmental Science & Technology. 54(21): 13849-13860.

Farias M & Certal AC. 2016. Different feeds and feeding regimens have an impact on zebrafish larval rearing and breeding performance. International Journal of Marine Biology and Research.

Giroux I. 2022. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2018 à 2020, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction de la qualité des milieux aquatiques, 71 p. + 15 ann.

Hayes TB, Anderson LL, Beasley VR, de Solla SR, Iguchi T, Ingraham H, Kestemont P, Kniewald J, Kniewald Z, Langloie VS, Luque EH, McCoy KA, Munoz-de-Toro M, Oka T, Oliveira CA, Orton F, Riby S, Suwawa M, Tavera-Mendoza LE, Trudeau VL, Victor-Costa AB, Willingham E. 2011. Demasculinization and feminization of male gonads by atrazine: Consistent effects across vertebrate classes. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 127(1-2): 64-73.

Levine SL, von Mérey G, Minderhout T, Manson P, Sutton P. 2015. Aminomethylphosphonic acid has low chronic toxicity to Daphnia magna and Pimephales promelas. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 34(6): 1382-1389.

Marlatt VLL, Leung TY, Calbick S, Metcallfe C, Kennedy C. 2019. Sub-lethal effects of a neonicotinoid, clothianidin, on wild early life stage sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). Aquatic Toxicology. 217 (1): 105335.

Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec (MFFP). 2018. Banque de données des résultats de pêches expérimentales – « Feuilles de pêche » - données de 1928 à 2017. Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval. 270 000 enregistrements.

Mnif W, Hassine AIH, Bouaziz A, Bartegi A, Thomas O, Roig B. 2011. Effect of endocrine disruptor pesticides: A review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 8(6): 2265-2303.

Moore A & Lower N. 2001. The impact of two pesticides on olfactory-mediated endocrine function in mature male Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) parr. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 129(2-3): 269-276.

Ou-Yang K, Feng T, Han Y, Li G, Ma H. 2022. Bioaccumulation, metabolism and endocrinereproductive effects of metolachlor and its S-enantiomer in adult zebrafish (Danio rerio). Science of the Total Environment. 802: 149826.

Papoulias DM, Tillitt DE, Talykina MG, Whyte JJ, Richter CA. 2014. Atrazine reduces reproduction in Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). Aquatic Toxicology. 154(1): 230-239.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency (PMRA). 2022. Annual Report. Health Canada. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/consumer-product-safety/reports-publications/pesticides-pest-management/corporate-plans-reports/annual-report-2020-2021.html

Robaire B, Delbes G, Head JA, Marlatt VL, Martyniuk CJ,Reynaud S, Trudeau VL, Mennigen JA. 2022. A cross-species comparative approach to assessing multi- and transgenerational effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals. Environmental Research. 204(B): 112063.

Rodrigues LDB, Costa GG, Tha EL, da Silva LR, de Oliveira R, Leme DM, Cestari MM, Grosolia CK, Valadares MC, de Oliveira. 2019. Impact of the glyphosate-based commercial herbicide, its components and its metabolite AMPA on non-target aquatic organisms.

Simoneau M & Thibault G. 2009. État de l'écosystème aquatique ddu bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu: faits saillants 2005-2007. Québec, ministère du Développement durable, de l'Environnement et des Parcs, Direction du suivi de l'état de l'environnement, ISBN 978-2-550-56454-6, 23p.

Shenoy K. 2014. Prenatal exposure to low doses of atrazine affects mating behaviors in male guppies. Hormones and Behavior. 66(2): 439-448.

Teather K, Jardine C, Gormley K. 2005. Behavioral and sex ratio modification of Japanese medaka (Orizias latipes) in response to environmentally relevant mixtures of three pesticides. Environmental Toxicology. 20(1): 110-117.

Tillitt C, Papoulias DM, Whyte JJ, Richter CA. 2010. Atrazine reduces reproduction in fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas). Aquatic Toxicology. 99(2): 149-159.

Tresnakova N, Stara A, Velisek J. 2021. Effects of glyphosate and its metabolite AMPA on aquatic organisms. Applied Sciences. 11(19): 9004.

Wang Y, Lv L, Yu Y, Yang G, Xu Z, Wang Q, Cai L. 2017. Single and joint toxic effects of five selected pesticides on the early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 170(1): 61-67.

Webster TMU, Laing LV, Florance H, Santos EM. 2014. Effects of glyphosate and its formulation, Roundup, on reproduction in zebrafish (Danio rerio).

Wirbisky SE, Weber GJ, Sepulveda MS, Lin TL, Jannasch AM, Freeman JL. 2016. An embryonic atrazine exposure results in reproductive dysfunction in adult zebrafish and morphological alterations in their offspring. Scientific Reports. 6: 21337.

Yang C, Lim W, Song G. 2021. Reproductive toxicity due to herbicide exposure in freshwater organisms. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology and Pharmacology. 248(1): 109103.

Yang L, Ivantsova E, Souders II CL, Martyniuk CJ. 2021. The agrochemical S-metolachlor disrupts molcular mediators and morphology of the swim bladder: Implications for locomotor activity in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 208(1): 111641.

Preface to Chapter 6

In the previous chapters we determined that exposure to river water during ELS causes effects in wild (river and copper redhorse) and laboratory fish (zebrafish). We have also determined that pesticide concentrations are of concern in the Richelieu River, where the only known copper redhorse spawning grounds are located. From the literature review, we also know that many pesticides may be causing the effects we observed, even though effects were usually reported at concentrations higher than those we measured in the river.

In this chapter we tried to link the previously reported effects to specific contaminant exposure. For this, we performed a laboratory experiment during which we exposed river and copper redhorse to one of four contaminants of concern in a laboratory setting. The goal was to determine if the pesticides that were the most detected or at the highest concentrations were driving the previously reported effects by removing the environmental mixture variables. This was the last step in determining the effects of ELS exposure to environmental pesticides in wild and laboratory fishes.

Chapter 6

6. Assessment of 4 current use pesticides in early life stage of two listed *Moxostoma* species: the river and copper redhorse

6.1 Title Page

Title of the manuscript:

Assessment of 4 current use pesticides in early life stage of two listed *Moxostoma* species: the river and copper redhorse

Authors:

Marchand Hugo¹, Barst Benjamin D², Boulanger Emily¹, Vachon Nathalie³, Houde Magali⁴, Head Jessica A¹.

Affiliations:

 1: Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, McGill University, Ste. Anne-de-Bellevue, QC, H9X 3V9, Canada
2: Water and Environmental Research Center, University of Alaska Fairbanks, Fairbanks, AK 99775, USA
3: Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval, Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec, Longueuil, QC, J4K 2T5, Canada
4: Aquatic Contaminants Research Division, Environment and Climate Change Canada,

Montreal, QC, H2L 2Y5, Canada

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by Fisheries and Oceans Canada National Contaminants Advisory Group (DFO-NCAG). We are grateful for the help of Kira-Marie Lazda (McGill), Vanessa Poirier (McGill), Jiayi Wu (McGill), Ramela Koumrouyan (McGill), Nicolas Decelles (McGill), Mélisssa

Lamoureux (MFFP), Sylvain Desloges (MFFP), Marc-Antoine Couillard (MFFP), Ève Surprenant-Desjardins (MFFP), Francis Cloutier (MFFP), and all other ECCC and MFFP staff that helped in the field.

6.2 List of Tables

6.3 Abstract

Fish living in agricultural landscapes are at high risk of exposure to pesticides. In waterways such as the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada), pesticide application and spring run-off coincide with the spawning season for many fishes, including 2 listed fish, the river redhorse (Moxostoma *carinatum*) and the copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*). Previous research has demonstrated that early life stage exposure to river water caused early hatching in both redhorse species and decrease of survival of copper redhorse. Here we tried to link these effects to four pesticides of concern that were detected in the river water. Three replicates of river (n = 32) and copper redhorse (n = 30)embryos were exposed for 14 days to environmentally relevant concentrations (0.3, 3 and $30 \mu g/L$) of the three individual herbicides (atrazine, glyphosate and metolachlor) or to 0.03, 0.3 and $3 \mu g/L$ of the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin. During the exposure, deformities, hatching and survival were monitored daily and no effect from treatment was observed. Our work demonstrated that river and copper redhorse did not exhibited organismal level signs of response at environmental levels of the active molecule of four pesticides extensively present in their spawning habitats. We provided evidence that, individually, these compounds do not explain the dysregulation of hatching time and decrease of survival previously observed following exposure to river water.

6.4 Introduction

Fish living in agricultural landscapes are at high risk of exposure to pesticides. In waterways such as the Richelieu River (Quebec, Canada), pesticide application and spring run-off correspond with peak spawning season for many fishes, including some threatened or endangered species. The only 2 known spawning grounds of the endangered copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*) are located in the Richelieu, and this river includes habitat for other listed species such as the lake sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*) (Thiem et al. 2013) and the river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*) (COSEWIC 2015). Approximately 70% of the Richelieu River watershed is dedicated to agriculture (Simoneau & Thibault 2009) and pesticide concentrations have previously been measured above toxicity threshold for aquatic organisms (Giroux 2015 & Giroux 2022). This is of concern since listed species tend to be more sensitive to environmental contaminants (Sappington

et al. 2001, Besser et al. 2005, Dwyer et al. 2005), and early life stages are often the most vulnerable (Mohammed 2013).

Pesticide exposure to fish early life stage may cause a number of effects such as decreased survival (Wang et al. 2017), increased incidence of deformities (Lazhar et al. 2012; Mhadhbi & Beiras 2012) and alteration of hatching (Schweiser et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2022), behavior (Liu et al. 2016) and biochemical pathways (Richterova et al. 2015; Jin et al. 2015). Most effects were often reported at pesticide concentrations above what is measured in the environment but our previous research suggests that river water could cause measurable effects to ELS fish. We showed that early life stage (ELS) exposure of copper redhorse and river redhorse (Moxostoma carinatum), using constantly renewed river water from one of the copper redhorse spawning grounds along the Richelieu River, showed premature hatching in both species and increased mortality in copper redhorse larvae (Marchand et a. 2022). A follow up study, using zebrafish, exposed to Richelieu water exhibited delayed hatching and later life effects resulting from ELS exposure. A decrease in the adult fertilization rate of up to 15% was detected and a higher incidence of deformities in the offspring of the parents that were exposed only during ELS when compared to control (Marchand et al. Zebrafish). Here, we investigate whether the pesticides detected most frequently in the mixture are acutely toxic to ELS fish.

This means that pesticide contamination could have an effect on the species' natural recruitment and a previous experiment has demonstrated that river water may have negative effects in copper and river redhorse (Marchand et al. 2022). The copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*) and river redhorse (*Moxostoma carinatum*) are Catostomidae endemic to eastern north America that feed extensively on molluscs (COSEWIC 2014, COSEWIC 2015). A monitoring and conservation program for the copper redhorse, which includes artificial breeding, was set up in 2004 by Quebec government's Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs (MFFP). But the path to recovery has been slow and the importance of the agricultural industry in its essential breeding habitats may play a role but the absence of toxicity data for copper and river redhorse make it hard to evaluate.

We found that exposure to river water may have a negative impact on reproduction and recruitment. Many contaminants have been detected in the Richelieu River, including legacy organics such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs),

dioxins, and furans (Laliberté 2020), pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) (Marchand et al. 2022, Chapter 4) and pesticides (Giroux 2019, Marchand et al. 2022, Chapter 4). Most of these contaminants were detected at levels below aquatic life toxicity thresholds but pesticides such as atrazine, clothianidin, metolachlor, thiamethoxam were often detected at levels exceeding these thresholds (Giroux 2015, Giroux 2019, Chapter 4). Here we focus on four pesticides, atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate and metolachlor, which had the highest detection frequency or that were the most often exceeding toxicity threshold (Giroux 2015, Giroux 2019, Chapter 4). Although effects that could be detrimental to the recovery of the species were detected, we were not able to determine which components of the river were driving the observed effects. It is essential to determine which contaminants are driving the previously reported effects to better protect listed aquatic species.

The contaminants driving the effects are unknown but due to agriculture being the main vocation in the watershed, pesticides are likely good candidates. To investigate this possibility, we conducted a laboratory pesticide exposure to assess the effects of 3 herbicides (atrazine, glyphosate and metolachlor) and one neonicotinoid insecticide (clothianidin) on ELS of 2 listed species: the threatened river redhorse and the endangered copper redhorse. The data will improve our understanding of both river and copper redhorse sensitivity to environmental contaminants, provide the first toxicity data for these two listed species and help determine priority contaminants that may be impacting their recovery.

6.5 Materials and Methods

Chemical Stocks

Pesticide dosing solutions were prepared by dissolving atrazine (CAS number and purity), clothianidin (CAS number and purity) or metolachlor (CAS number and purity) in methanol and glyphosate (CAS number and purity) in ultra-pure water. Nominal concentrations of 2.55 g/L for atrazine, glyphosate and metolachlor and of 0.255 g/L for clothianidin were achieved. Two lower dose solutions were prepared by 10-fold serial dilution from the high dose solution for each of the chemicals.

Source of Animals

All work with animals was approved under animal use protocols from MFFP and McGill University (2018-7992). Research and collection permits were obtained from Parks Canada, Fisheries and Oceans Canada (SARA; MPO-LEP-QC-19-006 & DFO-SARA-QC-22-001) and MFFP (SEG; 2019-04-23-2564-16-S-P & 2022-05-16-3278-16-S-FP). The MFFP artificial breeding program provided newly fertilized embryos for both river and copper redhorse. Wild parent fish were caught during their respective spawning season at the Vianney-Legendre fishway, a fish ladder located beside the St-Ours dam. Details of artificial reproduction were provided in Marchand et al. 2022. Embryos used for this experiment were siblings i.e. offspring of a single pair. Once the embryo's shell was hardened, (approximately 2 hours post-fertilization), they were transported in reconstituted hard water (ultrapure water supplemented with sodium bicarbonate (96 mg/L), magnesium sulfate (60 mg/L), calcium chloride (39 mg/L), and potassium chloride (4 mg/L) (Modified USEPA-821-R-02-12) that matched river physicochemical parameters to McGill University Macdonald Campus in an insulated container. River redhorse embryos were provided in June 2019 and copper redhorse embryos were from 2022.

Experimental Design and Fish Maintenance

Upon reception, river and copper redhorse embryos were divided equally into a control group, a solvent control (methanol or water) and low, medium and high concentration groups for each of the 4 chemicals. For each treatment group, embryos of each species were housed separately in 3 replicate tumblers (Ziss Aqua), each containing 30 embryos of copper or 32 embryos of river redhorse. Each fish egg tumbler was placed in a 1 L borosilicate glass beaker containing 950 mL of pre-cooled reconstituted hard water. The beakers were kept, in a random pattern, inside a walk-in fridge that was adjusted daily to match river temperatures. A central air system was used to power the fish egg tumblers and maintain good oxygenation and a gentle rocking motion of the embryos. As soon as the larvae were free swimming, the fish egg tumblers were removed, but oxygenation was maintained. Water quality parameters were recorded daily.

As soon as possible (approximately 6-8 hours post-fertilization), water in beakers was dosed with 10 μ L of the appropriate solution to achieve 0 (solvent control (10 μ L of methanol)), 0.3, 3 and 30 μ g/L of either atrazine, glyphosate and metolachlor or 0 (solvent control), 0.03, 0.3 and 3 μ g/L of clothianidin. These pesticide concentrations were selected to mimic baseline levels detected in the

Richelieu River (low), river levels following a rain event (medium), and tributary levels following a rain event (high) (Giroux 2018, Chapter 4).

Endpoints Measured

Fish embryos and larvae of each species were maintained until 14 days post-fertilization (dpf), just before the complete resorption of the yolk sac, with no renewal of the water. Timing of embryos hatching, incidence of deformities in embryos or larvae, and survival were assessed daily at the same time each day. Embryos were considered hatched when the larval body was fully extended and completely free of the egg membrane.

Embryo and larval size, shape and development stage were observed. In larvae, deformities such as edema, craniofacial malformation, spinal curvature (lordosis and kyphosis) and yolk sac malformation were recorded. Photographs of deformed embryos were taken daily.

Dead embryos and larvae were removed from tumblers or beakers as soon as they were noticed. Embryos and larvae that were discolored, coagulated, showed shell damage, or were not showing movement and/or heartbeat, were considered dead. Percent survival was calculated as the daily total number of live embryos and larvae over the initial number of embryos.

Data Analysis

Daily percentage hatching was calculated as a proportion of the total number of living embryos (hatched larvae/all alive) per day and per replicate. Daily percentage hatching data were fitted to a sigmoidal four parameter logistic regression and the 50% hatch time was calculated using AAT bioquest LC50 calculator (AAT Bioquest 2022). Mean incidence of deformities and mean survival were calculated as a percentage of the initial number of embryos that were placed in each tumbler. All data residuals were tested for normality. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and a Tukey's posthoc test were performed for daily percentage hatching, 50% hatch time, incidence of deformities, and survival between treatments using JMP statistical visualization software (SAS Institute). An $\alpha < 0.05$ was considered significant.

6.6 Results

River Redhorse

Hatching Time

River redhorse embryos started to hatch, on average, on the sixth dpf except for those exposed to the low concentration of atrazine, the low and medium concentrations of clothianidin, the medium and high concentrations of glyphosate, and the medium concentration of metolachlor. Those started to hatch on the seventh dpf. River redhorse embryos were all hatched on the seventh dpf in control and in those exposed to the high concentration of metolachlor. The remaining treatments of river redhorse embryos were all hatched on the eight dpf except for the low concentration of atrazine and the low, medium and high concentrations of metolachlor which were all hatched on the nineth dpf; the high concentration of clothianidin and medium concentration of glyphosate were all hatched on the eleventh dpf; and the high dose of glyphosate which were all hatched on the thirteenth dpf. Overall, there was no significative statistical difference in river redhorse hatching time between control and treatments.

For all treatments, the average 50% hatch time of river redhorse ranged from 6.2 to 6.7 dpf (**Table 15**). For the river redhorse average 50% hatch time, there was no significative statistical difference between control and treatments. There was a significative statistical difference in the average 50% hatch time between the atrazine low and high concentrations ($\alpha = 0.028$) (**Table 15**).

Deformities

For all treatments, the average deformity rate of river redhorse ranged from 1.0 to 4.2% (**Table 15**). For the river redhorse average deformity rate, there was no significative statistical difference between control and treatments.

Survival

For all treatments, the average survival of river redhorse at the end of the exposure (14 days post-fertilization) ranged from 81.3 to 93.8% (**Table 15**). For the river redhorse average survival, there was no significative statistical difference between control and treatments. There was a significative statistical difference in the average survival between the atrazine and clothianidin medium concentrations ($\alpha = 0.008$).

Copper Redhorse

Hatching Time

Copper redhorse embryos started to hatch, on average, on the seventh dpf, except for those exposed to the medium and high concentrations of clothianidin and the low and medium concentrations of metolachlor which started to hatch on the third dpf; and the high atrazine concentration which started to hatch on the fourth dpf. The three treatments that started to hatch early were driven by one replicate each in which hatching started earlier. The other two hatched at a similar time as the control group. Copper redhorse embryos were all hatched on the eighth dpf in all treatment groups except atrazine and clothianidin high concentration and metolachlor low concentration. Those were all hatched on the seventh dpf. Overall, there was no significative statistical difference in copper redhorse hatching time between control and treatments.

For all treatments, the average 50% hatch time of copper redhorse ranged from 5.1 to 7.0 dpf (**Table 15**). For the copper redhorse average 50% hatch time, there was no significative statistical difference between control and treatments.

Deformities

For all treatments, the average deformity rate of copper redhorse ranged from 0.0 to 4.4 % (**Table 15**). For the copper redhorse average deformity rate, there was no significative statistical difference between control and treatments.

Survival

For all treatments, the average survival of copper redhorse at the end of the exposure (14 days post-fertilization) ranged from 93.3 to 100% (**Table 15**). For the copper redhorse average survival, there was no significative statistical difference between control and treatments.

Difference Between Species

For all the endpoints measured, hatching, deformities and survival, there was no significative statistical difference between the river and copper redhorse.

6.7 Discussion

Our study used an ELS laboratory exposure to pesticides to determine the toxicity of four current use pesticide on the threatened river redhorse and the endangered copper redhorse. At environmental concentrations, the four pesticides were not acutely toxic to either of the two fish species. The experimental design allowed us to control the contaminant exposure while maintaining river conditions such as water physico-chemical parameters and temperature. Both river and copper redhorse adapted well to the laboratory system, which successfully maintained favorable conditions for embryo development, hatching, and early larval development. For both species, survival in control and solvent control was above 90% (**Table 15**).

Previous Environmental Exposure

The pesticide concentrations that the copper and river redhorse ELS were exposed to here were environmentally relevant. For example, concentrations of atrazine (Gammon et al. 2005, Liu et al. 2016), glyphosate (Tresnakova et al. 2021) and metolachlor (Vryzas et al. 2011, Quintaneiro et al. 2017) around the globe are usually reported in μ g/L. For neonicotinoids such as clothianidin, concentrations range from ng/L to μ g/L (Moschet et al. 2014; Anderson et al. 2015; Morrissey et al. 2015). Concentrations concentrations in the Richelieu River and its tributaries are slightly lower and ranged from 0.007 to 0.811 μ g/L, 0.06 to 0.198 μ g/L, 0.22 to 0.969 μ g/L and 0.01 to 7.008 μ g/L for atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate and metolachlor respectively (Marchand et al. chemistry paper). The concentrations used in this experiment 0.003 to 3 μ g/L, were therefore environmentally relevant, while the high concentration (30 μ g/L) could still represent a worst-case scenario for the Richelieu river. Overall, the exposure did mimic a single compound exposure representative of what wild fish ELS would be exposed to near their spawning grounds.

Table 15. Effects of river redhorse and copper redhorse early life exposure to atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate or metolachlor on hatching time, deformity rate and survival. Solvent control used was methanol and low, medium and high concentrations of atrazine, glyphosate and metolachlor were 0.3 μ g/L, 3 μ g/L and 30 μ g/L respectively and 0.03 μ g/L, 0.3 μ g/L and 3 μ g/L for clothianidin. Exposure started six to eight hours after fertilization and lasted 14 days. Each column represents the average of n=3 replicates and error bars represent standard deviation. Data shown are **A & B**) 50% hatch time (time required for 50% of the embryos to hatch), **C & D**) deformities percentage and **E & F**) survival expressed as the percentage of live zebrafish at the end of the exposure. No significant effects from any treatments were observed.

	Concentration	River Redhorse		Copper Redhorse			
Treatment		EC50 Hatch (dpf)	% Deformities	% survival	Ec50 Hatch	% Deformities	% survival
Controls	Control	6.4 ± 0.1	2.1 ± 1.8	93.8 ± 6.3	6.7 ± 0.4	1.1 ±1.9	96.7 ± 3.3
	Solvent control	6.5 ± 0.2	1.0 ± 1.8	90.6 ± 5.4	6.6 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	100.0 ± 0.0
Atrazine	0.3 μg/L	6.7 ± 0.0	2.1 ± 1.8	89.6 ± 3.6	6.7 ± 0.2	1.1 ± 1.9	98.9 ± 1.9
	3 μg/L	6.5 ± 0.0	2.1 ± 1.8	97.9 ± 3.6	6.6 ± 0.1	1.1 ± 1.9	95.6 ± 5.1
	30 µg/L	6.2 ± 0.4	2.8 ± 5.4	87.5 ± 3.1	6.4 ± 0.2	1.3 ± 0.0	95.6 ± 3.8
Clothianidin	0.03 μg/L	6.5 ± 0.1	1.0 ± 3.1	91.7 ± 6.5	6.7 ± 0.3	2.2 ± 1.9	96.7 ± 3.3
	0.3 μg/L	6.6 ± 0.1	3.1 ± 3.1	81.3 ± 3.1	6.6 ± 0.2	1.1 ± 1.9	97.8 ± 3.8
	3 μg/L	6.7 ± 0.3	3.1 ± 5.4	91.7 ± 4.8	5.1 ± 2.3	0.0 ± 0.0	93.3 ± 11.5
Glyphosate	0.3 μg/L	6.4 ± 0.1	4.2 ± 1.8	87.5 ± 3.1	6.5 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	100.0 ± 0.0
	3 μg/L	6.5 ± 0.1	3.1 ± 3.1	88.5 ± 7.9	6.7 ± 0.4	2.2 ± 1.9	95.6 ± 5.1
	30 µg/L	6.7 ± 0.0	2.1 ± 1.8	91.7 ± 1.8	6.7 ± 0.0	1.1 ± 1.9	96.7 ± 3.3
Metolachlor	0.3 μg/L	6.5 ± 0.1	3.1 ± 0.0	$\overline{88.5\pm6.5}$	6.4 ± 0.1	$\overline{0.0\pm0.0}$	$9\overline{7.8 \pm 1.9}$
	3 μg/L	6.6 ± 0.1	4.2 ± 3.6	92.7 ± 1.8	5.3 ± 2.5	4.4 ± 7.7	93.3 ± 11.5
	30 µg/L	6.5 ± 0.1	2.1 ± 1.8	90.6 ± 0.0	7.0 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 1.9	97.8 ± 1.9

Four chemicals were assessed here and overall, no effects on all measured endpoints on either river or copper redhorse ELS were observed (Table 15). The compounds tested were good candidates because of the overtly high detection frequency in the watershed, but also because of their known effects on fish. For example, there is a consensus that atrazine (Wiegand et al. 2000, Wiegand et al. 2001, Adeyemi et al. 2015, Blahova et al. 2020), glyphosate (Bortagaray et al. 2009, Dornelles Zebral et al. 2017, Fiorino et al. 2018) and metolachor (Quintaneiro et al. 2017) are embryotoxic, dysregulate hatch and increase the incidence of deformities in fish ELS. Little information is available for clothianidin itself, but its parent compound thiamethoxam also has the same effects (Yang et al. 2020, Hasan et al. 2022, Victoria et al. 2022). However, these effects are reported at concentrations usually in the mg/L range (Giddings et al. 2005, Bortagaray et al. 2009, Quintaneiro et al. 2017, Yang et al. 2020), which is two order of magnitude higher than what was measured in the environment and used here.

We previously reported that exposure of early life stage fish to water from the Richelieu river was associated with decreased survival, dysregulation of hatching (Marchand et al. 2022) and reproduction (Marchand et al. ZB). Here both copper and river redhorse embryos were exposed to relevant concentrations of single pesticide selected from the environmental mixture and no effects were reported on organismal endpoints. From previous exposure, organismal effects were standing out while only a small subset of genes were found to be differentially expressed (Marchand et al. 2022). The focus here was set on these organismal changes and not on molecular or behavioral endpoints, which however may be more sensitive to perturbation. Reproduction was not assessed due to the late age of maturity of the tested fish species, but assessment of reproductive marker may be an interesting endpoint for future work. Although multiple lines of evidence point to developmental consequences of exposure to river water, we were not able to determine which component of the mixture is driving these effects.

The four pesticides tested could not be linked to previously reported effects following river water exposure (**Table 15**), but river water is a mixture of numerous chemicals. Here, only the active ingredients of 4 pesticides were tested. Pesticides are often applied as a formulations, containing either single or multiple active ingredients and formulants (to improve its physical characteristics). Previous studies have demonstrated that these formulations and formulants can be as, or even more toxic to fish than the active ingredients (Beggel et al. 2010, Guilherme et al. 2012, Defarge et al.

2018). Also, additive and synergistic effects have previously been reported with pesticides (Perez et al. 2013, Zhang et al. 2017, Wang et al. 2017), but also between pesticides and other contaminants (Nunes et al. 2014). Richelieu River water contains numerous other chemicals, either from natural or anthropogenic sources, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and dioxins and furans (Laliberté 2020). Previous untargeted screening of the Richelieu River revealed hundreds of compounds, but only a few could be identified (Chapter 4). It is possible that something other than pesticides is driving the effects previously described, future research should focus on the mixture effects from the many chemicals present in the Richelieu River.

The conclusion from a previous study was that copper redhorse are more sensitive than river redhorse (Marchand et al. 2022). Here, we weren't able to confirm or deny this hypothesis. So far, both river and copper redhorse were equally insensitive to the tested doses of the four pesticides assessed (**Table 15**). Listed fish species are often more sensitive than the species commonly used in toxicity testing (Sappington et al. 2001, Besser et al. 2005, Dwyer et al. 2005). Our investigation stands in accordance with previous studies demonstrating that biological effects were only observed in concentrations beyond environmental relevance. However, due to the inherent increased sensitivity of listed species, direct testing of chemicals is the best alternative to assess species specific risks (Dwyer et al. 2005).

Limitation

The experiment was performed on individuals with limited genetic diversity. Animals used for the laboratory exposure were all siblings from a single cross and did not represent the genetic diversity of both species. The experiment may have overlooked the fact that some individuals from the same population can be more or less sensitive to contaminants (Nacci et al. 1999). However, the use of siblings allowed for all embryos to be exposed at the same time and prevented genetic background from being another variable.

The pesticides were only dosed once at the beginning of the experiment and the concentrations weren't renewed over the span of the exposure. This may have led to decreased concentrations over time from deterioration of the parent molecules. However, river water often receives pesticides as pulses following rain events, which was mimicked here. More studies are needed to

determine how the timing of these pulses in relation to the ELS developmental stage impacts effects observed.

6.8 Conclusion

Our work demonstrated that river and copper redhorse did not exhibited organismal level signs of response at environmental levels of the active molecule of four pesticides extensively present in their spawning habitats. We provided evidence that, individually, these compounds do not explain the dysregulation of hatching time and decrease of survival previously observed following exposure to river water. Previously reported effects in zebrafish exposed during ELS were related to reproduction (Chapter 5), further investigation on the effects of these compounds on reproductive markers are warranted. Future work should still be aimed at clarifying the individual effects of other contaminants present in the Richelieu River on fish ELS. Future exposure studies focusing on the effects of mixture and transcriptomics are already underway. The identification of the environmental contaminants from the copper redhorse spawning grounds that are driving the previously described effects would allow for better protection measures to be put into place to help the copper redhorse recovery.

6.9 References

AAT Bioquest, Inc. (2022, October 11). *Quest Graph™LC50 Calculator*. AAT Bioquest. <u>https://www.aatbio.com/tools/lc50-calculator</u>.

Adeyemi J, da Cunha Martins-Junior A, Barbosa F Jr. 2015. Teratogenicity, genotoxicity and oxidative stress in zebrafish embryos (Danio rerio) co-exposed to arsenic and atrazine. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology. 172-173 (1): 7-12.

Beggel S, Werner I, Connon RE, Geist JP. 2010. Sublethal toxicity of commercial insecticide formulations and their active ingredients to larval fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas). Science of the Total Environment. 408(16): 3169-3175.

Besser JM, Wang N, Dwyer FJ, Mayer Jr FL, Ingersoll. 2005. Assessing contaminant sensitivity of endangered and threatened aquatic species: Part II. Chronic toxicity of copper and

pentachlorophenol to two endangered species and two surrogate species. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 48(1): 155-165.

Blahova J, Cocilovo C, Plhalova LL, Svobodova Z, Faggio C. 2020. Embryotoxicity of atrazine and its degradation products to early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacoogy. 77, 103370.

Bortagaray V, Aramburu RC, Barrios L, Ojeda P, del Puerto G, Rodriguez-Ithurralde D. 2010. Embryotoxicity and teratogenesis in zebrafish embryos exposed in vitro to glyphosate-type herbicides. Journal of Developmental Toxicology.

Committee On the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). 2015. COSEWIC status appraisal summary on the River Redhorse Moxostoma carinatum in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xiv-pp.

Committee On the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). 2014. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Copper Redhorse Moxostoma hubbsi in Canada. Ottawa: Canada. P. xiii-80.

Defarge N, Spiroux de Vendômois J. Séralini GE. 2018. Toxicity of formulants and heavy metals in glyphosate-based herbicides amd other pesticides. Toxicology Reports. 5(1): 156-163.

Dornelles Zebral Y, Gomes Costa P, de Castro Knopp B, Reeal Lansini L, Zafalon-Silva B, Bianchini A, Bertaux Robaldo R. 2017. Effects of a glyphosate-based herbicide in pejerrey Odontesthes humensis embryonic development. Chemosphere. 185(1): 860-867.

Dwyer FJ, Mayer FLL, Sappington LC, Buckler DR, Bridges CM, Greer IE, Hardesty DK, Henke CE, Ingersoll CG, Kunz JL, Whites DW, Auspurger T, Mount DR, Hattala K, Neuderfer GN. 2005. Assessing contaminant sensitivity of endangered and threatened aquatic species: Part I. Acute toxicity of five chemicals. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 48(1): 143-154.
Fiorino E, Sehonova P, Plhalova L, Blahova J, Svobodova Z, Faggio C. 2018. Effects of glyphosate on early life stages: comparison between Cyprinus carpio and Danio rerio. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 25(1): 8542-8549.

Giddings JM, Anderson TA, Hall LW Jr, Kendall RJ, Richards RP, Solomon KR, Williams WM. 2005. A probabilistic aquatic ecological risk assessment of atrazine in North American surface waters. SETAC Press, Pensacola, FL.

Giroux I. 2015. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau du Québec: Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2011 à 2014. Ministère du Développement durable, de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction du suivi de l'état de l'environnement.

Giroux I. 2019. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2015 à 2017, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction générale du suivi de l'état de l'environnement, 64 p. + 6 ann.

Guilherme S, Santos MA, Barroso C, Gaivao I, Pacheco M. 2012.. Differential genotoxicity of Roundup formulation and its constituents in blood cells of fish (Anguilla Anguilla): considerations on chemical interactions and DNA damaging mechanisms. Ecotoxicology. 21(1): 1381-1390.

Hasan M, Ahmed Sumon K, Mamun Siddiqueee MA, Kumar bhandari R, Hossain Prodhan MD, Rashid H. 2022. Thiamethoxam affects the developmental stages of banded gourami (Trichogasteer fasciata). Toxicology reports. 9(1): 1233-1239.

Jin Y, Liu Z, Peng T, Fu Z. 2015. The toxicity of chlorpyrifos on the early life stage of zebrafish: A survey on the endpoints at development, locomotor behavior, oxidative stress and immunotoxicity. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 43(1): 405-414.

Laliberté D. 2020. Water quality in the Richelieu and Yamaska rivers. Monitoring the State of the St. Lawrence River. Ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques (MELCC). Available from :

https://numerique.bang.gc.ca/patrimoine/details/52327/4149170

Lazhar M, Hela T, Moncef B, Neji A. 2016. Toxicity of three selected pesticides (Alachlor, Atrazine and Diuron) to the marine fish (turbot Psetta maxima). African Journal of Biotechnology. 11(51).

Liu Z, Wang Y, Zhu Z, Yang E, Feng X, Fu Z, Jin Y. 2016. Atrazine and its main metabolites alter the locomotor activity of larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 148(1): 163-170.

Liu Z, Shangguan Y, Zhu P, Sutan Y, Feng Y, Li X, Ma J. 2022. Developmental toxicity of glyphosate on embryo-larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 236(1): 113493.

Mhadhbi L & Beiras R. 2012. Acute toxicity of seven selected pesticides (Alachlor, atrazine, dieldrin, diuron, pirimiphos-methyl, chlorpyrifos, diazinon) to the marine fish (turbot, Psetta maxima). Water, Air, & Soil Pollution. 223(9): 5917-5930

Nacci D, Coiro L, Champlin D, Jayaraman S, McKinney R, Gleason tr, Munns Jr WR, Specker JL, Cooper KR. 1999. Adaptations of wild populations of the estuarine fish Fundulus heteroclitus to persistent environmental contaminants. Marine Biology. 134(1): 9-17.

Nunes B, Barbosa AR, Antunes SC, Gonçalves F. 2014. Combination effects of antichoinesterasics in acetylcholinesterase of a fish species: effects of a metallic compound, an organophosphate pesticide, and a pharmaceutical drug. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 21(1): 6258-6262.

Perez J, Domingues I, Monteiro M, Soares AMVM, Loureiro S. 2013. Synergistic effects caused by atrazine and terbuthylazine on chlorpyrifos toxicity to early-life stages of the zebrafish Danio rerio. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 20(1): 4671-4680.

Quintaneiro C, Patricio D, Novais SC, Soares AMVM, Monteiro MS. 2017. Endocrine and physiological effects of linuron and S-metolachlor in zebrafish developing embryos. Science of The Total Environment. 586(1) 390-400.

Richterova Z, Machova J, Stara A, Tumova J, Velisek J, Seccikova M, Svobodova Z. 2014. Effects of cyhalothrin-based pesticide on early life stages of common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.). BioMed Research International.

Sappington LC, Mayer FL, Dwyer FJ, Buckler DR, Jones JR, Ellersieck MR. 2001. Contaminant sensitivity of threatened and endangered fishes compared to standard surrogate species. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20(12): 2869-2876.

Schweizer M, Brilisauer K, Triebskom R, Forchhammer K, Köhler HR. 2019. How glyphosate and its associated acidity affect early development in zebrafish (Danio rerio). PeerJ. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7094

Simoneau M & Thibault G. 2009. État de l'écosystème aquatique du bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu: faits saillants 2005-2007. In Synthèse: Québec. p. 23.

Thiem JD, Hatin D, Dumont P, Van Der Kraak G, Cooke SJ. 2013. Biology of lake sturgeon (Acipenser fulvescens) spawning below a dam on the Richelieu River, Quebec: behaviour, egg deposition, and endocrinology. Can. J. Zool. 91: 175–186.)

Victoria S, Duffy S, Harrahy E, King-Heiden T. 2022. Embryonic exposure to thiamethoxam reduces survival and alters neurobehavior of fathead minnows. Environmental Toxicology. 41(5): 1276-1285.

Wang Y, Lv L, Yu Y, Yang G, Xu Z, Wang Q, Cai L. 2017. Single and joint toxic effects of five selected pesticides on the early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 170(1): 61-67.

Wiegand C, Pflugmacher S, Giese M, Frank H, Steinberg C. 2000. Uptake, toxicity, and effects on detoxification enzymes of atrazine and trifluoroacetate in embryos of zebrafish. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 45(2): 122-131.

Wiegand C, Krause E, Steinberg C, Pfugmacher S. 2001. Toxicokinetics of atrazine in embryos of the zebrafish (Danio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 49(3): 199-205.

Yang G, Lv LL, Di S, Li X, Weng H, Wang XX, Wang Y. 2020. Combined toxic impacts of thiamethoxam and four pesticides on the rare minnow (Gobiocypris rarus). Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 28(1): 5407-5416.

Zhang Z, Liu Q, Cai J, Yang J, Shen Q, Xu S. 2017. Chlorpyrifos exposure in common (Cyprinus carpio L.) leads to oxidative stress and immune responses. Fish & shellfish Immunology. 67(1): 604-611.

Chapter 7

7. Discussion

7.1 Restatement of research problem and research questions

Contamination of surface water by pesticides is of increasing concern and a threat to biodiversity (Relyea 2005). The copper redhorse (*Moxostoma hubbsi*), an endangered species, is especially vulnerable since its only known spawning grounds are in the Richelieu River, at the heart of a heavily agriculture area. Even with a protective status and a recovery program using artificial breeding, the road to recovery for the species has been slow. A potential culprit for this slow recovery is pesticide contamination of the spawning grounds, with its peak concentrations coinciding precisely with copper redhorse spawning season and early development. This could have an effect on the whole species, since all the population's offspring are exposed, during ELS, a most sensitive stage, to peaking pesticide concentrations. Here we assess if pesticide contamination of surface water is a concern for ELS fish using the copper redhorse, river redhorse and zebrafish. Using a complementary suite of *in-situ* and laboratory exposure experiments, we investigated the role of pesticide contamination in impeding recovery of the endangered copper redhorse by testing the hypothesis that river water has negative effects on fish ELS.

7.2 Summary of key findings

The overall finding of this thesis is that fish ELS exposure to river water resulted in immediate ELS effects and persistent later life effects. An *in-situ* riverside exposure on the threatened river redhorse and the endangered copper redhorse was performed to assess the effects of exposure to constantly renewed river water from their spawning grounds. This study found that ELS exposure to river water caused early hatching in both species and a decrease in survival in copper redhorse larvae (Chapter 3). Since river redhorse and copper redhorse reach such a large size and have a late age of maturity (> 10 years), zebrafish were used to evaluate the full life cycle effects of ELS exposure to river water (Chapter 5). Exposure to river water caused delayed hatching of zebrafish embryos following the river contamination gradient (Chapter 5). A decrease in fertilization rate, also following the contamination gradient of the Richelieu River, was observed in the adult zebrafish that were exposed as ELS when compared to control (Chapter 5). An increased incidence of deformities was also observed in the offspring of the exposed zebrafish (Chapter 5). Following

a 14-day exposure to constantly renewed river water, dysregulation of copper redhorse genes involved in injury and immune response and upregulation of CYP1A1, a gene involved in the detoxification mechanism, were measured (Chapter 3). In an attempt to link the observed changes with specific contaminants, a laboratory ELS exposure of river redhorse and copper redhorse to the four most prevalent pesticides detected in the Richelieu water was performed (Chapter 6). The results of the laboratory exposure study did not show any effect from exposure to environmentally relevant and higher concentrations of atrazine, clothianidin, glyphosate or metolachlor (Chapter 6).

Richelieu River water contained pesticide concentrations above toxicity thresholds for aquatic life and concentrations peaked after heavy rain events. To assess pesticide contamination, the river water was sampled during the river and copper redhorse spawning season using daily grab samples and passive samplers (Chapter 4). These samples were analyzed by targeting pesticides of concern, by targeting pesticides in general and by un-targeted screening (Chapter 4). The neonicotinoids clothianidin and thiamethoxam were detected at concentrations above the toxicity threshold for aquatic life in the 2 years of sampling (Chapters 4 & 5). Concentrations of pesticides were higher in the tributaries than in the main river. Following heavy rain events, concentrations of most of the pesticides in the water peaked from 10-100 folds higher than concentrations measured over dry weather (Chapter 4). Overall, Richelieu River water, including the only known copper redhorse spawning grounds, contained a rich mixture of contaminants, which can have effects on fish ELS.

7.3 Answer to thesis question

With this in mind, we can confirm that fish exposure to river water during ELS causes a suite of negative outcomes, which could potentially have species level effects. However, these effects could not yet be specifically linked to pesticides or a single compound.

7.4 Interpretation of findings

The results, observed in river redhorse, copper redhorse and zebrafish ELS exposed to Richelieu River water, are consistent with pesticide exposure. For example, exposure to individual pesticide during ELS has been associated with effects on deformity rate (Sulukan et al. 2017), hatching time (Du Gas et al. 2017; Fiorino et al. 2018), survival (Vignet 2019) and immune response (Hong et al. 2018). Later life effects observed in zebrafish confirm that ELS exposure can have persistent

effects. However, the findings don't match those of previous studies. For example, exposure to 500 ng/L of atrazine caused a decrease in egg production but no effect on fertilization rate in fathead minnows (Tilllitt et al 2010) and Japanese medaka (Papoulias et al. 2014), while we observed the opposite, no effect on egg production but a decrease in fertilization rate. Many studies have found that pesticide exposure can cause alterations to fish reproductive systems and hormones (Tilllitt et al 2010; Hayes et al. 2011; Papoulias et al. 2014; Ou-Yang et al. 2022), which may have led to the reduced fertilization rate that we observed. However, these studies focused on single pesticide exposure while here we used an environmental mixture containing numerous contaminants with many unknown properties.

Studies using environmental mixtures and ELS environmental exposure have reported effects ranging from sublethal (Bony et al. 2008, Marlatt et al. 2016, Gauthier & Vijayan 2020) to complete mortalities (Tian et al. 2022), but these are not consistently linked to pesticide exposure. In fact, only in one case were the effects driven by the pesticides present of the mixture (Bony et al. 2008). Other contaminants present in the Richelieu River water may be causing or contributing to the effects observed, contaminants such as pharmaceutical and personal care products (Chapter 4), persistent organic pollutants and polycyclic aromatic carbons (Laliberté 2020), can also have effects on fish hatching (Le Bihanic et a. 2014B, Gauthier & Vijayan 2020), deformity rate (Le Bihanic et a. 2014B), survival rate (Johnson et al. 2013, Le Bihanic et al. 2014A), reproduction (Johnson et al. 2013) and immune response (Johnson et al. 2013). Some of these contaminants, for example pharmaceutical and personal care products, also peak in the river following heavy rain events due to the overflowing of wastewater treatment plants along the Richelieu River (Cliché & Saladzius 2018). This means that many contaminants, which can have similar deleterious effects on fish ELS can be pulsing at the same time as pesticides. The fact that exposure to river water caused effects in multiple fish species combined with the fact that many contaminants could be causing the effects warranted the chemistry investigation of the river water and a laboratory exposure to compounds of interest.

7.5 River chemistry

The pesticide concentrations detected in the Richelieu River matched concentrations expected in a watershed dominated by agriculture. For example, pesticides detected, concentrations and detection frequency were comparable to those measured across many agricultural sites in the United States (Hladik et al. 2014, Ryberg & Gilliom 2015, Medali et al. 2020, Stackpoole et al. 2021), Ontario (Struger et al. 2017) and Quebec (Giroux et al. 2022). Overall concentrations were higher in the tributaries, which seems sensible since they are smaller water bodies and are directly fed by agricultural drainage. Concentrations of most pesticides were below water toxicity thresholds to aquatic life. The notable exception was neonicotinoid pesticide concentrations, which were of concern. For example, concentrations of neonicotinoids above 35 ng/L have been estimated to be harmful to aquatic invertebrates (Morrissey et al. 2015). Concentrations in the river and the tributaries have been measured at up to 600 ng/L, more than 1-order of magnitude above this threshold. Aquatic arthropods are important from a biodiversity standpoint, but also because they represent an important prey item for many fish (Collier et al. 2016). For example, in Lake Shinji in Japan, the collapse of two commercially important fish species feeding on arthropods was linked to neonicotinoid contaminations causing a decline of the lake arthropod population (Yamamuro et al. 2019). Adult copper redhorse feed almost exclusively on molluscs but juveniles feed extensively on aquatic arthropods (Branchaud 1995, COSEWIC 2004). The peak of pesticide concentrations in the Richelieu River during the spawning season and early development may deprive the young fish of that first food source, possibly starving them and affecting the whole species yearly recruitment.

In June, pesticide concentrations in the river and the tributaries were found to peak following heavy rain events. This is a well-known phenomenon described in many agricultural zones around the world (Zhang et al. 1997, Konstantinou et al. 2006, Pätzold et al. 2007, Giroux 2022). At this time of year, the bare soil around the newly planted seedlings has limited water retention capacity, leading to large run-off to nearby rivers. Peaks tend to decrease later in the season as crops grow. The seed's coating, which mainly consists of neonicotinoids also contributes to early summer pulses (Radolinski et al. 2019). The peaks in concentrations were found to coincide precisely with many listed species' spawning and early development.

7.6 Laboratory Exposure

When looking at individual pesticide exposure, our findings are consistent with the literature in the sense that doses of single pesticides must be higher than those measured in the environment to

elicit noticeable effects (sterauer & Köhler 2008; Mhadhbbi & Beiras 2012; Sulukan et al. 2017). However, subtle effects resulting from environmentally relevant concentrations have previously been reported. For example, increases in whole body 17B-estradiol was measured in sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) at 150 ng/L of clothianidin (Marlatt et al. 2019). Here we focus on biological rather than molecular endpoints. However the endpoints assessed were not affected by the tested pesticide concentrations. Effects on hatching and mortality that were observed during river water exposure were not replicated by the laboratory exposure to single pesticides. The pesticide concentrations used in the laboratory exposure were similar to concentrations measured in the Richelieu River, the tributaries and one magnitude greater. Even with the higher concentrations, no effects were observed. But when exposed to river water, with lesser concentrations of these same individual pesticides, biological effects were reported. This leads us to conclude that the tested pesticides alone, could not explain the previously reported effects in river redhorse, copper redhorse and zebrafish.

Overall, our results, when put together, seem to indicate that no single pesticide was driving the observed effects, but a mixture of pesticides or other contaminants and stressors likely were. Previous studies have demonstrated cumulative and synergistic effects of contaminants in fish. One such example is atrazine and chlorpyrifos, when present together in water, were more toxic than by the simple principle of addition (Perez et al. 2013). Here we are working with river water, which is a mixture of hundreds, if not thousands of chemicals. The interactions within this mixture of compounds, including banned pesticides, legacy contaminants and more, and between all the different classes of chemicals are still unknown. Due to its ever-changing nature, river water contamination is hard to quantify and generalize. Yet we do know that this water can have immediate and persistent effects on fish ELS.

7.7 Implications

Our data provide evidence that ELS exposure to real world mixtures has deleterious effects on fish. This is especially worrying for listed species, such as the copper redhorse, which are often already facing other challenges. The copper redhorse for example faces habitat fragmentation and destruction, but is also vulnerable because of its late age of maturity, late spawning period and specific diet (COSEWIC 2004). Also because of a late spawning period, its spawning and early

development coincide with the highest pulse in pesticide contamination. We have therefore demonstrated that actual contamination of surface water in copper redhorse spawning grounds can be added to the list of threats.

Although we detected effects across the three assessed species, we noted different levels and types of effects in each species. Listed species have often been reported as more sensitive (Sappington et al. 2001) which is consistent with our results. For example, following ELS exposure to river water, increase in mortality was only reported in copper redhorse and not in river redhorse. However, it is worth mentioning that copper and river redhorse exposure, during the *in-situ* experiment (Chapter 3), did not completely overlap, which means that river redhorse and copper redhorse were not exposed to the exact same levels of contamination nor at the same developmental time. Also, a notable difference in hatching times in the exposed group was observed between the two redhorse species, which hatched prematurely and the zebrafish, which hatched later than the controls. Such species differences have previously been reported. For example, when exposed to the same dose of glyphosate, zebrafish hatched prematurely while common carp hatched belatedly (Fiorino et al. 2018). So far, our results seem to suggest that copper redhorse are more sensitive than river redhorse and zebrafish.

It is difficult to link more subtle effects such as changes in gene expression or timing of hatching to population level effects. We observed reduction in fertilization rate of the zebrafish exposed to the river water. Reduced reproductive output could easily have negative effects on the already relatively small copper redhorse population because the yearly recruitment all comes from the Richelieu spawning sites. But previous studies on fish inhabiting contaminated areas have demonstrated that fish can show plasticity and adaptation to contamination in their environment (Hamilton et al. 2015). This means that copper redhorse may have adapted, to a certain degree, to the contamination of their environment and that the later life effects observed in the laboratory fish may not be exactly the same in wild fish. Further studies could investigate the effects of ELS exposure on reproductive markers in wild fish such as copper redhorse.

Our screening of the river water revealed many contaminants including legacy contaminants that were banned decades ago. The implication of this is that, even though contaminants were banned, they are still part of the mixture and may still have effects on wildlife. Although the concentrations were in the low ng/L. There is still a gap in toxicological studies between the two, meaning that studies tend to focus on one (legacy or emerging) rather than the whole. Legacy contaminants are persistent, which is often the reason why they fell out of favor, but it is also why we can still detect them. Few studies have evaluated the levels or potential effects of legacy contaminants and pesticides together in fish (Ren et al. 2013, Vigano et al. 2015, Sun et al. 2018), and information is even more scarce for fish ELS and listed species. This means that there are still numerous unknowns in terms of exposure to environmental mixtures in fish.

7.8 Limitations

Due to copper redhorse unique biology, we should be careful when generalizing effects to other fish species. The Richelieu River houses more than 80 species of fish (MFFP 2018), with variable natural life histories, different breeding seasons, different sizes, etc. Copper redhorse have a very late spawning season, which means that other fish spawning seasons do not necessarily coincide with the pulse in pesticides. Two other fish species spawning in the Richelieu, the walleye (*Sander vitreus*) (Bowles et al. 2020) and the yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) (Leclerc et al. 2008), spawn in spring (late April to early May), more than a month before the copper redhorse. Water used for our exposure was collected in June and may not represent the exposome of other fish species ELS. Even though the Richelieu River represents a typical river in an agricultural landscape, every watershed is different.

Another important consideration is that the control water used in the river water exposure study was not a perfect match to river water characteristics. Even though most of the water physiochemical properties were similar, the salts used to reconstitute the water hardness are unlikely to be in the same ratio or concentrations as those present naturally in the river. But since ELS survival was generally high for all species in both control and river water, it is unlikely that these differences in chemistry could explain the results, but they may have had an effect. Further studies could use filtered river water or river water collected when pesticide concentrations are expected to be the lowest.

We used zebrafish as a surrogate species to evaluate full life cycle effects. Zebrafish are significantly biologically and phylogenetically different from *Moxostoma*. For example, zebrafish are a tropical fish with a short generation time while *Moxostoma* are from temperate climate and

usually have a late age of maturity (COSEWIC 2004). However, it would have been unrealistic to transpose these experiments onto river or copper redhorse for many logistical reasons such as their large size, limited number in the wild and their late age of maturity. But the MFFP artificial breeding program is currently building a livestock of copper and river redhorse, which may provide an opportunity in the future for further testing, and testing amongst different life stages.

The genetic diversity of the redhorse tested represented only a small subsample of the population. For example, offspring of a single pair from each species were used in the *in-situ* and the laboratory exposure. It is not uncommon for individuals of the same population to exhibit different levels of sensitivity (Nacci et al. 1999). However the use sibling was intentional and advantageous since it allowed for individuals with similar prenatal and genetic backgrounds to be assessed in different conditions. But further research on these species will allow us to draw better conclusions.

Here, we used a realistic environmental mixture for our exposure, but the exposure period was limited to ELS, which does not represent the complete exposome. Wild fish are exposed to contaminants throughout their life cycle. Also, water from the spawning grounds does not necessarily represent the contamination that later life stages are exposed to since fish can migrate over long distances (COSEWIC 2004). We observed effects resulting from the ELS exposure but one could argue that constant exposure during the whole life of the organism could have more effects. The fact that effects resulting from ELS exposure suggests that more protective measures should be put into place during that time to improve the chances of recovery in the copper redhorse.

7.9 Practical applications

Lasting effects from exposure to environmental mixtures should be taken into consideration when issuing protective areas or changes in legislation regarding the protection of spawning grounds of listed species. Ours results demonstrated that peaks in pesticide contamination coincide precisely with copper redhorse and other listed fish species spawning periods, hence risking exposure of their early life stage to the highest concentrations of chemicals. Protection of early life stages could go a long way in terms of conservation since actual levels of contamination already have effects on wildlife.

Our results demonstrate that single pesticide environmental toxicity thresholds may not be adequate to truly protect wildlife or listed species. Most of the contaminants present in the Richelieu River were below such criteria. Our results show that prevalent single compounds, in this case pesticides, failed to replicate effects from environmental toxicity. Establishing toxicity thresholds per compound, as currently done is a good start to identify contaminants of concern. But the richness of the environmental mixture which has often been shown to have additive or synergistic effects, should not be overlooked.

7.10 Recommendations

Despite these promising results, questions remain on the identity of the contaminant(s) driving the effects. Further investigation should continue with the identification of priority contaminants and individual toxicity testing. A useful next step would be to investigate the effects on contaminant mixtures in fish ELS since it is unlikely that a single contaminant went undetected and was driving the effects.

Future experiments focusing on the Richelieu River mixtures should use fractionation of the water in an effort to find which contaminant fraction can be linked to the observed effects. This method, such as used by Tian et al. 2021, to link 6PPD quinone to coho salmon mortality, could be useful in this case. However, working with sublethal versus lethal effects may require some adjustments such as artificially increasing the potency of the environmental mixture by reducing the volume of water while maintaining the contamination. This would hopefully elicit effects that would be easier to detect, which would allow facilitate the assessment of the mixture fractions.

There is also abundant room for further progress in determining later life effects from ELS exposure in listed fish, or even in fish that are not usually used as model organisms. These fish, which are often of small size and with rapid generation time, are not necessarily good representatives of other species of larger size or with very different natural histories. However, I acknowledge their usefulness in wide toxicity screenings, but the use of other species should also be considered once contaminants of interest have been decided.

Environmental mixtures detected in surface water are ever changing and continuous sampling and analysis should still be carried out to help bridge the gap between contamination and effects on fish recruitment. This is especially important for listed species, for which important budgets are often allocated: it is essential to know if the environment can actually sustain their population. If not, more stringent contamination thresholds should be implemented and enforced. Our results demonstrate that metabolomics such as RNA sequencing could be used to assess the effects on listed fish species, but the limited amount of information available to non-model species is still scarce. Due to these limitations, results must be expressed with caution since genes used or referenced are often from species that can be phylogenetically distant. However, these methods should be used, as the more they are used the more data will be available to build libraries. A follow up on the dysregulation of immune genes is also warranted.

Chapter 8

8. Final Conclusion and Summary

The work presented in this thesis provided evidence that exposure of fish ELS to river water can have both immediate and persistent effects. The effects observed in zebrafish, river redhorse and copper redhorse ranged from alteration of hatching and gene expression, decreased survival and fertilization rate to increased incidence of deformities in offspring. This is important since this is the actual environmental mixture to which fish are exposed in the wild. Our results indicate that ELS exposure to river water could contribute to the lack of recovery of the endangered copper redhorse, but also on other fish spawning in the Richelieu river. There are many challenges when working with endangered species, but this work is essential since endangered species may be the most impacted by contamination and yet the least studied. Valuable insights for the conservation of the river and copper redhorse were gained through this series of experiments, but more research is needed to link the observed effects to specific components of the environmental mixture.

9. Reference List

Ahmad M, Saleem MA, Sayyed AH. 2008. Efficacy of insecticide mixtures against pyrethroidand organophosphate-resistant populations of Spodoptera litura (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). Pest Management Science. 65(3): 266-274.

Bhandari RK, vom Saal FS, Tillitt DE. 2015. Transgenerational effects from early developmental exposures to bisphenol A or 17α -ethynylestradiol in medaka, Oryzias latipes. Scientific Reports. 5(9303).

Bony S, Gillet C, Bouchez A, Margoum C, Devaux A. 2008. Genotoxic pressure of vineyard pesticides in fish: Field and mesocosm surveys. Aquatic Toxicology. 89(3): 197-203

Bowles E, Marin K, Mogensen S, MacLeod P, Fraser DJ. 2020. Size reductions and genomic changes within two generations in wild walleye populations: associated with harvest? Evolutionary Applications. 13(6): 1128-1144.

Branchaud A, Hatin D, Cayer P, Côté L, Dumont P, Fortin R. 1995. Reproduction artificiellle et élevage du suceur cuivré. Québec, Ministère de l'Environnement et de la Faune, Direction régionale de Montréal, Laval, Lanaudière, Laurentides, Montérégie, Service de l'aménagement et de l'exploistation de la faure, Montréal, Rapport des travaux. 06-34. 40 pp.

Carvan MJ III, Kalluvila TA, Klingler RH, Larson JK, Pickens M, Mora-Zamorano FX, Connaughton VP, Sadler-Riggleman I, Beck D, Skiner MK. 2017. Mercury-induced epigenetic transgeneration al inheritance of abnormal neurobehavior is correlated with sperm epimutations on zebrafish. PLoS ONE. 12(5).

Cliché G & Saladzius A. 2018. Évaluation de performance des ouvrages municipaux d'assainissement des eaux - Bassin versant de la rivière Richelieu et de la zone Saint-Laurent, années 2014 à 2016. Fondation Rivières.

Collier KJ, Probert PK, Jeffries M. 2016. Conservation of aquatic invertebrates: concerns, challenges and conundrums. Aquatic conservation. 26(5): 817-837.

Falisse E, Voisin AS, Silvestre F. 2017. Impacts of triclosan exposure on zebrafish early-life stage: Toxicity and acclimation mechanisms. Aquatic Toxicology. 189(1): 97-107.

Gao D, Wang C, Xi Z, Zhou Y, Wang Y, Zuo Z. 2017. Early-life benzo[a]pyrene exposure causes neurodegenerative syndromes in adult zebrafish (Danio rerio) and the mechanism involved. Toxicological Sciences. 157(1): 74-84.

Gauthier PT & Vijayan MM. 2020. Municipal wastewater effluent exposure disrupts early development, larval behavior, and stress response in zebrafish. Environmental Pollution. 259(1).

Giroux I. 2019. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2015 à 2017, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction générale du suivi de l'état de l'environnement, 64 p. + 6 ann.

Giroux I. 2022. Présence de pesticides dans l'eau au Québec : Portrait et tendances dans les zones de maïs et de soya – 2018 à 2020, Québec, ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, Direction de la qualité des milieux aquatiques, 71 p. + 15 ann.

Görge G & Nagel R. 1990. Toxicity of lindane, atrazine, and deltamethrin to early life stafes of zebrafish (Brachydanio rerio). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 20(3): 246-255.

Hamilton PB, Cowx IG, Oleksiak MF, Griffiths AM, Grahn M, Stevens JR, Carvalho GR, Nicol E, Tyler CR. 2015. Population-level consequences for wild fish exposed to sublethal concentrations of chemicals – critical review. Fish and Fisheries. 17(3): 545-566.

Hayes TB, Anderson LL, Beasley VR, de Solla SR, Iguchi T, Ingraham H, Kestemont P, Kniewald J, Kniewald Z, Langloie VS, Luque EH, McCoy KA, Munoz-de-Toro M, Oka T, Oliveira CA, Orton F, Riby S, Suwawa M, Tavera-Mendoza LE, Trudeau VL, Victor-Costa AB, Willingham E. 2011. Demasculinization and feminization of male gonads by atrazine: Consistent effects across vertebrate classes. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 127(1-2): 64-73. Hladik ML and Kolpin DW. 2015. First national-scale reconnaissance of neonicotinoid insecticides in streams across the USA. United States Geological Survey. Environmental Chemistry. 13(1).

Johnson LL, Anulacion BF, Arkoosh MR, Burrows Dg, da Silva DAM, Dietrich JP, Myers MS, Spromberg JJ, Ylitallo GM. 2013. 2- Effects of legacy persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in fish – Current and Future Challenges. Fish Physiology. 33(1): 53-140.

Knecht AL, Truong L, Simonich MT, Tanguay RL. 2007. Developmental benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P) exposure impacts larval behavior and impairs adult learning in zebrafish. Neurotoxicology and Teratology. 59(1): 27-34.

Kogan M. 1998. Integrated pest management: Historical perspectives and contemporary developments. Annual Review in Entomology. 43(1): 243-270.

Konstantinou IK, Hela DG, Albanis TA. 2006. The status of pesticide pollution in surface waters (rivers and lakes) of Greece. Part I: Review on occurence and levels. Environmental Pollution. 141(3): 555-570.

Lazhar M, Hela T, Moncef B, Neji A. 2016. Toxicity of three selected pesticides (Alachlor, Atrazine and Diuron) to the marine fish (turbot Psetta maxima). African Journal of Biotechnology. 11(51).

Li R, Zuo Z, Chen D, He C, Chen R, Chen Y, Wang C. 2011. Inhibition by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons of ATPase activities in Sebasticus marmoratus larvae: Relationship with the development of early life stages.

Le Bihanic F, Morin B, Cousin X, Le Menach K, Budzinski H, Cachot J. 2014A. Developmental toxicity of PAH mixtures in fish early life stages. Part I: adverse effects in rainbow trout. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 21(1): 13720-13731.

Le Bihanic F, Clérandeau C, Le Menach K, Morin B, Budzinski H, Cousin X, Cachot J. 2014B. Developmental toxicity of PAH mixtures in fish early life stages. Part II: adverse effects in Japanese medaka. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 21(1): 13732-13743. Leclerc E, Mailhot Y, Mingelbier M, Bernatchez . 2008. The landscape genetics of yellow perch (Perca flavescens) in a large fuvial ecosystem. Molecular Ecology. 17(7): 1702-1717

Marlatt VL, Sherrard R, Kennedy CJ, Elphick JR, Martyniuk CJ. 2016. Application of molecular endpoints in early life stage salmonid environmental biomonitoring. Aquatic Toxicology. 173(1): 178-191.

Medialie L, Baker NT, Shodda ME, Stone WW, Meyer MT, Stets EG, Wilson M. 2020. Influence of land use and region on glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid in streams in the USA. United States Geological Survey. Science of the Total Environment. 707.

Mhadhbi L & Beiras R. 2012. Acute toxicity of seven selected pesticides (Alachlor, atrazine, dieldrin, diuron, pirimiphos-methyl, chlorpyrifos, diazinon) to the marine fish (turbot, Psetta maxima). Water, Air, & Soil Pollution. 223(9): 5917-5930

Ministère des Forêts, de la Faune et des Parcs du Québec (MFFP). 2018. Banque de données des résultats de pêches expérimentales – « Feuilles de pêche » - données de 1928 à 2017. Direction de la gestion de la faune de l'Estrie, de Montréal, de la Montérégie et de Laval. 270 000 enregistrements.

Nacci D, Coiro L, Champlin D, Jayaraman S, McKinney R, Gleason tr, Munns Jr WR, Specker JL, Cooper KR. 1999. Adaptations of wild populations of the estuarine fish Fundulus heteroclitus to persistent environmental contaminants. Marine Biology. 134(1): 9-17.

Oliva M, Garrido C, Sales D, Gonzalez de Canales ML. 2008. Lindane toxicity on early life stages of gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) with a note on its histopathological manifestations. 2008. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 25(1): 94-102.

Ou-Yang K, Feng T, Han Y, Li G, Ma H. 2022. Bioaccumulation, metabolism and endocrinereproductive effects of metolachlor and its S-enantiomer in adult zebrafish (Danio rerio). Science of the Total Environment. 802: 149826.

Papoulias DM, Tillitt DE, Talykina MG, Whyte JJ, Richter CA. 2014. Atrazine reduces reproduction in Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). Aquatic Toxicology. 154(1): 230-239.

Pätzold S, Klein C, Brümmer GW. 2007. Run-off transport of herbicides during natural and simulated rainfall and its reduction by vegetated filter strips. Soil Use and Management. 23(3): 294-305.

Perez J, Domingues I, Monteiro M, Soares AMVM, Loureiro S. 2013. Synergistic effects caused by atrazine and terbuthylazine on chlorpyrifos toxicity to early-life stages of the zebrafish Danio rerio. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 20(1): 4671-4680.

Radolinski J, Wu J, Xia K, Hession WC, Stewart RD. 2019. Plants mediate precipitation-driven transport of a neonicotinoid pesticide. Chemosphere. 222 (1): 445-452.

Relyea RA. 2005. The impact of insecticides and herbicides on the biodiversity and productivity of aquatic communities. Ecological Applications. 15(2): 618-627.

Ren G, Wang Z, Yu Z, Wang Y, Ma S, Wu M, Sheng G, Fu J. 2013. Primary investigation on contamination pattern of legacy and emerging halogenated organic pollutions in freshwater fish from Liaohe River, Northeast China. Environmental Pollution. 172(1): 94-99.

Ryberg KR and Gilliom RG. 2015. Trends in pesticide concentrations and use for major rivers of the United States, Science of the Total Environment. 538(1): 431-444.

Sappington LC, Mayer FL, Dwyer FJ, Buckler DR, Jones JR, Ellersieck MR. 2001. Contaminant sensitivity of threatened and endangered fishes compared to standard surrogate species. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20(12): 2869-2876.

Shahjahan M, Kabir MF, Sumon KA, Bhowmik LR, Rashid H. 2017. Toxicity of organophosphorus pesticide sumithion on larval stages of stinging catfish Heteropneustes fossilis. Chinese Journal of Oceanology and Limnology. 35(1): 109-114.

Singh Z, Kaur J, Kaur R, Hundal SS. 2016. Toxic effects of organochlorine pesticides: A Review. American Journal of BioScience. Special Issue: Recent trends in experimental toxicology. 4(3):11-18. Stackpoole SM, Shoda ME, Medalie L, Stone WW. 2021. Pesticides in US Rivers: Regional differences in use, occurrence, and environmental toxicity, 2013 to 2017. US Geological Survey. Science of the Total Environment. 787.

Sun R, Lao X, Li QX, Wang T, Zheng X, Peng P, Mai B. 2018. Legacy and emerging organohalogenated contaminants in wild edible aquatic organisms: Implications for bioaccumulation and human exposure. Science of The Total Environment. 616-617(1): 38-45.

Tillitt C, Papoulias DM, Whyte JJ, Richter CA. 2010. Atrazine reduces reproduction in fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas). Aquatic Toxicology. 99(2): 149-159.

Velki M, Di Paolo C, Nelles J, Seiler TB, Hollert H. 2017. Diuron and diazinon alter the behavior of zebrafish embryos an larvae in the absence of acute toxicity. Chemosphere. 180(1): 65-76.

Vigano L, Mascolo G, Roscioli C. 2015. Emerging and priority contaminants with endocrine active potentials in sediments and fish from the River Po (Italy). Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 22(1): 14050-14066.

Wang Y, Lv L, Yu Y, Yang G, Xu Z, Wang Q, Cai L. 2017. Single and joint toxic effects of five selected pesticides on the early life stages of zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere. 170(1): 61-67.

Weinhold B. 2012. More chemicals show epigenetic effects across generations. Environmental health perspectives. 120(6): A 228.

Yamamuro M, Komuro T, Kamiya H, Kato T, Hasegawa H, Kameda Y. 2019. Neonicotinoids disrupt aquatic food webs and decrease fishery yields. Science. 366(6465): 620-623.

Zhang XC, Norton LD, Hickman M. 1997. Rain pattern and soil moisture concent effects on atrazine and metolachlor losses in runoff. Journal of Environmental Quality. 26(6): 1539-1547.

Zhang Z, Liu Q, Cai J, Yang J, Shen Q, Xu S. 2017. Chlorpyrifos exposure in common (Cyprinus carpio L.) leads to oxidative stress and immune responses. Fish & shellfish Immunology. 67(1): 604-611.

10. Copyright

Copyright approval has been obtained from the publisher (John Wiley and Sons) (see next page) for using the manuscript, figures and tables presented in Chapter 3.

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Dec 08, 2022

This Agreement between Mr. Hugo Marchand ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License 5442561409398 Number License Dec 05, 2022 date Licensed John Wiley and Sons Content Publisher Licensed Content Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry Publication
 Licensed
 Exposure to Contaminated River Water is Associated with Early Hatching and Dysregulation of Gene Expression in Early Life Stages of the Endangered Title

 Title
 Copper Redhorse (Moxostoma hubbsi)
Licensed Content Author H. Marchand, B. D. Barst, E. Boulanger, et al Licensed Content Jun 30, 2022 Date Licensed Content Volume 41 Licensed Content 8 Issue Licensed Content 17 Pages Type of use Dissertation/Thesis Requestor type Author of this Wiley article Format Print and electronic Portion Full article Will you be translating? No Title Graduate Student Institution McGill University name Expected presentation Dec 2022 date